A Re-Examination of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq Phonetics

by Sydney Steeves

A thesis submitted

to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the

requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts, Department of Linguistics

Memorial University of Newfoundland

September 2022

St. John's Newfoundland and Labrador

Abstract

The phonology of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq was first examined in detail by Russell Bragg in 1976. Since that time, with the advancement of computer programs such as Phon and Praat, one can examine the phonetics more accurately. The goal of this thesis is to re-examine the phonetics of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq and expand upon the original observations made over 45 years ago. Ten audio hours of the same data that was first collected in the early 1970s was re-transcribed using Phon. The waveforms and spectrograms of the data were then examined in Praat in order to more accurately transcribe the data. This thesis specifically focuses on the consonants and is able to solidify some of the original observations made in 1976, expand the phonological inventory, and discover allophonic variations that were not originally noticed. Additionally, this thesis examines various voicing characteristics, consonant length, and confirms the existence of a glottal catch that the original study discussed.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost I must give my deepest thanks and appreciation to my thesis supervisor Dr. Nick Welch, who met with me every single week and was always supportive of my ideas. Thank you very much for your advice, patience, and unwavering enthusiasm concerning the topic of my thesis, which I sometimes doubted would reveal any new information, but your excitement kept me going. I could not have asked for a better supervisor during the most challenging time in my academic career. I would also like to give my deepest thanks to Dr. Yvan Rose and Gregory Hedlund for being there whenever I had problems or questions while using Phon. You both, at one time or another, literally saved this thesis from disaster, which I will be forever grateful for.

A big thank you to Rod Jeddore for allowing me to use the original recordings of Matthew and Paul Jeddore, without which this thesis would not exist. Thank you to Chief Mi'sel Joe and Angela Christmas for speaking with me and giving me a better insight into the Miawpukek First Nation and the people who live there.

A special thanks to my family and friends for your encouragement and positivity throughout my time as a grad student. Thank you especially to my parents and sibling for letting me talk your ears off at the dinner table about issues I was having and for your level headed advice despite none of you having a background in linguistics. A well deserved thank you to my fellow grad student Luke Huda, who has become one of my greatest friends throughout this process. Your advice and support has been a constant pillar throughout the last two years and I am incredibly thankful. To Nick, Cody, Dyson, Lewis, and Rostant thank you for our weekly Wednesday night escape which allowed me to get away from all my stress and anxiety. It meant so much more to me than any of you might have realized.

List of Tables

Table 1: List of Algonquian Languages and their Dialects	2
Table 2: Free Word Order in Mi'kmaq	6
Table 3: Mi'kmaq Orthographies and their Corresponding Sounds	7
Table 4: Underlying Consonant Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq (Bragg 1976)	10
Table 5: Underlying Vowel Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq (Bragg 1976)	10
Table 6: Underlying and Surface Representations of Consonants, 1976	25
Table 7: Underlying Consonant Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq	26
Table 8: Consonant Alternates [k]/[h] (Speaker: Matthew)	31
Table 9: Aspiration Alternation [k]/[k ^h]	31
Table 10: [-k ^h] Animate Plural Morpheme	32
Table 11: Consonant Alternations [q]/[h]	37
Table 12: Consonant Alternations: Allophones of [q] (Speaker: Matthew)	39
Table 13: Consonant Alternations [s]/[ɛ] [z]/[z]	44
Table 14: Consonant Alternations with the Affricate [tʃ]/[dʒ]	47
Table 15: [-1] Inanimate Plural Morpheme	53
Table 16: Voiced Consonants Outside of Intervocalic Environments (Speaker: Matthew)	64
Table 17: Voiced Consonants Outside of Intervocalic Environments (Speaker: Paul)	64
Table 18: Obstruent Consonant Alternations	70
Table 19: Words with Consistently Voiced Consonants Outside of Intervocalic Environments	71
Table 20: Alternations Between Plosives and the Glottal Catch (Speaker: Matthew)	89
Table 21: Voiced Consonants Preceded by a Nasal or Lateral Liquid in Listuguj Mi'kmaq	93
Table 22: [-n] Plural Morpheme (Speaker: Matthew)	95
Table 23: Words Pronounced with Geminate Alveolar Nasal [nn] (Speaker: Matthew)	97
Table 24: Words Pronounced with a Geminate Alveolar Nasal [mm] (Speaker: Matthew)	98
Table 25: Words Pronounced with a Geminate Lateral Liquid [11] (Speaker: Matthew)	98
Table 26: Vowel Alternations [i]/[I]	101
Table 27: Vowel Alternations [e]/[ε]	104
Table 28: Vowel Alternations [a]/[a]	106
Table 29: Vowel Alternations [0]/[0]	111
Table 30: Vowel Alternations with Schwa	113
Table 31: Vowel Alternations with [i] (Speaker: Matthew)	115
Table 32: Front Vowel Alternations	116
Table 33: Back Vowel Alternations	116
Table 34: Updated Consonant Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq	119
Table 35: Vowel Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq	122

List of Figures

Figure 1: Mi'kmaq Territory and its Seven Districts	5
Figure 2: Pronunciation of 'my head'	18
Figure 3: Pronunciation of 'Spring month'	19
Figure 4: Pronunciation of 'board'	20
Figure 5: Pronunciation of 'blue fly'	21
Figure 6: Example of Voiceless Plosive [p]	22
Figure 7: Example of Voiced Plosive [b]	23
Figure 8: Pronunciation of 'blue'	36
Figure 9: Pronunciation of 'hardwood'	38
Figure 10: Percent of Intervocalic Consonants Surfacing as Voiceless	59
Figure 11: Percent of Non-Intervocalic Consonants Surfacing as Voiced	63
Figure 12: Voiced and Voiceless Consonants Preceding [w]	66
Figure 13: Pronunciation of 'chain' With No Outside Influences	73
Figure 14: Pronunciation of 'chain' With Continued Speech in English	74
Figure 15: Pronunciation of 'seaweed' With No Outside Influence	76
Figure 16: Pronunciation of 'seaweed' With Continued Speech in English	77
Figure 17: Pronunciation of 'three dollars'	78
Figure 18: Pronunciation of 'to steer'	79
Figure 19: Pronunciation of 'hard'	80
Figure 20: Pronunciation of 'I am that size'	81
Figure 21: Pronunciation of 'I like him a lot'	82
Figure 22: Pronunciation of 'boards'	83
Figure 23: Pronunciation of 'Eastern Canada Goose (brant)' with Glottal Catch Between Nasal [m]] and
Plosive [k ^h]	87
Figure 24: Pronunciation of 'he thinks about him' With Glottal Catch Between Nasal [n] and Plosi	ve [k] 88
Figure 25: Pronunciation of 'bike' With Glottal Catch Between Lateral Liquid [1] and Plosive [k]	89
Figure 26: Average Length of Pronunciation of Nasals and Lateral Liquid	92
Figure 27: Witsuwit'en male speakers F1 by F2 plot of post-lenis (left) and post-fortis (right) vowe	el
qualities	117
Figure 28: Witsuwit'en female speakers F1 by F2 plot of post-lenis (left) and post-fortis (right) vor	wel
qualities	118

Table of Contents

Abstract	i
Acknowledgements	ii
Chapter 1: Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.1.1 Algonquian Language Family	1
1.1.2 The Mi'kmaq People	4
1.1.3 The Mi'kmaq Language	5
1.2 Purpose of Study	9
1.2.1 Mi'kmaq Phonology	9
1.3 Significance	
Chapter 2: Review of Literature	14
2.1 Early Linguistic Analysis	14
2.2 Modern Linguistic Analysis	14
Chapter 3: Analysis & Discussion	16
3.1 Data & Methodology	16
3.1.1 Transcriptions	17
3.1.2 Queries	23
3.2 Consonants	24
3.2.1 Consonant Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq	
3.2.1.1 Bilabial and Alveolar Plosives	27
3.2.1.2 The Velar Plosive	
3.2.1.3 The Uvular Plosive	
3.2.1.4 The Alveolar Fricative	44
3.2.1.5 The Affricate	46
3.2.1.6 The Nasals	48
3.2.1.7 The Lateral Approximant	
3.2.1.8 The Glides	55
3.2.2 Voicing	57
3.2.2.1 Intervocalic Voicing	
3.2.2.2 Voicing Outside of the Intervocalic Environment	61
3.2.2.3 The Debate Surrounding [gw]	64
3.2.2.4 Other Voicing Explanations	67
3.2.2.5 Devoicing	71
3.2.3 The Glottal Catch	85
3.2.4 Sonorant Consonant Length	
3.2.4.1 Long Liquids	91

3.2.4.2 Geminate Consonants	94
3.3 Vowels	99
3.3.1 High Front Unrounded Vowels	100
3.3.2 Mid Front Unrounded Vowels	103
3.3.3 Low Central and Back Vowels	106
3.3.4 High Back Rounded Vowels	108
3.3.5 Mid Back Rounded Vowels	110
3.3.6 Mid Central Vowel	
3.3.7 Possible Additional Vowel	114
3.3.8 Vowel Alternations	115
3.4 Summary	119
Chapter 4: Conclusion and Future Studies	
Bibliography	
Appendix A: Matthew Jeddore Word List	
Appendix B: Matthew Jeddore List of Phonetic Environments	
Appendix C: Paul Jeddore Word List	209
Appendix D: Paul Jeddore List of Phonetic Environments	215
Appendix E: The Mi'kmaq of Newfoundland	

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Background

1.1.1 Algonquian Language Family

The Algonquian language family is one of many Indigenous language families located in Native North America. It belongs to the larger Algic language family, which includes the Yurok and Wiyot languages spoken along the northwestern coast of California. Originally, Yurok and Wiyot were not considered to be part of any language family until it was proposed to belong to the Algonquian language family by Edward Sapir (1913). At the time, Sapir's proposal was considered controversial, but has since become widely accepted after Yurok and Wiyot were compared phonologically, morphologically, and semantically with other Algonquian languages and were shown to possess similarities beyond simply borrowing (Goddard 1975).

Geographically, Algonquian languages are spoken across the majority of Canada from Labrador to Alberta and extend as far south into the United States as present day Wyoming (Junker & MacKenzie 2005). It is unclear what the exact number of Algonquian languages is, for example Mithun (1999) lists a total of twenty eight distinct languages and their subsequent dialects – see Table 1 for a complete list – whereas the website Ethnologue, which documents languages around the world, indicates that there are thirty nine Algonquian languages (Eberhard, Simons & Fennig 2021). Variations such as these are bound to occur when one must decide when a language is distinct or a dialect of another language. Additionally, several Indigenous languages that would have been actively spoken during the time of European contact did not have the chance to be documented before the language became dormant. Many languages were mentioned by name alone in early writings of European travellers, but there are no surviving documents to indicate that these languages were studied. Other languages that are included in Table 1 – for example Etchemin – have a scarce amount of surviving documents to verify their existence (Mithun 1999).

ALGONQUIAN (Mithun 1999)								
Central and Plains Algonquian	Eastern Algonquian							
Shawnee	Mi'kmaq = Mi'kmag = Micmac							
Fox (=Mesquakie)-Sauk-Kickapoo	Maliseet-Passamaquoddy							
Miami-Illinos = Peoria*	Etchemin*							
Potawatomi	Eastern Abenaki*							
Menominee = Menomini	Penobscot = Old Town							
Blackfoot	Caniba							
Cree	Aroosagunticook							
Eastern Cree:	Pigwacket							
East Cree	Western Abenaki = Abnaki = St. Francis*							
Naskapi	Loup A*							
Montagnais = Innu-aimun	Loup B*							
Western Cree:	Massachusett = Natick*							
Plains Cree	North Shore							
Woods Cree	Natick							
Swampy Cree	Wampanoag							
Eastern Swampy Cree	Nauset							
Moose Cree	Cowesit							
$At(t)ikamek(w) = T\hat{e}te \ de \ Boule$	Narragansett*							
Mi(t)chif	Mohegan-Pequot*							
Ojibwa = Ojibway = Ojibwe = Chippeway	Mohegan							
Saulteaux	Pequot							
Northwestern Ojibwa	Niantic							
Southwestern Ojibwa	Montauk							
Severn Ojibwa	Quiripi-Naugatuck-Unquachog-Shinnecock*							
Central Ojibwa	Mahican*							
Ottawa = Odawa	Stockbridge							
Eastern Ojibwa	Moravian							
Algonquin	Munsee = Delaware*							
Cheyenne	Munsee							

*Table 1: List of Algonquian Languages and their Dialects*¹

1 Languages followed by an asterisk had become dormant a the time Mithun was creating her book

Cheyenne	Wappinger
Sutaio = So'taa'e*	Unami = Delaware = Lenape*
Arapaho-Atsina	Northern
Arapaho	Southern
Besawunena*	Unalachtigo
Gros Ventre = Atsina = Aáni	Nanticoke*
Nawathinehena*	Nanticoke
Ha'anahawunena*	Choptank
	Piscataway
	Conoy
	Powahatan = Virginia Algonquian*
	Pamilco = Carolina Algonquian = Pamtico =
	Pamticough*

It is exciting to note that since the publication of Mithun's book in 1999 there have been language revitalization efforts for multiple Algonquian languages that were classified as dormant or had a low number of speakers. Most notably is Miami-Peoria (also known as Miami-Illinois) which has undergone strong revitalization efforts over the past twenty years. In 2011, ten years into the revitalization efforts, there were "hundreds of Miami people with some knowledge of the language and [...] about fifteen people with conversational proficiency. Many Miami families have incorporated the language into their daily communication, and a few children are being raised with the language" (Leonard 2008: 25–26). Additional revitalization efforts included the Breath of Life² program, specifically the one held in Washington DC in 2011, of which a lot of the participants spoke a language from Algonquian language family. During these workshops Algonquian speakers "investigated Sauk, Kickapoo, Meskwaki, Shawnee, Ojibwe, and Penobscot" (Sammons & Leonard 2011: 214).

² The Breath of Life program (also called the Breath of Life Language Restoration Workshop for California Indians) was first started in 1995 "as a workshop for the revitalization of California's sleeping languages" (Sammons & Leonard 2011: 211). The program allows participants to attend workshops, work in groups with speakers of their language and a linguist, and they are able to "[explore] and [use] the vast archives of California Indian languages and materials for their own efforts in language reclamation" (AICLS 2020). It has since inspired similar workshops in other areas such as Oklahoma, Washington DC, and Oregon.

Within the Algonquian language family a further distinction can be made between its Eastern and Central languages. Goddard (1978) indicates that there are several unique attributes that set the Eastern Algonquian languages apart from the rest. Because of these differences, Goddard proposed that the Eastern Algonquian languages "descend[ed] from an ancestral Proto-Eastern Algonquian Language (PEA) that had a certain period of independent development after branching off from the common parent of the whole family, Proto-Algonquian (PA)" (Goddard 1978: 70). Goddard estimates that this divergence began around 2,000 years ago. Of the Eastern Algonquian languages, only two – Mi'kmaq and Maliseet-Passamaquoddy – are actively spoken today.

1.1.2 The Mi'kmaq People³

It is unclear what the exact population of the Mi'kmaq people was preceding European contact. On the higher end, Jesuit missionary writings estimate that there was anywhere between 50,000 to 100,000 Mi'kmaq people living on the East Coast of North America (The Confederacy of Mainland Mi'kmaq 2007), while others claim the Mi'kmaq population was as low as 6,000 (Jackson 1993). Nevertheless, the Mi'kmaq were most likely the first people to come into contact with Europeans. When French colonials arrived they identified two groups of Indigenous people on the East coast that they called the Souriquois (Mi'kmaq) and the Etechemin (Maliseet-Passamaquoddy). Later on the Souriquois began to be called Mi'kmaq, "from the word *nikmaq*⁴, which means 'my kin-friends'" (Davis 1997: 23).

At that time of European arrival to the East coast, Mi'kmaq territory was spread across all of "Nova Scotia and Prince Edward Island, part of the Gaspé Peninsula, Newfoundland, and most of New Brunswick" (The Confederacy of Mainland Mi'kmaq 2007: 11). As time passed, however, Mi'kmaq territory and its population began to shrink as more and more people arrived and forced the Mi'kmaq to

³ For more information regarding the history of the Mi'kmaq of Newfoundland please reference Appendix E

⁴ This word "was a form of greeting used by the Mi'kmaq in the early seventeenth century and became associated with the people themselves" (Davis 1997:23)

move. Presently, Mi'kmaq territory consists of seven districts: Epekwitk aq Piktuk, Eskikewa'kik, Kespukwitk, Sipekni'katik, Siknikt, Unama'kik aq Ktaqmkuk, and Kespek – see Figure 1 below.



Figure 1: Mi'kmaq Territory and its Seven Districts

source: (The Confederacy of Mainland Mi'kmaq 2007: 11)

1.1.3 The Mi'kmaq Language

The Mi'kmaq language is highly agglutinative, fusional, and allows for noun incorporation. This means a single word in Mi'kmaq contains multiple morphemes and can be translated as an entire sentence in English. For example the word *Pemie'plewinatawijajika'sit⁵* means 'S/he, who knows how to do this well, is in the process of moving along very close to the edge (of shore): so close that s/he almost falls in, but because of her/his skill does not'. This sentence is broken down in the following example:

5 This word is written using Francis-Smith orthography

(1)	pemi	PV^6	in the process	
	e'plewi-	PV	over doing	
	natawi-	PV	ability	
	jajik-	R	follow along the edge	
	-a'si	AI.VF	reflective	
	-t	AI.3.Indep.neut		(from Inglis 2004)

Because of the agglutinative nature of the language, a Mi'kmaq speaker is able to freely adjust the word order of a sentence without losing the original meaning. The morphemes that attach to the verb stem indicate what the subject and object of the sentence are regardless of word order. In some languages a sentence such as 'The man sees the table' can only be pronounced in a limited number of ways before the inherent meaning of the sentence is lost, but in Mi'kmaq this sentence can be said six different ways and is able to retain the original meaning. All possible sentence orderings can be seen in the following table (from Inglis 2004).

Word Order	Mi'kmaq Sentence	English Meaning
VOS	Nemitoq pataluti ji'nm	The man sees the table.
VSO	Nemitoq ji'nm pataluti	The man sees the table.
OVS	Pataluti nemitoq ji'nm	The man sees the table.
OSV	Pataluti ji'nm nemitoq	The man sees the table.
SVO	Ji'nm nemitoq pataluti	The man sees the table.
SOV	Ji'nm pataluti nemitoq	The man sees the table.

Ί	able	2:	Free	Word	Order	in	Mi'	'kmaq'
---	------	----	------	------	-------	----	-----	--------

⁶ The abbreviations stand for preverb (PV), root (R), animate intransitive (AI), and verb final (VF).

⁷ The Mi'kmaq sentences in this table were written using the Francis-Smith Orthography

In terms of pre-contact writing, the Mi'kmaq people "wrote in hieroglyphs which were scratched into tree bark or animal hides" (The Confederacy of Mainland Mi'kmaq 2007: 20) or carved into stone⁸. The earliest developed orthography was created by Reverend Silas T. Rand in the late 1800s in order to document Mi'kmaq (Rand 1888). Shortly after, a missionary known as Father Pacifique compiled a book with his own version of an orthography (Buisson 1939). In terms of contemporary orthographies there are three. First, the Francis-Smith orthography was created by Bernard Francis and Douglas Smith. It is the most widely used of the three orthographies in the provinces of Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, and Prince Edward Island and is "the official orthography of the *Sante' Mawio'mi* (Grand Council)" (Nova Scotia Archives 2020). Second, the Listuguj orthography is primarily used by the Mi'kmaq speakers of Quebec. The third orthography, known as the Lexicon orthography, was created by Albert DeBlois and Alphonse Metallic in 1984 but is not widely used (DeBlois & Metallic 1984). A summary of the orthographies and the corresponding IPA sounds they represent can be seen below in Table 3.

IPA	i	i:	e	e:	a	a:	ə	0	0:	u	u:	р	t	k	q	m	n	1	t∫	s	w	j
Francis- Smith	i	í/i'	e	é/e'	a	á/a'	i	0	ó/o'	u	ú/u'	р	t	k	q	m	n	1	j	s	w	у
Listuguj	i	i'	e	e'	a	a'	'	0	0'	u	u'	р	t	g	q	m	n	1	j	s	w	у
Lexicon	i	i:	e	e:	a	a:	i	0	o:	u	u:	р	t	k	q	m	n	1	j	s	w	у
Pacifique		i		e		a			ô		0	р	t	g		m	n	1	tj	s		
Rand	ĭ	e	ě	ā	ă	a â	ŭ	ŏ	οō	ŏŏ	oo u	b p	d t	g k	h	m	n	1	dj tc	s	w	у

Table 3: Mi'kmaq Orthographies and their Corresponding Sounds

⁸ More than 500 different petroglyphs (pictures carved into stone) have been found in Kejimkujik National Park in Nova Scotia. Making "it the largest number of petroglyphs in eastern North America" (The Confederacy of Mainland Mi'kmaq 2007: 8)

The Mi'kmaq language, as well as other Indigenous languages, suffered greatly during the enforcement of residential schools which lasted "for more than 160 years, with upwards of 150,000 [Indigenous] children passing through their doors" (The Royal Canadian Geographical Society/Canadian Geographic 2018) with the last school closing as recently as 1996. These children were forcibly separated from their families and punished for speaking the only language they knew. The words of Isabelle Knockwood, who attended a residential school in Shubenacadie, Nova Scotia from 1936 to 1947, describe the lasting effects these schools had on her and countless others in terms of her relationship with the Mi'kmaq language:

"Although many of those who so relentlessly punished the children entrusted to them [the priests and nuns who ran the residential schools] are now dead, the effect of their savage punishments has outlived them. Not only were little children brutally punished for speaking their mother tongue, reducing them to years of speechlessness, but the Mi'kmaw language was constantly referred to as 'mumbo-jumbo' as if it were some form of gibberish. [...] The punishment for speaking Mi'kmaw began on our first day at school, but the punishment has continued all our lives as we try to piece together who we are and what the world means to us with a language many of us have had to re-learn as adults." (Knockwood 2015: 108)

Despite the relentless punishments endured inside residential schools, the Mi'kmaq culture and language refuse to fade. In recent decades there has been strong language revitalization efforts, such as high school immersion programs (McGee Jr. 2008), in Mi'kmaq communities throughout the Atlantic provinces. As of 2016, the number of Indigenous people in Canada who speak Mi'kmaq was 8,870 with the majority of the people living in either New Brunswick (24.6%) or Nova Scotia (61.9%) (Statistics Canada 2017).

While some First Nation communities have several hundred – in some cases a couple thousand – fluent Mi'kmaq speakers others are struggling to reclaim their lost language. In Newfoundland the last fluent Mi'kmaq speaker died in the 1980s. Since that time Mi'kmaq language classes have been

included in the school curriculum in Miawpukek so that Indigenous children can learn their native language. Community classes have also been implemented so people of any age can come and learn Mi'kmaq (Angela Christmas, pc, 2021).

1.2 Purpose of Study

The purpose of this study is to re-examine the phonology of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq which was last examined over 45 years ago in 1976 (Bragg 1976). This thesis focuses more specifically on the consonant inventory, although there is a discussion surrounding the vowel inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq as well. The main goal of this paper is to examine the waveforms and spectrograms of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq recordings in closer detail, which allows for a more accurate transcription and for the inventory proposed by Bragg to be expanded upon. This phonological re-examination includes determining underlying phonemes and identifying possible allophones, examining sonorant consonant lengthening, and verifying the existence of the 'glottal catch'.

1.2.1 Mi'kmaq Phonology⁹

In Bragg's original paper the underlying phonetic inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq consisted of eleven consonants and six vowels – see Table 4 for consonant inventory and Table 5 for vowel inventory. All of these vowels, with the exception of schwa /ə/, possess long vowel counterparts. Bragg

⁹ Some of the symbols used in other linguistic papers to represent the consonants are based on the Francis-Smith orthography or the Listuguj orthography. These symbols have been changed to reflect the current symbols used in the International Phonetic Alphabet chart. For example, Bragg uses the symbols /y/ and /č/, which I have changed to /j/ and /tʃ/.

noted that the phoneme /q/ appeared to have several different surface representations¹⁰ in comparison to the other phonemes – this will be discussed further in §3.2.1.

	Bilabial	Alveolar	Post Alveolar	Palatal	Velar	Uvular
Plosive	р	t			k	q
Nasal	m	n				
Fricative		S	t∫			
Approximant	W			j		
Lateral Approximant		1				

Table 4: Underlying Consonant Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq (Bragg 1976)

Table 5: Underlying Vowel Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq (Bragg 1976)

	Front	Central	Back
Close	i, i:		u, u:
Mid	e, e:	ə	0, 0:
Open		a, a:	

Hewson (1986) notes that the glides [j] and [w] are most likely allophones of the vowels /i/ and /u/. The supporting evidence provided in that paper was the reaction of native Mi'kmaq speakers who "resent the use of w and y in the orthography, claiming that they are not needed" (Hewson 1986: 444). While the orthography opinions of native speakers do not outright confirm a lack of existence of the glides in the underlying consonant inventory, other linguists such as Fidelholtz have proposed the same possible allophony. Fidelholtz found in his 1968 examination of Listuguj Mi'kmaq that the

¹⁰ In Bragg's thesis one of the surface representations of /q/ is the voiced velar fricative [ɣ]. It should be noted that the underlying phoneme for the voiced velar fricative differs from a previous thesis written in 1971 concerning the morphology of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq. Alan Humber indicated in his description of the consonant inventory that in certain contexts the voiceless velar plosive /k/ could surface as the voiced velar fricative [ɣ]. The environment in which /k/ surfaced as [ɣ] was when the phoneme was preceded by either an [o] or an [a] and followed by the vowels [a] or [o], any consonant, word finally, or a morpheme boundary. Otherwise, the /k/ would surface as [k] or [g].

surrounding environments in which [w] and [u] are found are specific and are never shared by both phonemes. A similar pattern was seen between the phonemes [j] and [i] – "between vowels we find only y, between consonants only i:" (Fidelholtz 1968: 26).

It is generally agreed that Mi'kmaq consonants are underlyingly voiceless and become voiced intervocalically – see (2) for Voicing rule and (3) for an example. According to Bragg this rule can be triggered across word boundaries, for example, if the previous word ends in a vowel and the following word begins with a CV sequence this places the initial consonant between two vowels and will trigger voicing – see example (4).

(2) Voicing: C [-voice] \rightarrow C [+voice] / V_V

A voiceless consonant becomes voiced when it is between two vowels.

- (3) /pəleku/ [pəlegu] 'nail'
- (4) /kesi piley/ [kɛzı bıley] 'it's very new'

Bragg noted three exceptions to this rule: consonant voicing can occur word initially and word finally (see examples (5), (6), and (7)), following long vowels (see examples (7) and (8)), and in loanwords (see example (9)). During this re-analysis, these unexplained exceptions in the data are closely examined in Praat to see whether or not there is in fact word initial or word final voicing. Additionally, the environments immediately preceding and following the pronunciation of the word are examined to see whether or not any outside factors were affecting the voicing of the plosives.

(5) /papit/ [babit] 'he plays, has fun'

- (6) /nepat/ [nebad] 'he sleeps'
- (7) /ka:t/ [ka:d] 'eel'
- (8) $/qalipu:\mathbf{k}/$ [halibu:g] 'caribou pl.'
- (9) /kupəlnowəl/ [gubəlnəwəl] 'government'

There is an interesting pattern that emerges concerning consonant clusters. According to Bragg's data, consonant clusters that begin with a sonorant consonant trigger what Bragg calls a 'glottal catch'¹¹ between the two – see examples (10) and (11). Additionally, when this type of consonant cluster occurs word initially the sonorant becomes devoiced – see examples (12) and (13).

(10)	/lə nt ukw/	[lə n[?]t ukw]	'deer'
(11)	/əlpa:/	[əl'pa:]	'really'
(12)	/ ms ət/	[m̥ʾsət]	'all, every'
(13)	/ nq un/	[ņ ²qun]	'my heel'

Bragg also discusses something he calls 'long liquids'¹². Long liquids occur in the initial section of a consonant cluster and cause the second consonant in the cluster to become voiced – see examples (14) and (15). When these sonorants are 'long' the devoicing "of nasal liquids in initial position in both word and the cluster does not occur" (Bragg 1976: 24) (examples were not provided). According to Bragg these long liquids are different from the geminate liquids that are also occurring in the data, but he does not indicate how to discern the difference between the two.

¹¹ Throughout Bragg's paper a glottal catch was transcribed with the symbol [?]

¹² Bragg groups the sonorant consonants /m,n,l/ in this category even though the nasal segments are not considered 'liquids' in modern terminology.

(14)	/mə n:t u/	[mə n:d u]	'devil'	
(15)	/ə l:p a:tu/	[ə l:b a:du]	'boy'	

1.3 Significance

This thesis is the first in depth examination of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq phonetics since 1976. Since that time the way we analyze phonemes has changed with the ability to use computer programs such as Praat to closely examine the waveform and spectrograms of speech. Therefore, this examination is needed in order to expand upon the phonemes and allophones of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq and review the observations originally made by Bragg over forty five years ago. This thesis will help to expand our understanding of Mi'kmaq dialectology and has the potential to aid in the revitalization of the Newfoundland Mi'kmaq dialect by providing an in depth examination and analysis of the pronunciation of Mi'kmaq words by two native speakers.

Chapter 2: Review of Literature

2.1 Early Linguistic Analysis

The oldest surviving documents that analyzed the Mi'kmaq language were written by French missionaries living in and around the Atlantic coast of Canada during the eighteenth century. The first Mi'kmaq grammar book was compiled by Father Maillard and was published posthumously in the mid nineteenth century by Father Bellenger. This first documentation of Mi'kmaq contained mostly verbal paradigms. The first English to Mi'kmaq dictionary was published by another religious figure, Reverend Silas Rand (1888), but contained several issues. For instance, Rand "over-differentiated voiced and unvoiced variants thus leading us to consider, quite mistakenly, that voicing is phonemic in this language" (Bragg 1976: 3). The third major work that was published about the Mi'kmaq language was a comprehensive grammar compiled by Father Pacifique Buisson (1939). His work, although extensive and helpful to the understanding of the language, employed a transcription system that was too broad. For example, Father Pacifique rarely marked when vowel length occurred even though Mi'kmaq contains six short vowels and five long vowels. Because of its importance, Father Pacifique's work was re-transcribed in 1990 (Hewson & Francis 1990) in order to both preserve his original findings as well as transcribe his work in a more uniform manner. For example, where Father Pacifique wrote <oigoèg> Hewson and Francis wrote [wi:kue:k].

2.2 Modern Linguistic Analysis

The first modern linguistic study of Mi'kmaq was completed in 1968 by James Fidelholtz. His PhD dissertation examined the morphophonemics of Mi'kmaq, specifically noun plurals, contractions,

intransitive verbs, transitive verbs, and noun possession (Fidelholtz 1968). The dialect of Mi'kmaq that was used for Fidelholtz's dissertation was spoken in Restigouche, Quebec – presently known as the Listiguj dialect. Following Fidelholtz's dissertation there was a surge of linguistic interest in the Mi'kmaq language between the late 1960s to the late 1980s. These papers mainly focused on the peoples of the Miawpukek First Nation of Newfoundland due to the dwindling numbers of fluent speakers in their community as well as the Mi'kmaq spoken in Nova Scotia. During that time, the language was described in detail from the perspective of phonology, morphology, and semantics among others (Humber 1971, Hewson 1973, 1980, 1985, 1986; Bragg 1976; Proulx 1978; Williams & Jerome 1979; Denny 1983; Inglis 1986; Dawe-Sheppard 1988). Within these papers there was a strong sense of worry for the Miawpukek First Nation speakers as linguists scrambled to document as much as they could before no fluent speakers remained. It is noted by Inglis in her 2002 PhD thesis that Mi'kmaq "was spoken in Newfoundland... until the late 1980s" (Inglis 2002: 3).

Once this time period passed there was not as much activity in terms of linguistic analysis for roughly ten years. Then in 2009 research was conducted on language revitalization which continued to be examined throughout the years (Sarkar et al. 2009; Little et al. 2015; Sarkar 2017). These papers focused on the Mi'kmaq spoken in Quebec and Nova Scotia.

Chapter 3: Analysis & Discussion

3.1 Data & Methodology

Between 1969 and 1975 Memorial University Professor John Hewson and grad student Alan Humber¹³ recorded roughly thirty hours of taped interviews with brothers Matthew and Paul Jeddore, who were born and raised in Conne River (now known as the Miawpukek First Nation) where they spoke Mi'kmaq as their first language (Chief Mi'sel Joe, pc, 2022). These recordings have been stored at Memorial University in their original form on cassette tapes and reels and were copied to CDs in 2009. These recordings are now stored in digital form in the Labrador Languages Preservation Archive at Memorial University. The original 285-page handwritten transcriptions of these interviews were used as the data source for Bragg's (1976) thesis.

Roughly ten hours of the audio was used to re-examine Newfoundland Mi'kmaq phonetics, the majority of which came from Matthew Jeddore (a total of 8.73 hours), and was recorded between July 7-13 in 1971¹⁴. At the time of recording Matthew was 75 years old. The remaining 1.23 hours of audio used in this analysis was from his older brother Paul Jeddore and was recorded on the dates of August 12-13 in 1969. At the time of recording Paul was 75 years old. Ideally, the hours should have been split between both men as equally as possible, but there were significantly fewer interviews with Paul Jeddore and the audio quality of some of these interviews made it impossible to accurately analyze on the computer, which led to their disqualification from this analysis.

¹³ Despite my best efforts to track down exactly who worked on this project alongside Dr. Hewson and Alan Humber to give credit where it's due I was unable to find out who worked with them beyond some first names that were written on one of the original project notes. Thank you to Sandra, Larry, Leila, Donna, Ruth, and Pam for your contributions to this project.

¹⁴ The specific tapes re-transcribed to create the data for this thesis were: 2, 3, 6, 7, 8, 12, 17, 19, and 20. There was a total of 22 tapes recorded during that time period.

3.1.1 Transcriptions

The primary software programs used to examine the data were Phon (Hedlund & Rose 2020) and Praat (Boersma & Weenik 2021). Data was excluded from the final analysis if the interviewer was talking at the same time as a word was being pronounced, if background noises were loud enough to effect the formants of the word or the ability to accurately determine sound boundaries within the word, if the speaker didn't know the word that the interviewer was asking about (even if they pronounced it), or if words were pronounced by the speakers but no definition was provided or could not be found.

The entirety of the data was examined three separate times to ensure both the transcriptions and the English definitions attached to each transcription were as accurate as possible. The initial examination recorded the transcriptions based on the audio alone. During the second examination each word was examined in closer detail in Praat in order to mark sound boundaries and correct any noticeable transcription errors. A third examination was conducted to ensure there were no potential errors left in the transcriptions that would be used for this analysis.

The waveforms and spectrograms were examined in conjunction with the audio in order to determine the consonants and vowels pronounced in each word¹⁵. The dark formants in the spectrogram and amplitude in the waveform made the identification of the vowels relatively easy. The identification of the nasals and lateral liquid was based off of the lower amplitude of the waveform in comparison to amplitude of the vowels as well as the less prominent formants in the spectrogram. Figure 2 gives a clear picture of both the waveform lowering and the spectrogram becoming lighter when the sounds shift between the alveolar nasal [n] and vowels.

¹⁵ The book *A Field Manual of Acoustic Phonetics* by Joan Baart (2010) was also used as a reference in order to more accurately identify and differentiate the consonants.



Figure 2: Pronunciation of 'my head' (Speaker: Matthew)

The glides were immediately identifiable through spectrograms due to the way they affected the formants of the vowels that immediately followed them. The formants tended to be lower during the pronunciation of the glide and then arch upward as the sound transitioned into a vowel. The boundaries between glides and vowels was marked only after the formants of the vowel stabilized. An example of this can be seen in Figure 3 below.



Figure 3: Pronunciation of 'Spring month' (Speaker: Matthew)

Fricatives and affricates were identified by the irregularity of their waveforms as well as the darkness that typically gathers at the top of the spectrograms when these sounds are pronounced. Additionally, when affricates occurred in the data the sound was sometimes preceded by a release burst due to an affricate being a combination of a stop and a fricative. See Figure 4¹⁶ for examples of fricatives [s] and [χ] and Figure 5 for an example of the affricate [dʒ].

¹⁶ One observation to note of in Figure 4 is the amplitude of the alveolar fricative [s] and the voiceless uvular fricative $[\chi]$. I noticed that the fricatives farther back in the mouth had a tendency to create a smaller amplitude in its pronunciation than that of the alveolar fricatives. Of course this was not a guaranteed way of identifying these sounds, but it helped to narrow down sounds I should be focusing on.



Figure 4: Pronunciation of 'board'

(Speaker: Matthew)



Figure 5: Pronunciation of 'blue fly' (Speaker: Matthew)

It is important to note that while the VOT of the plosives was not officially measured throughout this analysis I was acutely aware of my biases as an L1 English speaker¹⁷ and was, therefore, extremely meticulous and cautious in determining the voicing of each plosive. The following two figures have been included to demonstrate clear differences in the voicing of the initial plosive between two pronunciations of the word 'he has fun'. In Figure 6, there is little to no voicing occurring before the release burst, but in Figure 7 there is a clear waveform preceding the release burst, indicating voicing on the initial plosive. If the voicing of the plosive was not clear at any time for any reason, the word was excluded from the final analysis of this thesis.

¹⁷ In English, aspiration is a factor in identifying voiceless consonants (Schwartzhaupt, Kickhofel Alves & Areas da Luz Fontes 2015), but this is not always the case for other languages. Because of this inherent bias in my perception of voiced and voiceless consonants I was extremely careful in identifying voicing in this analysis.



Figure 6: Example of Voiceless Plosive [p]

(Speaker: Matthew)



Figure 7: Example of Voiced Plosive [b]

(Speaker: Matthew)

3.1.2 Queries

Phon was also used to perform a closer examination of the consonants and vowels with its Query feature in order to create word lists of each phone. For example, a query would generate a list of all words containing a [p] then a separate query would be run for all words containing a [b] and so on. Within these lists the immediate surrounding environments for each consonant were recorded (to see a complete list of phonetic environments see Appendix B and D) and compared with other consonants in order to determine underlying phonemes and possible allophones. The same was done with the vowels although, due to time constraints, the analysis of the vowels were not as thorough. Based on the observations made by Bragg in his original thesis additional queries were run specifically focusing on the voicing of plosives both inside and outside of intervocalic environments, the length of pronunciation of sonorant consonants, and the environments containing a glottal catch.

3.2 Consonants¹⁸

This section provides an updated summary of the consonant inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq (3.2.1) as well as a closer examination of consonant voicing (3.2.2), the glottal catch (3.2.3), and sonorant consonant lengthening (3.2.4). To compare, Table 6 provides a summary of the underlying phonemes and their surface representations based on Bragg's original paper of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq consonants from 1976. This table also provides a brief explanation of where the surface representations would occur in the data based on Bragg's descriptions and summarizes his statements on the underlying phonemes and their surface representations.

¹⁸ It is important to keep in mind that the observations in the following sections of this paper are subjected to my personal biases as a native English speaker. Because I am not fluent in the language it is entirely possible that I may have missed a contrast or two.

Underlying	Surface
/p/	[p] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[b] voiced intervocalically for the most part
/t/	[t] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[d] voiced intervocalically
/k/	[k] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[g] voiced intervocalically
/q/	[q] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[G] (transcribed as [Q]) occurs intervocalically, specifically when preceded by a
	long back vowel
	[h] in free variation with [q] word initially
	[y] occurs intervocalically
	$[\chi]$ (transcribed as $[x]$) occurs in consonant clusters and word finally
/s/	[s] underlying
	[z] voiced intervocalically
/tʃ/	[tʃ] underlying
transcribed as [č]	[dʒ] voiced intervocalically
/n/	[n] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[n] occurs in word initial consonant clusters
	[n:] occurs immediately before a plosive & causes the plosive to become voiced
	[n ⁷] occurs immediately before a plosive or affricate
	[nn] geminate (based on examples provided this occurs word medially and finally)
/m/	[m] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[m] occurs in word initial consonant clusters
	[m:] occurs immediately before a plosive & causes the plosive to become voiced
	[m'] occurs immediately before a plosive or affricate
/1/	[1] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[I'] occurs immediately before a plosive or affricate
	[1:] occurs immediately before a plosive & causes the plosive to become voiced
	[11] genimate (based on examples provided this occurs word medially and finally)
/w/	[w] occurs word initially, medially, and finally
	[w'] occurs in certain [wC] clusters
/j/	[j] occurs word medially and finally
transcribed as [y]	

Table 6: Underlying and Surface Representations of Consonants, 1976

3.2.1 Consonant Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq

There are eleven underlying consonants in the Newfoundland Mi'kmaq phonological inventory: four plosives, two nasals, one fricative, one affricate, one lateral approximant, and two glides. The obstruents are underlyingly voiceless, but have voiced allophones as well as occurrences of free variation. The nasals and lateral liquid show evidence of devoicing, syllabification, and are able to trigger glottal catches in certain environments. Each consonant will be examined in closer detail in this section and in §3.2.2.3 I justify the inclusion of an additional consonant /k^w/ that was not originally considered to be part of the inventory by Bragg. To begin, the following table shows the consonant inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq based on my analysis.

Table 7:	Underlying	Consonant	Inventory	of Newfoundland M	i'kmaq
					1

	Bilabial	Alveolar	Post. Alveolar	Velar	Uvular
Plosive	р	t		k k ^w	q
Nasal	m	n			
Fricative		S			
Affricate			t∫		
Lateral Approx.		1			
Glide	W			j	

Due to the agglutinative nature of Mi'kmaq, it is extremely hard to come across minimal pairs in this language. In fact, out of the ten hours of audio analyzed for this thesis there was only a single minimal pair found in the data and it confirmed the long and short vowels are distinctive phonemes. Despite the lack of minimal pairs to determine whether the voiced consonants are distinct or allophones of the same phoneme, there was a lot of consonant alternations occurring across multiple pronunciations of the same word that helped determine the voiceless consonants as underlying (consonant alternations will be discussed in further detail in §3.2.2).

3.2.1.1 Bilabial and Alveolar Plosives

The bilabial and alveolar plosives are underlyingly voiceless and occur in all environments – word initially, medially, and finally. The plosives become voiced most commonly between vowels. Both plosives can occur as the initial or final consonant in a consonant cluster. And although both plosives can occur in the middle of a consonant cluster containing three consonants, these occurrences are not common and the environments are restrictive. The bilabial only surfaces between two consonants when the preceding consonant is an [m] and the alveolar surfaces when preceded by either a nasal or the velar plosive.

Bilabial Plosive /p/ Examples:

Word Initially

(16)	[pɪdʒəzədi]	'buttons'	(Paul)
(17)	[p lamo]	'salmon'	(Paul)
(18)	[p iga?aņ]	ʻrib'	(Mathew)
(19)	[p igun]	'feather'	(Matthew)
Word Finally			
(20)	[sizɪ p]	'bird'	(Matthew)
(21)	[a p]	'do it again'	(Matthew)
(22)	[ntə p]	'my brain'	(Matthew)

Intervocalic [p]

	(23)	[təmanı p ɛmadu]	'he carries it'	(Paul)	
	(24)	[pezipazıt]	'it breaks'	(Matthew)	
	(25)	[a p əktık]	'the other one'	(Matthew)	
	(26)	[ki p ɛset]	'you smell him'	(Matthew)	
	Intervocalic [b]			
	(27)	[si b u]	'river'	(Matthew)	
	(28)	[ababi]	'rope'	(Matthew)	
	(29)	[tʃi b ak ^h]	'afraid'	(Paul)	
	First Consona	ant in Cluster			
	(30)	[midʒɪptʃ]	'animal that's good to eat'	(Matthew)	
	(31)	[nin a p kwadu]	'I untie it'	(Matthew)	
	(32)	[tə p si]	'alder'	(Matthew)	
	Middle Consonant in Cluster				
	(33)	[wedzigIm p k ^h]	'our brother'	(Matthew)	
	Last Consona	int in Cluster			
	(34)	[kīs p adīk]	'dry'	(Paul)	
	(35)	[m p ugik ^h]	'eye'	(Paul)	
	(36)	[tan p azık]	'any'	(Matthew)	
Alveolar Plosive /t/ Examples:					
	Word Initially	y			

(37)	[temadu]	'to break'	(Paul)	
(38)	[tɛmagito]	'he saws it'	(Paul)	

(39)	[tegwa]	'short stick'	(Matthew)				
Word Finally	Word Finally						
(40)	[m [?] kat]	'ankle'	(Matthew)				
(41)	[kobɪt]	'beaver'	(Matthew)				
(42)	[nibi t]	'tooth'	(Paul)				
(43)	[alamu t]	'he looks for him'	(Paul)				
Intervocalic [[t]						
(44)	[katije]	'thigh'	(Paul)				
(45)	[pɛtɛkʰ]	'he strikes it unexpectedly'	(Paul)				
(46)	[matedzuwe]	'hammer'	(Matthew)				
(47)	[meti]	'my friend'	(Matthew)				
Intervocalic [d]							
(48)	[mɛbi d o]	'cheek'	(Paul)				
(49)	[mi d i]	'poplar tree'	(Matthew)				
(50)	[ka d ah]	'eels'	(Matthew)				
(51)	[padaduc]	'left side'	(Matthew)				
First Consonant in Cluster							
(52)	[kawatk ^h]	'spruce tree'	(Matthew)				
(53)	[mə t həlnıs]	'wren'	(Matthew)				
(54)	[maha t paj]	'I have a big head'	(Matthew)				
Middle Consonant in Cluster							
(55)	[nan t kə]	'two fives'	(Paul)				
(56)	[əmtludɛw]	'smoke'	(Matthew)				
Last Consonant in Cluster

(57)	[m t əņ]	'ten'	(Paul)
(58)	[alaptık]	'he looks for it'	(Paul)
(59)	[nestə]	'I understand'	(Matthew)

3.2.1.2 The Velar Plosive

The velar plosive is underlyingly voiceless, occurs in all environments, and becomes voiced most commonly between vowels. This plosive can occur word initially, word finally, and at the beginning, end, or in the middle of a consonant cluster. Additionally, there is evidence to suggest that the velar plosive is in free variation with the consonant [h] and the aspirated plosive [k^h] (not to be confused with the animate plural morpheme [-k^h]).

At times when a word containing a [k] was pronounced more than once the velar plosive would be replaced by the glottal voiceless fricative [h] in some of the pronunciations. This consonant change happened often enough for it to become a noticeable pattern even though the speakers themselves did not appear to realize that they were pronouncing the words differently. Consonant alternations between [k] and [h] occurred most commonly in word initial and word final positions. The following table is a small list of [k] and [h] alternations taken from Matthew's data¹⁹. It is important to note that it is very difficult to determine what the underlying consonant for [h] is when there is no consonant alternation across multiple pronunciations because the uvular plosive [q] can also surface as [h].

¹⁹ Although Paul's data is very limited compared to Matthew's there are still four instances of [k] alternating with [h] in his data.

Place	[k] Pronunciation	[h] Pronunciation	Definition
	[kapsku]	[hapsk ^h]	'waterfall'
Word Initial	[kɛginamazıt]	[heginamasıt]	'he learns'
word initial	[kahəmi]	[hahami]	'to stand'
	[kil piskwa]	[hil piskwa]	'you come in'
	[megwek]	[megweh]	'red'
Word Final	[ɛwistek]	[ɛwɪsteh]	'he smashes it up'
	[apəktık]	[abəktəh]	'the other one'

Table 8: Consonant Alternates [k]/[h] (Speaker: Matthew)

The velar plosive only becomes aspirated word finally, but as with [h] there are several words in which the final [k] can be aspirated or unaspirated word finally across multiple pronunciations of the same word. Table 9 contains a small list words in which the aspirated and unaspirated velar plosive alternates.

[k] Pronunciation	[k ^h] Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
[wasohək]	[wazə?ek ^h]	'you see a light'	Matthew
[tɛmtɛsk]	[tɛmtɛsk ^h]	'I break it (by dropping it)'	Mathew
[kɛkun²k]	[kɛkunkʰ]	'he's got it'	Matthew
[tʃibak]	[tʃibak ^h]	'afraid'	Paul
[win1mek]	[winemck ^h]	'he curses at it'	Paul
[alaptık]	[alaptək ^h]	'he looks for it'	Paul
[kohwalək]	[kohwaluk ^h]	'I grab it'	Matthew

Table 9: Aspiration Alternation [k]/[k^h]

In addition to word final velar plosives becoming aspirated, there is a morpheme containing the same consonant [-k^h] that attaches to the end of animate nouns to indicate plurality. Table 10 contains a list comparing singular and plural nouns that are pronounced with the animate plural morpheme suffix

by Matthew and Paul. The animacy of each noun was gathered from the Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary²⁰ (Haberlin, Williams & Ziegler 1997), which lists the animacy of the word in their definitions. While the majority of the words that were classified as animate in the online dictionary received the animate plural morpheme when pronounced by Matthew and Paul, there were a few instances where nouns listed as inanimate were being pronounced with the animate plural morpheme²¹. This raises the question whether or not these words are classified as animate in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq.

Definition	Singular	Plural	Animacy (from Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary)	Speaker
'animal'	[wojzɪs]	[wojzɪsk ^h]	Animate	Matthew/Paul
'arctic hare'	[wabus]	[wabusk ^h]	Animate	Matthew
'gull'	[klə?ənditʃ]	[klə?əndɪtʃkʰ]	Animate	Matthew
'Indigenous person'	[əlnu]	[əlnuk ^h]	Animate	Matthew
'mountain'	[pəmdɪn]	[pəmdənk ^h]	Animate	Matthew
'pipe'	[tɛmaqan]	[tɛmaʔan²kʰ]	Animate	Matthew
'pot'	[wɔ]	[wok ^h]	Animate	Matthew
'little river'	[tʃibudʒitʃ]	[tʃibudʒitʃk ^h]	Inanimate	Matthew
'shoe'	[wındʒusnəŋ]	[windʒuksnank ^h]	Animate	Paul
'fingernail'	[m̥qozi]	[mqozık]	Animate	Paul
'rope'	[ababi]	[ababik ^h]	Animate	Matthew
'skin'	[məgegəņ]	[məgegən [?] k ^h]	Inanimate	Matthew
'swallow (n.)'	[kugwales]	[kugwalesk ^h]	Animate	Matthew

 Table 10: [-k^h] Animate Plural Morpheme

Velar Plosive /k/ Examples:

- 20 The Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary is a project created by the Listuguj Mi'kmaq community of Quebec and therefore could possibly differ in the pronunciation of words as well as animacy assignment.
- 21 The animacy of the nouns should not be considered definitive. It is possible for the animacy of one noun to differ across different dialects of the same language (for examples see: Kharlamenko 2018; Joseph & Tserdanelis 2008). What may be considered inanimate in Listuguj Mi'kmaq may be considered animate in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq.

(60)	[kigligwrtʃ]	'hen'	(Paul)
(61)	[k wɛlut]	'he hunts for him'	(Paul)
(62)	[kamlami]	'I breathe'	(Matthew)
(63)	[kedʒik]	'I know'	(Matthew)
Word Fin	al		
(64)	[awəwɪdʒɪdʒɪ k]	'spiders'	(Matthew)
(65)	[kɛsadı k]	'bright day'	(Matthew)
(66)	[kɛzustuwı k]	'the fire is hot'	(Matthew)
Intervoca	lic [k]		
(67)	[ə k idʒuwo]	'mother'	(Matthew)
(68)	[plɛko]	'nail'	(Paul)
(69)	[kɛ k unəmən]	'you got it'	(Matthew)
(70)	[sikəwigus]	'spring month'	(Matthew)
Intervoca	lic [g]		
(71)	[tɛma g itu]	'he saws it'	(Paul)
(72)	[abahtugowe]	'seabird'	(Matthew)
(73)	[na g uzɪt]	'sun'	(Matthew)
(74)	[egin]	'sometimes'	(Matthew)
First Con	sonant in Cluster		
(75)	[ni k tʃitʃ]	'my little house'	(Matthew)
(76)	[abuksigən]	ʻlynx'	(Matthew)
(77)	[klɔgwɪtʃ]	'star'	(Matthew)

Middle Consonant in Cluster

(78)	[m k ludɛw]	'smoke rising'	(Matthew)
(79)	[n k wıs]	'my son'	(Matthew)
(80)	[əp k wiman]	'blueberry'	(Matthew)
Last Con	sonant in Cluster		
(81)	[ankotk ^h]	'he looks after it'	(Paul)
(82)	[mkadʒigən]	'leg'	(Paul)
(83)	[m k umi]	'ice'	(Matthew)
(84)	[wapkɛ]	'daylight'	(Matthew)

3.2.1.3 The Uvular Plosive

The uvular plosive /q/ is the most allophonically complex of all the plosives in Mi'kmaq. In Bragg's original paper the underlying voiceless plosive could surface as five separate allophones: the voiced uvular plosive [G] (transcribed by Bragg as [Q]) surfaced in intervocalic positions when preceded by a long back vowel (this occurrence is considered occasional by Bragg), the voiceless glottal fricative [h] – which is in free variation with the voiceless uvular plosive [q] – surfaced in word initial positions, the voiced velar fricative [χ] surfaced in intervocalic positions, and the voiceless uvular fricative [χ] (transcribed by Bragg as [x]) surfaced in consonant clusters and word finally. Following the re-examination of the data all of the allophones listed in Bragg's paper do surface in Matthew's data, although when they surface is not as clear cut as originally described. It should be noted that this wide array of allophones did not occur in Paul's data with the exception of the glottal fricative [h] being in free variation with the voiceless uvular plosive in word initial position and only a couple instances of the voiced velar fricative surfacing intervocalically, otherwise Paul used the voiceless uvular plosive.

The [h] would also surface word medially and word finally throughout Paul's data rather than the allophones $[\chi]$ or [g] as seen with Matthew.

In Matthew's data the uvular plosive does not surface often but when it does it appears word initially, intervocalically, and as the first or last consonant in a consonant cluster. Both the voiceless glottal fricative [h] and the voiceless uvular fricative [χ] surface word initially, medially, and finally. These consonants can also appear within consonant clusters. In the following figure the word 'blue' was pronounced and contained a glottal fricative (red box) and a uvular fricative (purple box). The main way to differentiate between these sounds is by analyzing the audio, in which there is a distinctive sound in uvular frication and the glottal fricative experiences far less turbulence in its pronunciation compared to other fricatives. This is reflective in the subtle differences in the spectrograms and waveforms of the two sounds. In the uvular fricative's waveform there is a minimal amount of amplitude, but it is slightly higher than the glottal fricative's and has more aperiodic shifts. When looking at the spectrograms there is slightly more turbulence in the spectrogram of the uvular fricative versus that of the glottal fricative.



Figure 8: Pronunciation of 'blue'

Due to the diversity of the environments the glottal fricative [h] occurs in it is hard to determine for certain whether or not it is in free variation with [q], but there were instances of these two consonant alternating across multiple pronunciations of the same word – see Table 11 for examples. The voiced velar fricative [χ] surfaces exclusively in intervocalic positions, just as Bragg originally described. The voiced uvular plosive [G] also surfaces in intervocalic positions but this plosive only occurs Matthew's data a total of four times – three of these times this consonant alternates across multiple pronunciations with the voiced velar fricative [χ]. The rarity of the voiced uvular plosive [G] in combination with the consonant alternations leads me to question whether or not this sound can be classified as an allophone. This phone occurs rarely in Matthew's speech, not at all in Paul's, and does not seem to be predictable. Whether or not this phone is phonologically significant would require a

⁽Speaker: Matthew)

more detailed study with more data, but at the moment it seems unlikely. It was noted by Bragg that the amount of times this allophone surfaced in the data was "occasional", but is four times in ten hours of speech enough for it to officially be considered an allophone?

1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
[q alibu]	[h alibu]	'deer' ²²	Paul
[qamek ^h]	[hameık ^h]	'on the other side of the lake'	Paul
[mał q ətk ^h]	[mał h ətk ^h]	'he softens it up'	Matthew
[qazewoχ]	[hazewo]	'iron'	Matthew
[q alibudi]	[h alibudi]	'shovel'	Paul
[taqtəm]	[ta h təm]	'I strike it'	Matthew
[oqwat]	[ohwat]	'north'	Matthew

Table 11: Consonant Alternations [q]/[h]

In addition to the lack of voiced uvular plosives in Matthew's data, there was another sound that caught my attention. There were times when the vowels would sound like they were abruptly cut off before another vowel was pronounced – see Figure 8 for an example. This led me to believe that there was an additional allophone that wasn't originally noticed by Bragg, a glottal plosive [?]. The glottal plosive occurred in Matthew's data nearly 100 separate times and it surfaced most commonly in intervocalic positions, but could also surface in V_C environments, specifically when the following consonant was /m/, /p/, /t/, or /w/. Because of the limited places this consonant surfaces during word pronunciations, I do not consider it to be an underlying phoneme but rather an allophone of the voiceless uvular plosive.

²² The word Paul pronounces when asked for the word 'deer' is actually the word for 'caribou'



Figure 9: Pronunciation of 'hardwood' (Speaker: Matthew)

Due to the wide array of allophones, it is not surprising that there was a large amount of consonant alternations occurring across multiple pronunciations of the same word. Table 12 lists some of the alternations seen throughout Matthew's data.

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition
	[paqadə]	[pa?adə]	'I bite it'
q ~ r	[wenaqajet]	[wena?ajıt]	'jump'
<i>a u</i>	[o q wat]	[oxwat]	'north'
q~χ	[əs q ʊ]	[əsχuχ]	'leech'
$q \sim \gamma$	[a q əwadʒijah]	[aɣəwadʒija]	'alright'
C N	[maGatpaj]	[mayatpaj]	'I have a big head'
$G \sim \gamma$	[taGəmadzı]]	[ta y əmadʒɪ]	'he strikes him unexpectedly'
1	[məchunamu h]	[muchunamu _{\chi}]	'blue'
$\Pi \sim \chi$	[po h tabaj]	[poxtabaj]	'I start to float'
1. 0	[tʃɔ h ołsi]	[tʃəʔołsi]	'kelp'
11 ~ r	[ina h aņ]	[ina ? an]	'right (direction)'
h	[klə h əndɪtʃ]	[klo y ondit∫]	'gull'
$\Pi \sim \chi$	[udəma h an]	[udəma y an]	'his pipe'
24 N	[paxəm]	[payəm]	'back/spine'
$\chi \sim \chi$	[tabaxən]	[təba y əņ]	'slide'
)	[sa?ewe]	[sayawe]	'stale bread'
r ~ y	[na?anigit]	[nayanigit ^h]	'he scoops'

Table 12: Consonant Alternations: Allophones of [q] (Speaker: Matthew)

For clarity purposes the lists of examples for the underlying phoneme and its allophones have been divided into five separate sections.

Uvular Plosive /q/ Examples:

(85)	[qədaps]	'still water'	(Matthew)
(86)	[q amık ^h]	'on the other side of the river/lake'	(Paul)

(87)	[q alibu]	'deer'	(Paul)			
(88)	[q ən]	'heel'	(Matthew)			
Intervocalic	Intervocalic					
(89)	[wa q an]	'knife'	(Matthew)			
(90)	[pa q adu]	'bite anything'	(Matthew)			
(91)	[to q awegus]	'the fall'	(Matthew)			
First Consona	First Consonant in Cluster					
(92)	[o q wan]	'northern'	(Matthew)			
(93)	[nutoqtes]	'servant girl'	(Matthew)			
(94)	[wa q mek]	'clean'	(Matthew)			
Last Consona	nt in Cluster					
(95)	[m q ozi]	'fingernail'	(Paul)			
(96)	[sɪs q un]	'noses'	(Matthew)			
(97)	[ən²qunk ^h]	'my heel'	(Matthew)			
(98)	[nid31pqadeg1t]	'sparrow'	(Matthew)			

Glottal Fricative [h] Allophone Examples:

(99)	[hento]	'he loses it'	(Paul)
(100)	[hapskuļ]	'rapids'	(Matthew)
(101)	[hepte]	'hut'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(102)	[pɛgizidə h]	'he brings it'	(Paul)

(103)	[wabizigwah]	'Atlantic common murre'	(Matthew)
(104)	[pida h]	'long'	(Paul)
(105)	[pezugwadah]	'I'm chasing him'	(Matthew)
Intervocalic			
(106)	[wa h andejo]	'bone'	(Paul)
(107)	[ka h ahət∫]	'crow'	(Matthew)
(108)	[ta h ən]	'oars'	(Matthew)
(109)	[ka h əmit]	'to stand'	(Matthew)
First Conson	ant in Cluster		
(110)	[wickewejuhtuwit]	'he laughs at it'	(Paul)
(111)	[abahtugowe]	'seabird'	(Matthew)
(112)	[ko h walək]	'I grab it'	(Matthew)
Middle Cons	onant in Cluster		
(113)	[nəw h tagık ^h]	'one dollar'	(Matthew)
(114)	[əp h waw]	'tree bark'	(Matthew)
Last Consona	ant in Cluster		
(115)	[mət h əlnıs]	'wren'	(Matthew)
(116)	[mɪs h unadadʒɪļ]	'he knocks him down'	(Matthew)
(117)	[ən h unebisəŋ]	'string'	(Matthew)
(118)	[məɛ h unamu]	'blue sky'	(Matthew)

Uvular Fricative $[\chi]$ Allophone Examples:

(119)	[χ sine]	'white owl'	(Matthew)
(120)	[<code>xtəlnayan</code>]	'your shoulders'	(Matthew)
(121)	[x kluzu]	'your sons-in-law'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(122)	[nenyadoy]	'he stops it'	(Matthew)
(123)	[kada x]	'eels'	(Matthew)
(124)	[kɛwniga ɣ]	'otters'	(Matthew)
(125)	[alugwija χ]	'it is cloudy'	(Matthew)
Intervocalic			
(126)	[tabaxən]	'slide'	(Matthew)
(127)	[axala negəm owe]	'one and the other'	(Matthew)
(128)	[adugwa x aņ]	'a story'	(Matthew)
First Consona	nt in Cluster		
(129)	[tegwaxtʃitʃkəl]	'short sticks'	(Matthew)
(130)	[sa x ski]	'board'	(Matthew)
(131)	[kəmaxtam]	'your brother-in-law'	(Matthew)
(132)	[maχtεwε sizip]	'black bird'	(Matthew)
Middle Conso	onant in Cluster		
(133)	[lisxdəů]	'to sew it up'	(Matthew)
(134)	[əpxwaw]	'tree bark'	(Matthew)
Last Consonal	nt in Cluster		
(135)	[matxigən]	'scissors (sg)'	(Matthew)
(136)	[apuszaen]	'you lock it'	(Matthew)

(137)	[ənxəzil]	'my fingernails'	(Matthew)
(138)	[wis χ ək ^h]	'bitter'	(Matthew)

Velar Fricative $[\gamma]$ Allophone Examples:

Intervocalic

(139)	[wəntayajık]	'he's quieting down'	(Matthew)
(140)	[pıskadayan]	'chain'	(Matthew)
(141)	[sa y əwe]	'old'	(Matthew)
(142)	[nadə y əwej]	'anything'	(Matthew)

Glottal Plosive [?] Allophone Examples:

Intervocalic

(143)	[sismə ? əņ]	'sugar/sweet'	(Matthew)
(144)	[kida ʔ aņ]	'sharpening stone'	(Matthew)
(145)	[kəna ? abɛm]	'your workers (servants)'	(Matthew)
(146)	[wənta ? e]	'it gets quiet'	(Matthew)
First Conson	ant in Cluster		
(147)	[mad30?tuwigus]	'September'	(Matthew)
(148)	[ebidzo ? wadzı]]	'he plugs him up'	(Matthew)
(149)	[pɔʔtaba]	'tide rising'	(Matthew)
(150)	[ɔ ʔ tegəņ]	'trap'	(Matthew)

3.2.1.4 The Alveolar Fricative

The alveolar fricative in Mi'kmaq is underlyingly voiceless and becomes voiced most frequently in intervocalic positions (this is not always the case, see §3.2.2 for a detailed examination of voicing). This fricative can occur in all environments – word initially, medially, and finally – as well as at the beginning, middle, or end of a consonant cluster. In addition to becoming voiced intervocalically, [s] appears to be in free variation with the voiceless alveolo-palatal fricative [e] and its voiced counterpart [z]. This free variation does not occur often in Matthew's data – 43 times total – but is quite common in Paul's. In fact, the voiceless alveolo-palatal fricative [e] surfaces twice as often in Paul's data than the alveolar fricative [s] does. This difference is an interesting example of interspeaker variation. Paul has a much higher tendency to use [e] instead of [s] whereas Matthew barely uses [e] in his speech. The following table shows examples of words in which [s] or [z] was replaced with [e] or [z] across multiple pronunciations of the same word. The speakers did not give any indication that they realized this change in their speech had occurred.

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
	[kɛskuh]	[ke¢ku]	'to wait'	Paul
	[somwaņ]	[ɕomwaņ]	'water'	Matthew
[s]/[ɕ]	[nusabun]	[nucabun]	'my hair (sg.)'	Mathew
	[wındʒuksnəŋ]	[windʒukɕnəŋ]	'shoe'	Paul
	[tɛpkənusɪt]	[tɛpkənəɕɪt]	'moon'	Paul
	[tʃətʃɪməzi]	[tot∫ɛməzi]	'cherry tree'	Matthew
	[kazigozi]	[kazigozi]	'you're crying'	Paul
[z]/[z]	[adawazu]	[nadawazu]	'trout'	Paul
	[pazalut ^h]	[pazalut]	'he throws him over'	Paul
	[nemdʒazi]	[nɛmdʒazıt]	'he raises him up'	Paul

Table 13: Consonant Alternations $[s]/[\epsilon] [z]/[z]$

Alveolar Fricative /s/ Examples:²³

Word Initial

(151)	[sigogus]	'April'	(Matthew)		
(152)	[sun]	'cranberry'	(Matthew)		
(153)	[senəmk ^h]	'Eastern Canada goose (brant)'	(Matthew)		
(154)	[sibɪt]	'he stops it'	(Matthew)		
Word Final					
(155)	[wabu s]	'arctic hare'	(Matthew)		
(156)	[kəme s]	'fish maggots'	(Matthew)		
(157)	[punamwegus]	'January'	(Matthew)		
(158)	[nɛləmu s]	'my brother-in-law'	(Matthew)		
Intervocalic [s	s]				
(159)	[ləmiga s i]	ʻa room'	(Matthew)		
(160)	[megwesa]	'red ochre'	(Paul)		
(161)	[wabisigwah]	'Atlantic common murre'	(Matthew)		
(162)	[kɛ s adık]	'bright day'	(Matthew)		
Intervocalic [2	Intervocalic [z]				
(163)	[sɪ z ɪp]	'bird'	(Matthew)		

23 Although the plural morpheme in Mi'kmaq is not an [-s] as it is in English, there were a couple instances in which both Matthew and Paul used [-s] as the plural morpheme consistently across multiple pronunciations of the same word. For example, when Paul was asked for the word 'legs' he took the singular form [mkadʒigən] and added an [s] to the end [mkadʒigəns]. He pronounced this word five times and each time the plural morpheme was an [s] (there was one pronunciation where it was a [z] and one where it was an [e]). Matthew did the same with the word for 'boys'. He pronounced the singular form as [əlbadu] and consistently pronounced the plural form with [s] at the end [əlbadus] three separate times. Based on the rarity of this occurrence in the data I hypothesize that these were moments of language mixing in which the Mi'kmaq plural morpheme was replaced with the English plural morpheme [-s].

(164)	[mqo z ik]	'fingernails'	(Paul)
(165)	[pegizidə]	'he brought it'	(Matthew)
First Conson	ant in Cluster		
(166)	[pu s kən]	'chest'	(Matthew)
(167)	[sɪ s panigɪnəməl̯]	'his soap'	(Matthew)
(168)	[wi s hək ^h]	'bitter'	(Matthew)
(169)	[istugwan]	'half an animal'	(Matthew)
Middle Cons	sonant in Cluster		
(170)	[sax s ki]	'board'	(Matthew)
(171)	[amskwis]	'begin'	(Matthew)
(172)	[ni nəmuk s ŋ²kʰ]	'my shoes'	(Matthew)
Last Conson	ant in Cluster		
(173)	[mudʒidʒmɪna次si]	'ash tree'	(Matthew)
(174)	[puktewsit]	'North American redstart'	(Matthew)
(175)	[alazədmɛl s ɛw]	'he prays for it'	(Matthew)

3.2.1.5 The Affricate

The affricate [tʃ] occurs in all environments at least once. It surfaces word initially, medially, and finally, but is not common in the middle of consonant clusters. This consonant becomes voiced most often in intervocalic environments. Throughout the data there are moments when the affricate alternates with other consonants during multiple pronunciations of the same word, but these occurrences did not happen often enough to consider the affricate to be in free variation with these other consonants. The

following table shows some examples of consonants alternating with the affricate, both voiceless and voiced.

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
[tʃ] ~ [t]	[puwadzidɛtʃkʰ]	[puwadzidɛtkʰ]	'he hates it'	Paul
[tʃ] ~ [ɕ]	[aptʃitʃmutʃ]	[əptʃitʃkəmuɛ]	'duck'	Matthew
[tʃ] ~ [s]	[tʃibu]	[sibu]	'river'	Matthew
[dʒ] ~ [j]	[abugonadʒɪt]	[abugonajıt]	'February'	Matthew
$[d3] \sim [z]$	[wɪdʒɪgɪmpk ^h]	[wizigImpk ^h]	'our brother'	Matthew
$[d3] \sim [z]$	[mɪdʒigalət]	[mɛzigabut]	'he smears him up'	Paul
[dʒ] ~ [z]	[ɛdʒigawɛn]	[kɛzigawɛŋ]	'you make a lot of noise'	Matthew
$[d3] \sim [d]$	[nadʒibuktanıtʃ]	[nadibuktanıt∫]	'bat (the animal)'	Matthew

Table 14: Consonant Alternations with the Affricate [t/]/[d3]

Palato-Alveolar Affricate [tʃ] Examples:

Word Initial

(176)	[tʃ ikwaļ]	'you bring him'	(Matthew)
(177)	[tʃ ibɨsk ^h]	'root'	(Matthew)
(178)	[tʃ idun]	'hold him up (so he won't fall)'	(Matthew)
(179)	[tʃ ajudi t∫ajwali]	'chewing tobacco'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(180)	[kil əki tʃ]	'your mother'	(Matthew)
(181)	[mwinɪ tʃ]	'young bear'	(Matthew)
(182)	[mɛnadʒɪ tʃ]	'thin ice'	(Matthew)
(183)	[klogwɪ tʃ]	'star'	(Matthew)

Intervocalic [tʃ]

(184)	[widʒə tʃ ɛməzi]	'cherry tree'	(Matthew)
(185)	[ma tʃ əҳtılıgıņ]	'arrows'	(Matthew)
Intervocalic	[dʒ]		
(186)	[pi d3 ozədi]	'button'	(Paul)
(187)	[kləmwɛ dʒ uwaskʰ]	'coal'	(Paul)
(188)	[kil wɪ dʒ ijo]	'you go with him'	(Matthew)
(189)	[abowa d3 1t]	'woodpecker'	(Matthew)
First Conson	ant in Cluster		
(190)	[kɪ tʃ ka]	'talk a little bit'	(Matthew)
(191)	[tʃibudʒi tʃ k ^h]	'little rivers'	(Matthew)
(192)	[məni tʃ kəļ]	'berries'	(Matthew)
Middle Cons	onant in Cluster		
(193)	[m tʃ kɛktʃəl²koj] ²⁴	'under your arms'	(Matthew)
Last Consona	ant in Cluster		
(194)	[1l1k tʃ uwah]	'a shortcut through the woods'	(Matthew)
(195)	[nɛm tʃ azi]	'he raises himself up'	(Paul)
(196)	[əm²kwan tʃ itʃ]	'spoon'	(Matthew)
(197)	[tʃip tʃ awetʃ]	'robin'	(Matthew)

3.2.1.6 The Nasals

The nasals [n] and [m] and lateral alveolar approximant [l] in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq behave in a similar way. They occur in all environments – word initially, medially, and finally – and can surface in

²⁴ This is the only occurrence of the affricate occurring in a C_C environment. This is also the only time the word for 'under your arms' is pronounced in the data. Due to the limits of the data it's impossible to know if this C_C environment can occur more often or if this one pronunciation is not complete or 'correct'

any position in a consonant cluster, although it should be noted that they rarely occur in C_C environments in Matthew's data and not at all in Paul's. These consonants have a tendency to become devoiced in word final positions as well as some word initial consonant clusters (to be discussed further in §3.2.2). They sometimes become syllabic due to syllable weight constraints²⁵, specifically when the preceding syllable is closed and there is no following vowel to take on the remaining consonants in the word. Additionally, when sonorant consonants occur word medially and are immediately followed by a plosive, this environment commonly triggers a glottal catch between the two consonants – written as [?] (this is discussed in further detail in §3.2.3).

Alveolar Nasal [n] Examples:

Word Initial

(198)	[n ɪtʃku]	'eyebrow'	(Paul)
(199)	[n azado]	'he puts him/it on'	(Paul)
(200)	[n ībənə?ən]	'hardwood'	(Matthew)
(201)	[n utk ^h]	'he hears it'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(202)	[mkadʒigə n]	'leg'	(Paul)
(203)	[wiekima n]	'partridge berry'	(Paul)
(204)	[məlgɪ n]	'he holds onto him'	(Matthew)
Intervocalic			
(205)	[u n udʒi]	'hand'	(Matthew)
(206)	[kegi n amasıt]	'he learns'	(Matthew)

25 According to Hewson (1986) the maximum weight of a syllable can be CVCC (or CVVC when the vowel is long). Therefore, if the preceding syllable already has its two coda consonants and there are no remaining vowels in the word, the nasals or lateral liquid will become syllabic in order to prevent extra heavy syllables from forming.

(207)	[nu n ɪt]	'he suckles'	(Matthew)
(208)	[iganazıt]	'he's going ahead'	(Matthew)
First Consona	ant in Cluster		
(209)	[mo n də]	'bag'	(Paul)
(210)	[mɪ n tʃazɪt]	'he gets up'	(Matthew)
(211)	[winpok ^h]	'liquid'	(Paul)
(212)	[pɛgisɪ n ²kʰ]	'he arrives'	(Matthew)
Middle Conso	onant in Cluster		
(213)	[udaməs n k ^h]	'let across (a lot of people)'	(Matthew)
(214)	[newted3tt nkwts] ²⁶	'one son'	(Matthew)
Last Consona	int in Cluster		
(215)	[əl n u]	'Mi'kmaq'	(Paul)
(216)	[wɪndʒuks n əņ]	'shoe'	(Paul)
(217)	[mugezigik n u]	'not sharp'	(Matthew)
(218)	[oqwat n]	'northern'	(Matthew)
Syllabic			
(219)	[pid ņ]	'hand'	(Matthew)
(220)	[kil [?] kəmuks ņ [?] kʰ]	'your shoes'	(Matthew)
(221)	[kwid ņ]	'canoe'	(Matthew)

Bilabial Nasal [m] Examples:

	(222)	[m 1bido]	'cheek'	(Paul)
26	This does create th	e C_C environment, l	but it's across a word boundary.	

(223)	[m ɛmɛlɛ]	'kind of hungry'	(Matthew)
(224)	[matedzuwe]	'hammer'	(Paul)
(225)	[m ugɪdʒɪdu]	'I don't know'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(226)	[wigwam]	'house'	(Matthew)
(227)	[nin pulodu m]	'I ask for it'	(Matthew)
(228)	[nəmaxta m]	'my brother-in-law'	(Matthew)
Intervocalic			
(229)	[wine m adʒə]	'he curses at it'	(Paul)
(230)	[ala m ut]	'he looks after it'	(Paul)
(231)	[a m udlɛwe]	'watch'	(Paul)
(232)	[tɛ m agito]	'he saws it'	(Paul)
First Consona	nt in Cluster		
(233)	[ɛgɪna m we]	'he asks for it'	(Paul)
(234)	[m1 m gwalad3i]	'he hides them'	(Matthew)
(235)	[uka m laməņ]	'his heart'	(Matthew)
Last Consona	nt in Cluster		
(236)	[wıg m adʒıl]	'her husband'	(Matthew)
(237)	[wɛgud m aj]	'I ask for it'	(Matthew)
(238)	[əlis m azi]	'I lie down'	(Matthew)
Syllabic			
(239)	[aq m k ^h]	'snowshoes'	(Matthew)
(240)	[m shənamu]	'blue sky'	(Matthew)

(241) $[1md_3az_{1n}]^{27}$

'if you get up'

(Matthew)

3.2.1.7 The Lateral Approximant

The lateral approximant behaves almost identically to the nasals with the exception that there are times when the lateral approximant becomes devoiced and fricativized [4] (this voicing is examined in closer detail in §3.2.2.5). For example the word for 'you make him slide' was pronounced multiple times by Matthew, in one pronunciation the lateral became devoiced [nɛziowadə]] and in a second pronunciation the lateral became a voiceless fricative [nɛɛijowadɪ4]. This fricative does not show up in the data often (less than 50 times in Matthew's data and not at all in Paul's), but appears to be in free variation with [1].

The lateral approximant is also used as a morpheme to indicate plurality on inanimate nouns. The following table compares singular and plural nouns that are pronounced with the inanimate plural morpheme suffix by Matthew and Paul. Once again, the animacy of each noun was gathered from the Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary (Haberlin, Williams & Ziegler 1997). There are three things to note about this morpheme. First, this morpheme has the potential to become voiceless because word final devoicing tends to occur on the nasals and lateral liquid, but this does not appear to happen often with this suffix. Second, when this morpheme attaches to a word that ends with a consonant it is possible that a vowel will be epenthesized to break up the consonant cluster, however, this doesn't always appear to be the case for all words that end in consonants. This additional vowel in the morpheme can be seen below with the words for 'root', 'house', and 'berry', but does not occur in the words for 'egg' and 'cranberry' even though the root of the word ends in a consonant. Third, there are a few instances of words that are categorized by the online dictionary as being animate, but are pronounced with an inanimate plural morpheme in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq.

²⁷ This word is pronounced a total of three times, twice with this pronunciation and once with additional vowels that break up the consonant cluster [əlɪmdʒazɪn]

 Table 15: [-l] Inanimate Plural Morpheme

Definition Singular		Plural	Animacy (from Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary)	Speaker
'berry'	[mənitʃkʰ]	[munitʃkəl]	Inanimate	Matthew
'egg'	[waw]	[waw]]	Inanimate	Matthew
'fingernail'	[ənxəzi]	[ənxəzil]	Animate	Matthew
'cranberry'	[sun]	[sun1]	Inanimate	Matthew
'tooth'	[nibit]	[nibid]]	Inanimate	Paul
'river'	[sibu]	[sibul]	Inanimate	Matthew
'root'	[tʃibɨsk ^h]	[tʃibɨskəl]	Inanimate	Matthew
'house'	[windʒigwəm]	[wındʒigwəməl]	Inanimate	Matthew
'shovel'	[halibudi]	[halibudi]]	Inanimate	Matthew
'path'	[awti]	[awtil]	Inanimate	Matthew
'alder'	[təpsi]	[təpsil]	Animate	Matthew

One noun that is especially interesting is 'fingernail'. When pluralized, Matthew attaches the inanimate plural morpheme [-l] to this word while Paul attaches the animate plural morpheme [-k^h]. If we look at the Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary, the noun is classified as animate and is pronounced with a final [l] in the singular form, meaning it is most likely part of the root of the word. This final [l] could have been reanalyzed by Matthew as the inanimate plural morpheme, which would explain why he pronounces the singular 'fingernail' as [ənhəzi]. What's interesting is that Paul also drops the final consonant when he pronounces the word for 'fingernail', but when pluralized Paul adds the animate morpheme [mqozik]. This was the only noun in which Matthew and Paul disagreed on which plural morpheme to add.

Alveolar Lateral Approximant [1] Examples:

(242)	[lɛmt∫azıt]	'he get's up'	(Matthew)					
(243)	[ləmudʒɪtʃ]	'puppy'	(Matthew)					
(244)	[labits] ²⁸	'rabbit'	(Matthew)					
(245)	[lame]	'under'	(Matthew)					
Word Final								
(246)	[igadul]	'I bet you'	(Matthew)					
(247)	[tʃigwal]	'you bring him'	(Matthew)					
(248)	[mɛskil]	'you're big'	(Matthew)					
(249)	[wɪntʃigəļ]	'bad spots'	(Matthew)					
Intervocalic								
(250)	[nɛgəm pɛgizulut]	'he brings him'	(Matthew)					
(251)	[Imgwaladzi]	'he hides them'	(Matthew)					
(252)	[kɛzi gɛluzık]	'it is very pretty'	(Matthew)					
(253)	[aluk ^h]	'cloud'	(Matthew)					
First Consona	ant in Cluster							
(254)	[ɛɕkəmalkʰ]	'he waits for him'	(Matthew)					
(255)	[məthə l nıs]	'thrushes'	(Matthew)					
(256)	[məlkənadzi]	'he holds on to a lot of people'	(Matthew)					
(257)	[ulde]	'in good shape'	(Matthew)					
Middle Consonant in Cluster								

(258)	[etldugəli] ²⁹	'hunting grounds'	(Matthew)
(200)	lenaugen	nunning grounds	(1)Iutille v

28 In the recording the interviewer asks if this word is a loanword from English <rabbit>. Matthew agrees it's a loanword, but he insists it's from the French word <lapin>. In Listuguj Mi'kmaq the word for rabbit is pronounced [wabus]. The word [wabus] is used later by Matthew when asked to pronounce the word for 'arctic hare'. There is no instance of Paul saying the word for rabbit.

29 This is the one and only example of [1] occurring in a C_C environment in Matthew's data

Last Consonant in Cluster

(259)	[kicado tləgwɛŋ]	'he makes it work'	(Matthew)
(260)	[plɛku]	'nail'	(Paul)
(261)	[mkludɛw]	'smoke rising'	(Matthew)
(262)	[kamlami]	'I breathe'	(Matthew)
Syllabic			
(263)	[widzewad]]	'he goes with him'	(Matthew)
(264)	[uktļmayan]	'his shoulders'	(Matthew)
(265)	[kigadʒiwadļ]	'he annoys him'	(Matthew)

3.2.1.8 The Glides

The glides /w/ and /j/ can occur in every environment except between consonants and /j/ specifically does not occur word initially³⁰. There are also no occurrences of /w/ word finally or /j/ at the end of consonant clusters (C_V) in Paul's data specifically.

Glide [w] Examples:

Word Initial

(266)	[wojzie]	'animal'	(Paul)
(267)	[winpok ^h]	'liquid'	(Paul)
(268)	[wigadigıņ]	'book'	(Matthew)
(269)	[wilnəgwan]	'blade'	(Matthew)

Word Final

30 There are three instances total in which [j] occurs word initially, but based on multiple pronunciations of the same word it does not appear that the glide is meant to be there. For example, the word for 'you're doing good' is pronounced [jaladuwadl] once while the two other times it's pronounced [welaladʒ1l] and [welalawadʒ1l].

(270)	[kadew]	'eel'	(Matthew)
(271)	[klidew]	'raspberry'	(Matthew)
(272)	[əpwa w]	'tree bark'	(Matthew)
Intervocalic			
(273)	[wickewejuhtuwit]	'he laughs at it'	(Paul)
(274)	[namudlɛwe]	'watch'	(Paul)
(275)	[nadəwemɪduwɛh]	'a bad thing'	(Matthew)
(276)	[miktʃagowɪtʃ]	'bluejay'	(Matthew)
First Consona	int in Cluster		
(277)	[tʃawmal]	'boil'	(Paul)
(278)	[mijowtʃitʃ]	'kitten'	(Matthew)
(279)	[kɛwnık]	'otter'	(Matthew)
Last Consona	nt in Cluster		
(280)	[kaeckwicdic]	'fall to pieces'	(Paul)
(281)	[ɛgɪnamwe]	'he asks for it'	(Paul)
(282)	[welmuz w al]	'(any) woman's brother-in-law'	(Matthew)
(283)	[əpk w iman]	'blueberry'	(Matthew)

Glide [j] Examples:

Word Final

(284)	[puda j]	'bottle'	(Matthew)
(285)	[kɪdəma j]	'I smoke'	(Matthew)
(286)	[negabigwa j]	'I am blind'	(Matthew)

(287)	[kıktʃəlko j]	'under arms'	(Matthew)						
Intervocalic									
(288)	[wahandejo]	'bone'	(Paul)						
(289)	[kati j e]	'thigh/leg'	(Paul)						
(290)	[podalijɛwe]	'basket'	(Matthew)						
(291)	[ukle j awıņ]	'you belong here'	(Matthew)						
First Consona	ant in Cluster								
(292)	[nanajgəł]	'five dollars'	(Matthew)						
(293)	[sətkowə j nimidə]	'he sees everything'	(Matthew)						
(294)	[kɛdajwɪmpkʰ]	'you frighten me'	(Matthew)						
Last Consona	Last Consonant in Cluster								
(295)	[kjutowazıt] ³¹	'he walks around'	(Matthew)						

3.2.2 Voicing

Due to the diverse amount of topics surrounding consonant voicing in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq, this section has been further broken down into four subsections. The first (§3.2.2.1) takes a closer look at intervocalic voicing and how this type of voicing does not occur as often as originally thought. Second, §3.2.2.2 examines consonant voicing occurring outside of the intervocalic environment such as word initially, word finally, and among consonant clusters. The third section (§3.2.2.3) diverges slightly to discuss an additional underlying phoneme in the data, the labialized velar plosive /k^w/. Section §3.2.2.4 examines other possibilities for consonant voicing seen in the data. And finally in §3.2.2.5 the devoicing of the nasals and lateral liquid is examined and discussed.

³¹ This is the only consistent pronunciation in which [j] occurs in at the end of a consonant cluster.

3.2.2.1 Intervocalic Voicing

It is generally agreed that consonants in Mi'kmaq (Hewson 1980; Fidelholtz 1976), as well as other Algonquian languages (Drapeau 2014; Wolfart 1973), are underlyingly voiceless and become voiced in intervocalic positions, but based on my re-analysis of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq this generalization does not appear to hold true in actual speech. The most common environment voiced consonants surface in is intervocalic, but there was also a noticeable amount of voiceless consonants occurring in that same environment seemingly not affected by this voicing rule.

The following graph (Figure 10) shows the percentage of voiceless consonants appearing in intervocalic positions in the data³². With Matthew (blue) we can see that the plosives are pronounced without voicing approximately 8% of the time – [p] 8.3%, [t] 8.5%, and [k] 8.8%. This percentage reaches almost 30% (28.4%) with the voiceless fricative [s]³³. Finally, the lowest percent of voiceless consonants in intervocalic positions can be seen with the affricate [tf] surfacing less than 5% (4.6%) of the time.

The percentage of intervocalic voicelessness in Paul's data (orange), with the exception of [s], are more than double the percentages seen in Matthew's data. The bilabial and alveolar plosives in intervocalic environments remain voiceless around 20% of the time (20% and 21.9% respectively) while the velar plosive remains voiceless only 16% of the time. Interestingly, the average percent of [s] occurring in intervocalic environments in Paul's data is only one percent higher than Matthew's at

³² The plosive [q] was excluded from this graph due to the amount of allophonic variation occurring when it is in intervocalic position.

³³ The voiceless fricative [s] is in free variation with the voiceless alveolar-palatal fricative [c]. Therefore, the times [c] was found in intervocalic position was also included in the totals. [c] does not surface often in Matthew's data and does not have a huge effect on the percentage of [s] occurring in intervocalic positions. In fact, the percentage drops slightly from 28.8% to 28.4% when [c] is included. When [c] (or [z] on the voiced counterpart) is removed the stats are as follows: 155 ([s] in intervocalic position), 383 ([z] in intervocalic position), 538 (total).

29.5%. Finally, the affricate remains voiceless roughly 20% (19.2%) of the time when it occurs in intervocalic environments.



Percent of Intervocalic Consonants Surfacing as Voiceless

Figure 10: Percent of Intervocalic Consonants Surfacing as Voiceless

It is not surprising that out of all the voiceless consonants the alveolar fricative [s] has the highest percentage of voicelessness in intervocalic environments. When a plosive is pronounced its sound is instantaneous, but with fricatives the sound can be prolonged as long as the speaker has enough breath. The average duration of [s] and [z] were compared in both Matthew and Paul's data. For Matthew the average length of time the voiceless fricative [s] was pronounced was 140 milliseconds. This time is almost cut in half when it becomes voiced, the average being around 85 milliseconds for [z]. The shorter consonant duration doesn't allow the speaker much time to spread the glottis before it has to vibrate again for the next vowel. With Paul, on the other hand, the average

duration of these two fricatives are much closer to each other than Matthew's were. The duration of [s] was around 132 milliseconds while [z] was 111 milliseconds. If we include the averages for the alveolo-palatal fricatives³⁴ with [s] and [z] the numbers become slightly farther apart with the [s] average becoming 133 milliseconds and [z] becoming 104 milliseconds, but these averages are still much closer than Matthew's.

In terms of the percentage differences between Matthew and Paul's datasets, there are a couple possibilities to explore. Firstly, it is important to remember that Matthew's data was taken from nine different recordings which equal 8.73 hours of audio whereas Paul's data was taken from three separate recordings which equal 1.23 hours of audio. And although both men were asked to pronounce similar words such as nouns and small sentences – specifically short sentences containing a subject and object, for example 'I push it' compared with 'you push it' and 'he pushes it' – this does not mean their word lists were exactly the same. The differences in the words being asked will affect the number of intervocalic voiceless consonants surfacing in the data. In this case it's entirely possible that Paul was asked more often than Matthew in a shorter amount of time for words which contained VCV environments. This higher occurrence of VCV environments paired with a small data set could easily explain the higher percentages seen in Paul's table.

Another factor that could explain the difference in the averages between Paul and Matthew is inter-speaker variation. Although both men grew up in the same environment it is possible for there to be slight divergences in their speaking habits and patterns. The clearest example of divergence in Paul's speaking pattern is the high frequency of free variation occurring with his fricatives, so much so that the alveolo-palatal fricative [c] is used more often in his speech than [s].

³⁴ On their own the average duration of [6] was 133 milliseconds and [z] was 96 milliseconds

3.2.2.2 Voicing Outside of the Intervocalic Environment

Throughout the data, there were consonants that were becoming voiced in places that were not predicted by the original voicing generalization. This voicing was noticed by Bragg during his analysis of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq in 1976, but he stated that consonants that became voiced outside of intervocalic environments were "not frequent" and could be "explained by other phonetic factors" (Bragg 1976: 8). He provided four possible explanations for voicing outside of intervocalic environments: incontiguous assimilation, long vowels, long consonants (to be discussed further in §3.2.4), and borrowing. Additionally, he stated that in situations when multiple Mi'kmaq words were pronounced in a continuous stream of speech and the second word began with a consonant, that consonant could become voiced if the preceding word ended in a vowel and the sound immediately following the consonant was also a vowel. This would create the VCV environment that would trigger voicing in the consonant regardless of word boundaries.

Bragg used incontiguous assimilation, or long distance assimilation, to explain both word initial and word final consonant voicing occurrences in his data. He proposed that intervocalic consonants could spread their voicing to the beginning or end of the word, causing those consonants to become voiced as well. This can be seen in Bragg's transcription of the Mi'kmaq word for rabbit /papit/ which is pronounced [babt]. There are several issues with this proposal. Firstly, why doesn't the final consonant in the word /papit/ become voiced as well? Bragg provides other examples showing long distance assimilation occurring word finally, for example the Mi'kmaq word for 'he sleeps' /nepat/ becoming [nebad], so why doesn't this rule apply to multiple voiceless consonants? In the end Bragg acknowledged that "assimilation of this kind must be viewed as a tendency [...] rather than a rule" (Bragg 1976: 9) due to exceptions he found in his data. A second explanation provided by Bragg was that long vowels were able to influence the voicing of word final consonants. For example, the word for eel /ka:t/ becomes [ka:d]. Due to the focus of this thesis being primarily on the consonants, I was not able to confirm or deny whether or not long vowels were affecting the voicing of the plosives that immediately followed them.

The final reason Bragg provides for the voicing of consonants outside of intervocalic environments was due to word borrowing from other languages. He provided a single example for the word 'government' (borrowed from English³⁵) being pronounced [gubəlnəwəl]³⁶ in Mi'kmaq. While this explanation is possible, there was not a lot of examples in the data to support this.

The following graph (Figure 11) shows the percentage of voiced consonants surfacing outside of intervocalic environments – for a more in depth examination of each environment there are two additional tables listed after the graph for each speaker (Tables 16 and 17). Interestingly, although Bragg said that voiced consonants occurring outside of intervocalic environments was not frequent, the percentages in these tables are even higher than the previous graph that examined voiceless consonants appearing in intervocalic environments (with the exception of the [z]/[z] percentages being much lower than the percentages for [s]).

For Matthew (blue) the plosives occur outside of intervocalic environments at least 10% of the time with the lowest plosive [b] being 11% and the highest plosive [g] reaching 31.8% (this percentage is also the highest overall for Matthew). The percentage for [z] (data from the allophone [z] are also included with this percentage) on the other hand is significantly lower than the others, only surfacing outside of intervocalic environments 3.3% of the time. Finally, the voiced affricate [d3] appears outside of intervocalic environments 11.4% of the time.

³⁵ Based on the way this word is pronounced in Mi'kmaq it is more likely that this word is borrowed from the French word <gouverneur>.

³⁶ I was able to review the pronunciation of 'government' in my re-analysis. This word was pronounced a total of two times, once with a voiceless velar plosive word initially and a second time with a voiced velar plosive word initially. The voicing for this word was not consistent across multiple pronunciations.

Once again, all of the percentages from Paul's data (orange) are higher than the percentages in Matthew's, but this time the numbers are closer together. As with Matthew's data, Paul's highest percent of voiced consonants occurring outside of the intervocalic environment is with the plosive [g] at 39.7% and his lowest plosive [b] at 15.7%. The voiced fricative [z/z] remains the lowest percentage of all of Paul's data, but is still almost 10% higher than Matthew's at 13.7%. The voiced affricate surfaces outside of intervocalic environments 13.7% of the time.



Percent of Non-Intervocalic Consonants Surfacing as Voiced

Figure 11: Percent of Non-Intervocalic Consonants Surfacing as Voiced

Consonants	#_	_#	C_C	C_V	V_C	Total (vcd C outside of V_V environments)	Total (vcd C in all environments)	Percent of vcd C outside of V_V environment
[b]	12	1	0	25	6	44	385	11.4%
[d]	7	10	1	58	89	165	839	19.6%
[g]	7	22	29	22	241	321	1008	31.8%
[z]/[ʑ]	1	1	0	5	7	14	421	3.3%
[dʒ]	15	6	0	27	10	58	507	11.4%

Table 16: Voiced Consonants Outside of Intervocalic Environments (Speaker: Matthew)

Table 17: Voiced Consonants Outside of Intervocalic Environments (Speaker: Paul)

Consonants	#_	_#	C_C	C_V	V_C	Total (vcd C	Total (vcd C in all	Percent of vcd C
						outside of V_V	environments)	outside of V_V
						environment)		environments
[b]	2	0	0	3	4	9	57	15.7%
[d]	0	0	0	8	8	16	105	15.2%
[g]	1	1	0	0	29	31	78	39.7%
[z]/[ʑ]	0	1	0	7	0	8	58	13.7%
[dʒ]	0	0	0	11	0	11	32	34.3%

3.2.2.3 The Debate Surrounding [gw]

In the few papers that have been written discussing the consonant inventory of Mi'kmaq there is only one that proposes the possibility of the existence of a labialized velar plosive /k^w/ in addition to the velar plosive /k/. This additional phoneme was first mentioned by Stephanie Inglis in her 1986 MA thesis about Mi'kmaq word formation, which focused on the Mi'kmaq spoken in Nova Scotia. Within that paper there was a brief mention of the consonant inventory. The plosives listed in the consonant inventory were exactly the same as Bragg's with two exceptions, Inglis stated that "the Mi'kmaq

phonological system also contains two lip-rounded obstruents, /kw/ and /qw/" and indicated that "these two phonemes contrast with /k + w/ and /q + w/" (Inglis 1986: 24). Unfortunately, she did not list any specific examples to demonstrate the difference between a word containing /kw/ versus a word containing a /k+w/.

Based on the results from Figure 11, the majority of the environments in which the underlying voiceless velar plosive /k/ becomes voiced [g] outside of an intervocalic position is when it is immediately followed by the glide [w]. If we removed all V_C environments in which the following consonant was the glide [w] the number of occurrences of non-intervocalic [g] in the data would drop drastically from 241 to 11 for Matthew and from 29 to 2 for Paul. This removal would severely affect the total percentage of voiced consonants occurring outside of the intervocalic environment for both men. Matthew's percentage would fall from 31.8% to 11.6% and Paul's would fall from 39.7% to 7.8%. The drastic changes in the percentages in combination with the claim made by Inglis strongly support the idea that there is an additional underlying phoneme in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq, the labialized velar plosive /k^w/ that becomes voiced in intervocalic environments.

In order to determine whether or not there was an additional labialized plosive in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq the number of voiced and voiceless consonants occurring immediately before the glide [w] were collected and compared. If consonants that surface before [w] are roughly evenly distributed in place of articulation, then it is more likely that the glides are underlyingly vowels³⁷, which would explain the voicing of the velar plosive. However, if the majority of the results favour the velar plosives before the glide then [g+w] is more likely to be a single underlying labialized plosive /k^w/. The following graph shows that the overwhelming majority of the time the glide [w] is preceded by a velar plosive and that 56.7% of the time the plosive will surface as voiced.

³⁷ The theory that the glides /w/ and /j/ were underlyingly the vowels /u/ and /i/ was discussed by both Fidelholtz (1968) and Hewson (1985). This could explain the voicing of the velar plosive in V_w environments because underlyingly those environments would be intervocalic.


Voiced and Voiceless Consonants Preceding [w]

Speaker: Matthew Jeddore

Figure 12: Voiced and Voiceless Consonants Preceding [w]

Although this graph strongly supports the idea that there is a labialized /k^{w/} in the phonological inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq, it is still difficult to discern when a word is a labialized velar plosive /k^{w/} followed by a vowel or a velar plosive and glide /k + w/ followed by a vowel. Currently, the only indicator of an underlying labialized velar is when there is a voiced velar plosive preceding a glide-vowel sequence in the data, but what about words where this voicing doesn't occur? For example, the word for 'he brings him' is pronounced [wɪtʃkwaladə]]. It is consistently pronounced with a voiceless velar plosive followed by a glide (pronounced 3 times total). But the pronunciation of 'you bring him' is sometimes pronounced [tʃikwal] (3 times total) and other times pronounced [tʃigwal] (5 times total). If we only looked at the evidence from the pronunciation of 'he brings him' I would be inclined to say that it is underlyingly a velar plosive followed by a glide /k + w/, but when you include

the information from 'you bring him' I'm inclined to say that its underlyingly a labialized velar plosive /k^w/. Because of this uncertainty I have not adjusted the words in my dataset to include [k^w] or [g^w] in my transcriptions, although I do recognize their existence in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq phonology. A closer examination of words containing the velar plosive and glide sequences is needed before any conclusions can be made about the phonemic transcriptions.

3.2.2.4 Other Voicing Explanations

Most of the consonant voicing seen in the data can be explained in various ways. One of the ways a consonant becomes voiced in word initial position is due to the fact that across multiple pronunciations of the same word, the initial syllable is dropped in one or more of the pronunciations, making a consonant that was in an intervocalic environment suddenly appear as if it is in a word initial environment. For example in Matthew's first pronunciation of the word [abədʒazıt] meaning 'it (animate) comes back' the initial vowel is dropped and pronounced as [bədʒazɪt], making it appear as if the initial consonant is becoming voiced for no reason – see examples (296) to (299).

There is a voicing phenomenon in Blackfoot, an Algonquian language spoken in southern Alberta and Montana, that may be able to shed light on the voicing occurring in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq. There is a tendency in Blackfoot for word final vowels to become devoiced, but the speaker's vocal tract still articulates these 'soundless' vowels even though there is no audible pronunciation of them (Bliss & Gick 2009; Prins 2019). Although there is no way to outright confirm that something similar is occurring with these word initial vowels in Mi'kmaq, it is entirely possible that these vowels are still being articulated by the vocal tract and therefore phonologically influencing the voicing of the following plosive.

Speaker: Matthew Jeddore

(296)	[igadadinɪtʃ] ³⁸ vs [gadadinɪtʃ]	'we bet each other'
(297)	[əbuktʃɪkʰ] vs [buktʃɪkʰ]	'soon'
(298)	[ebazi] vs [basi]	'I sit'
(299)	[izigwis] vs [zigwis]	'grow(?)'

The voicing of word initial consonants could also occur across word boundaries, as noted by Bragg in his thesis. For example, when Matthew pronounces 'it is very pretty' [kezi geluzik] the initial consonant of the second word is in an intervocalic environment which triggers voicing. The interesting thing about voicing due to continuous speech was the fact that voicing could occur on the initial consonant of a Mi'kmaq word regardless if the immediate preceding word was in English or in Mi'kmaq. As long as the continuous speech ensured that the vocal folds continued vibrating, the initial consonant on the Mi'kmaq word would surface as voiced. This voicing due to continuous speech could also affect word final consonants in the same way. Additionally, if there was a false start at the beginning of the word and the speaker immediately repeated the complete word there was a possibility that the completed word would now have a voiced consonant at the beginning because the false start had the potential to generate a VCV environment. For example, when Matthew tried to pronounce the Mi'kmaq word for 'I know it' he began with a false start before saying [gidʒido], but when listening to the false start the initial consonant is clearly pronounced as the voiceless velar plosive [k]. The false start created a VCV environment that allowed the initial voiceless plosive [k] to surface as voiced [g] in the complete pronunciation.

³⁸ The pronunciation of this word with the initial vowel is not actually produced in Matthew's data, but every other variation of in which the verb is 'to bet' (I bet you, you're going to bet, etc) there is always an [i] at the beginning of the word. When the subjects of the verb change it is the ending morphology that changes, not the beginning of the word.

Another factor that explains some of the word medial consonant voicing seen in Matthew's data is the syllabification of [n], [m], and [l]. The syllabification of the sonorant consonants did not happen often, but when they did it usually, affected the voicing of consonants that were directly between the syllabic consonant and a vowel. The overwhelming majority of the time that the alveolar consonants [n] and [l]³⁹ became syllabic was when they were preceded by another alveolar sound⁴⁰. Rather than completely opening the mouth again to allow for the pronunciation of a vowel between the two alveolar sounds, the speaker simplified the pronunciation by making the second consonant syllabic. Although it is hard to determine whether or not a sound is syllabic by examining the spectrogram and waveform, it is easily identifiable when listening to the audio. The following is a small list of syllabic consonants affecting the voicing of surrounding consonants.

Speaker: Matthew Jeddore

(300)	[pɪdŋ]	'hand'
(301)	[kwɪdʒṃk]	'outside'
(302)	[kwɛgudm]	'I ask for it
(303)	[kadļ]	'your feet'

There were quite a few words in which there was consonant voicing alternations across multiple pronunciations of the same word, which can be seen in Table 18. These alternations did not appear to have any outside factors affecting the voicing between pronunciations and the speakers themselves did not realize that they were pronouncing the words slightly differently. This lack of awareness only

- 39 Syllabic [m] occurred only 7 times in the data in instances where the syllable weight would have exceeded the maximum syllable weight (CVCC). This can be seen in example (301).
- 40 Syllabic [1] occurred 35 times in the data, 24 of those times it was preceded by the voiced alveolar stop [d] and 9 times it was preceded by the voiceless velar stop [t]. Syllabic [n] occurred 19 times in the data, 16 of those times it was preceded by the voiced alveolar plosive [d].

solidifies the idea that consonants in Mi'kmaq are underlyingly voiceless and become voiced (ideally) between vowels.

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
	[ni p it]	[ni b it]	'tooth'	Paul
[p]/[b]	[papit]	[babit]	'he has fun'	Matthew
	[p udaj]	[b udaj]	'bottle'	Matthew
	[temtezin ⁹ k]	[dɛmtɛzɪn [?] k ^h]	'it snapped off'	Matthew
[t]/[d]	[nɪnu t əm̯]	[nɛnu d əm̥]	'taste'	Paul
	[iganazıt]	[iganazıd]	'he's going ahead'	Matthew
	[kəbəlnol]	[gəbəlno]]	'government'	Matthew
[k]/[g]	[məski k ʰ]	[məski g]	'it's big'	Matthew
	[kɛsa?egus]	[g ɛzajgus]	'August'	Matthew
[s]/[z]	[əlismazi]	[ɛli z mazi]	'I lie down'	Matthew
	[megwesa]	[megweza]	'red ochre'	Paul
	[asəgəm]	[azegom]	'six'	Matthew

Table 18: Obstruent Consonant Alternations

While most of the voicing occurring outside of the intervocalic environment can be explained, there were a few words in which voiceless consonants were consistently pronounced as voiced even though they were occurring outside of the intervocalic environment. The following table shows this list of words as well as the number of times each word was pronounced.

Consonant & Place	Definition	Word	Number of Times Pronounced	Speaker
[b] word initial	'foam (on the water)'	[b ɛmitk ^h]	2	Matthew
[z] initial in cluster	'any woman's brother- in-law'	[wɛlmu z waļ]	4	Matthew
[dʒ] word initial	'maggot'	[dʒ udʒitʃ]	2	Matthew
[dʒ] initial in cluster	'ash tree'	[mudʒi dʒ mɪnaɣsi]	3	Matthew

Table 19: Words with Consistently Voiced Consonants Outside of Intervocalic Environments

3.2.2.5 Devoicing

Another observation made by Bragg during his phonological analysis was the devoicing of nasals word initially in consonant clusters – see examples (304) to (307). In my re-analysis it was clear that there was devoicing occurring in the data, but this devoicing was occurring most often word finally rather than word initially⁴¹ and the lateral liquid could also become devoiced. This word final devoicing was more common in Matthew's data than in Paul's. Additionally, there were a few instances of nasals devoicing word medially, but this was rare.

Examples of Devoiced Nasals and Lateral Liquid (Bragg 1976: 24):

(304)	/mte:skəm/	[m̥²te:skəm]	'all, every'
(305)	/npukum/	[ů,pngnm]	'frankum, gum
(306)	/nqun/	[ů,dn]	'my heel'
(307)	/ntul/	["²tul]	'my boat'

41 It is entirely possible that there was a larger occurrence of word initial devoiced nasals and lateral liquids in the data, but they were extremely hard for me to detect. In addition, when these consonants became devoiced word finally they were much easier to hear because you could hear the speaker moving his articulators to the position of the final consonant. In order to obtain a clearer picture of the devoicing of final nasals let's examine the following two figures. These are two separate pronunciations of the Mi'kmaq word 'chain'. In the first pronunciation there are no outside factors influencing the voicing – or in this case devoicing – of any of the consonants. Following the second pronunciation, however, Matthew immediately began to speak in English. This caused his vocal folds to continue vibrating and the final nasal never became devoiced. Again, in the first pronunciation one can clearly hear that there is a final nasal in this word, but there is no voicing in the waveform to show it. This makes the second pronunciation incredibly important to have because it proves that there is a nasal at the end of this word that only becomes visible in the waveform due to continued speech. This demonstrates that, like Blackfoot, these speakers of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq will shape their vocal tract to articulate word final sonorant consonants even though there is little to no audible pronunciation of them.





The following list shows examples of devoiced nasal consonants in all positions, word initial, medial, and final from both Matthew and Paul. Any word with a percent symbol (%) beside it indicates that this word was not consistently pronounced with a voiceless nasal.

Devoiced Alveolar Nasal [n] Examples:

Word Initial

(308)	%[n pisun]	'medicine'	(Matthew)
(309)	%[n qəzil]	'my fingernails'	(Matthew)
Word Media	1		

	(310)	%[kɛkuņkʰ]	'he has it'	(Matthew)
	Word Final			
	(311)	[kiɕado tləgwɛŋ]	'he makes it work'	(Paul)
	(312)	[wındʒuksnəŋ]	'shoe'	(Paul)
	(313)	[samwaden pizuŋ]	'cough medicine'	(Matthew)
	(314)	[nɛgəm siduwayəŋ]	'his ear'	(Matthew)
Devoid	ed Bilabial Na	sal [m̥] Examples:		
	Word Initial			
	(315)	%[mpɪdʒu]	'codfish'	(Matthew)
	(316)	%[m̥ɛsɣənadekʰ]	'he knocked him down'	(Matthew)
	Word Medial			
	(317)	%[ə ņ kumi] ⁴²	'ice'	(Matthew)
	Word Final			
	(318)	[nɛnudəm̥]	'taste'	(Paul)
	(319)	[uknadaanəm]	'your nostrils'	(Matthew)
	(320)	[windʒudija m្]	'male cow/moose'	(Matthew)
	(321)	%[wəndʒigəm̥]	'European house'	(Matthew)

Throughout the data, the devoicing of word final nasals was straightforward due to the complete closure in the mouth during pronunciation. The lateral liquids on the other hand had several allophones when it came to devoicing due to the airflow being able to escape around the edges of the tongue. This

⁴² This word had a number of variations to its pronunciation: [kumi], [əm²kumi], [mkumi], [mkumi], [əm²kumi]

resulted in devoiced lateral liquids [l_{i}], voiceless lateral fricatives [l_{i}], and transitional liquid clusters such as [\hat{l}_{i}] and [\hat{l}_{i}].

The following two figures compare the Mi'kmaq word for 'seaweed' in which there is a voiced and voiceless alternation across multiple pronunciations. Similar to the nasal devoicing/voicing seen in Figures 13 and 14, the final lateral liquid in the second iteration of the word is voiced due to continued speech in English when it is normally devoiced as in the first pronunciation.



Figure 15: Pronunciation of 'seaweed' With No Outside Influence



Figure 16: Pronunciation of 'seaweed' With Continued Speech in English (Speaker: Matthew)

When the lateral liquid becomes a voiceless lateral fricative it is easily identifiable in its sound as well as how the frication affects the appearance of both the waveform and the spectrogram. The turbulence created from the air trying to escape the mouth around the tongue causes the waveform's amplitude to be erratic and generates random frequencies in the spectrogram. The following two figures contain a voiceless lateral fricative. For comparison, in Figure 17 the spectrogram of the voiceless lateral fricative has a similar appearance to the alveolar fricative [s] in the first syllable of the same word.



Figure 17: Pronunciation of 'three dollars'



Figure 18: Pronunciation of 'to steer'

(Speaker: Matthew)

In addition to the lateral liquid becoming devoiced or becoming a lateral fricative, there were times when the lateral liquid was pronounced as the sound was transitioning into voicelessness, resulting in consonant clusters such as $[\widehat{1}_{v}]$ and $[\widehat{1}_{v}]$ where both the voiced and voiceless lateral liquid could be heard in the audio. Figure 19 and 20 depict $[\widehat{1}_{v}]$ transition clusters and Figures 21 and 22 depict $[\widehat{1}_{v}]$ transition clusters.



Figure 19: Pronunciation of 'hard'



Figure 20: Pronunciation of 'I am that size'



Figure 21: Pronunciation of 'I like him a lot'



(Speaker: Matthew)

The following list shows examples of devoiced lateral liquids in word medial and final positions⁴³ from both Matthew and Paul as well as the voiceless lateral fricative and the transitional clusters which were only observed in Matthew's data. The voiceless lateral fricative surfaces word finally or word medially when immediately followed by a plosive. The transitional lateral cluster [14] only occurs word medially before the voiceless velar plosive [k] (with a single example of this cluster occurring before the affricate [t[]). The transitional lateral cluster [1] only occurs word medially before a voiceless alveolar plosive or voiceless velar plosive (with a single example of this cluster occurring

43 There was no indication of [1] becoming devoiced word initially.

word finally after the glide [j]). Any word with a percent symbol (%) beside it indicates that this word was not consistently pronounced with a devoiced [l] or any of its alternates.

Devoiced Lateral Liquid [1] Examples:

Word Medial

(322)	%[asuzul̥tidʒi]	'government people'	(Matthew)
(323)	%[lamil̥tʃan̥]	'inside of the hand'	(Matthew)
(324)	[pɛgizuļtım²kʰ]	'we all come'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(325)	[tʃawmal]	'boil'	(Paul)
(326)	[wɪdʒigɪmadʒəl̯]	'their brother'	(Matthew)
(327)	[kɛskuļ]	'I am heavy'	(Matthew)
(328)	[wɪtʃkwaladəļ]	'he brings him'	(Matthew)
Voiceless Fric	eative [1]		
(329)	[nestajgəl]	'three dollars'	(Matthew)
(330)	[1 ł kwidək]	'to steer'	(Matthew)
(331)	[małhətk ^h]	'he softens it up'	(Matthew)
(332)	%[nutkəł]	'he hears them'	(Matthew)
Transitional C	Cluster [1]]		
(333)	[telļta]	'like a sound'	(Matthew)
(334)	%[kallti ^j e]	'quarter'	(Matthew)
(335)	[mɛll̥kekʰ]	'it is hard'	(Matthew)
(336)	%[kɛzisalļkʰ]	'I like him a lot'	(Matthew)

Transitional Cluster [14]

(337)	%[nadɛlɨkɪ]	'I am that size'	(Matthew)
(338)	[mɛlɨkɪn²kʰ] ⁴⁴	'I hold onto him'	(Matthew)
(339)	[kilł kɪdəmaŋ]	'you smoke'	(Matthew)
(340)	%[mɛllkigənat]	'he is strong'	(Matthew)

3.2.3 The Glottal Catch

The glottal catch (sometimes described as a glottal plosive by Bragg) occurs when there is a consonant cluster consisting of a nasal or a lateral liquid followed by a plosive. The most common occurrence of a glottal catch between a sonorant consonant and a plosive is when the plosive is velar [k]. It should be noted that there were examples from Bragg's data in which other consonants triggered the glottal catch in certain situations such as [s] at the end of a cluster or [w] at the beginning of a cluster, but these did not surface in my re-examination of the data.

Examples of the Glottal Catch (Bragg 1976: 23–24):

(341)	/anko:tk/	[an [?] ko:tk]	'he looks after, cares for it'
(342)	/memkeyk/	[mɛm [?] keyk]	'fields'
(343)	/milpek/	[m1l ² pek]	'lakes'
(344)	/mskiku:l/	[m²skıgu:1]	'grass'
(345)	/awti/	[aw [?] ti]	'path'

⁴⁴ This is the only pronunciation of this word so it is unclear whether or not the [lł] was consistent pronunciation in this word or not.

These types of consonant clusters do not guarantee a glottal catch surfacing every time, but it does occur often in Matthew's data. With Paul's data, on the other hand, the glottal catch happens only a single time in a nasal-affricate environment even though there are several nasal-plosive and lateral-plosive environments in his data ([m]: 25, [n]: 25, [l]: 13). This lack of glottal catch appears to be another divergence among Matthew and Paul's speaking habits and gives one pause in determining whether or not the glottal catch is something that happens universally in Mi'kmaq, or specifically in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq, or is simply the speaking habits of a single Mi'kmaq speaker. More data with a wider variety of speakers would need to be collected in order to determine whether or not this glottal catch is glottal catch is used by a diverse amount of people.

The following three figures from Praat show glottal catches appearing between the nasals/lateral liquid and the velar plosive in the words for the 'Eastern Canada goose (brant)', 'he thinks about him', and 'bike'. It is also important to note that when analyzing waveforms a glottal catch can clearly be seen, but it is almost impossible to notice a glottal catch if you are only listening to the audio.







There are times when the glottal catch is pronounced as a fully realized a plosive when a word containing a glottal catch is pronounced strongly – although this doesn't happen very often in the data. Table 20 shows examples of a glottal catch becoming a plosive across multiple pronunciations of the same word.

Table 20: Alternations Between Plosives and the Glottal Catch (Speaker: Matthew)

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition
[?] . [+]	[nɛn²hazi]	[nenthazi]	'I stop short'
[']~[t]	[ən [?] kadʒigən̥]	[əntkadʒigən]	'my leg'
[,] ~ [b]	[ızigawım [?] k ^h]	[kızigawımpk ^h]	'tell someone off'

3.2.4 Sonorant Consonant Length

In the first phonological examination of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq Bragg made a distinction between what he described as "long liquids" versus geminate liquids, but based on the analysis in the following section there lacks sufficient evidence to conclude that a distinction should be made between a regular consonant and a 'long liquid'. He transcribed his long liquids the way we would transcribe a long vowel, for example a long alveolar nasal would be written as [n:], and his geminate liquids were transcribed as the consonant written twice, for example [nn] – see examples (346) to (351) from Bragg's thesis for comparison. This distinction is examined more closely in the following two subsections.

Comparison of Short, Long, and Geminate Liquids (Bragg 1976: 24):

Short

(346)	/ləntukw/	[lən [?] tukw]	'deer'
(347)	/əlpa:/	[əl²pa:]	'really'
Long			
(348)	/mən:tu/	[mən:du]	'devil'
(349)	/əl:pa:tu/	[əl:ba:du]	'boy'
Geminate			
(350)	/kwitənn/	[kwɪdənn]	'canoes'
(351)	/tallukwet/	[tallugwet]	'what is he doing?'

3.2.4.1 Long Liquids

In order to explain the voicing of plosives that immediately followed a nasal or lateral liquid consonant, Bragg suggested that the preceding consonant was long and its length triggered "the voicing of the immediately following plosive" (Bragg 1976: 24). Although this conclusion is intriguing, there are a lot of questions attached to it. Most importantly, was there any indication from the native speaker that they heard these consonants as long, but that this length was also distinct from a geminate consonant? Unfortunately, this is not an easy question to answer as these recordings are from the 1970s and there is little to no discussion or debate included in these tapes, but Bragg does state in his thesis that the "length in the liquid consonants has not been found to be phonemic" (Bragg 1976: 24).

Thankfully with the advancement of tools for linguistic analysis, especially in the accuracy of analysis through computer programs such as Praat and Phon, I was able to measure the overall average length of the nasals and lateral liquid as well as the average length of these consonants when they precede voiced and voiceless plosives. Figure 26 depicts these averages and demonstrates that when a nasal or lateral liquid is pronounced directly before a voiced plosive the average length of time the initial consonant is pronounced is higher than the overall average. For example, the average length of the alveolar nasal is 88 milliseconds, but when it precedes a voiced plosive that average becomes 121 milliseconds. The average length of the sonorant consonants was also measured before voiceless plosives to eliminate the possibility of the average length being above the overall average regardless of the voicing of the following plosive. Interestingly, while both the nasals have an average that is slightly higher than the overall average of the alveolar nasal before a voiceless plosive is 93 milliseconds and the average of the bilabial nasal is 96 milliseconds – the average for the lateral liquid before a voiceless plosive is roughly 20 milliseconds less than its overall average (79 milliseconds).



Average Length of Pronunciation of Nasals and Lateral Liquid

Speaker: Matthew Jeddore

Figure 26: Average Length of Pronunciation of Nasals and Lateral Liquid (Speaker: Matthew)

The largest difference between the overall average of the nasals and lateral liquid and their averages before a voiced plosive was 40 milliseconds (bilabial nasal) and even less for the alveolar nasal (33 milliseconds) and lateral liquid (14 milliseconds). These averages are less than 35% longer than the overall average. To compare, geminate consonants can be up to three times as long as their singleton counterparts. This is true for languages such as Berber (Ridouane 2007) and Finnish (Aoyama 2002). But geminates can also have a shorter ratio of two to one, and sometimes even lower, in other languages such as Japanese (Aoyama 2002), Italian (Payne 2005), and Turkish (Lahiri & Hankamer 1988).

While there is no mention of 'long liquids' in other dialects of Mi'kmaq, there are instances of voiced consonants immediately following nasals or the lateral liquid. In the Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary, which contains recordings from three different Listuguj Mi'kmaq speakers, there are

several words in which this occurs. Examples of these words, as well as their pronunciations have been included in the following table. When listening to the audio recordings of these words provided by the dictionary the consonant does not appear to be any longer than other lateral liquid pronunciations, but a closer examination of these recording in Praat is needed before any conclusions can be made.

Consonant Cluster	Definition	Listuguj Orthographic Spelling	Pronunciation
mh	's/he somersaults'	ja mp o'qiet	jam- b oo-hgi-et
	's/he is in the process of sitting down'	pe mp a'sit	bem- b aa-sit
md	's/he is running along'	pe mt ugwi'g	bem- d u-gwiig
ma	'oyster'	t mt mu	dêm- d ê-mu
ma	'it is too good'	wesa mg lu'lg	we-sam- g ê-luulk
ing	's/he piles them (planks)'	ela mg o'lajig	e-lam-goo-la-jik
nb	'leader'	niga np uguit	ni-gan- b u-gu-it
nd	's/he hunts eels in mud'	na nt uat	nan- d u-at
na	's/he feels around blindly or in the dark'	na nt unewet	nan- d u-ne-wet
116	s/he hasin his/her mouth'	alpatl	all- b a-dêl
10	'it forms drifts'	elpanigs'g	el- b a-nik-sêk
14	's/he makes it'	eltoq	ell- d ohk
Iu	's/he runs toward'	eltugwi'g	ell- d u-gwiig
19	'hoe'	lge'gn	êll- g ee-gên
Ig	'female animal'	lgwetug	êll- g we-duk

Table 21: Voiced Consonants Preceded by a Nasal or Lateral Liquid in Listuguj Mi'kmaq

In Listuguj Mi'kmaq there is nothing specific that appears to be influencing the voicing of the consonants in these positions. In fact, more often than not, consonants that are preceded by a nasal or lateral liquid have a higher chance of being voiceless than voiced. Whether a consonant becomes voiced or remains voiceless in this position appears to be entirely arbitrary, but is consistently

pronounced either voiced or voiceless by all three native Listuguj speakers. Based on the similarities between Listuguj and Newfoundland Mi'kmaq when it comes to plosive voicing following a nasal or lateral liquid, I believe that the slight elongation of these preceding consonants is a form of free variation and is irrelevant to the voicing of the plosive; this voicing is simply a tendency to the native speakers.

3.2.4.2 Geminate Consonants

Geminate consonants⁴⁵ were not a common occurrence in the data, but did occur with the sonorant consonants /n/, /m/, and /l/ in Matthew's data. Initially these geminate consonants did not appear to have any effect on the words themselves, but upon closer inspection there was one type of consonant that became geminate due to pluralization. From time to time throughout the data there were instances of words that ended with an alveolar nasal becoming plural, but rather than adding the plural morphemes ([-k] for animate and [-1] for inanimate) the final nasal became a geminate. The length of time these geminates were pronounced was at least twice as long, but could be as much as three times longer than the original nasal. The following table shows examples of these words in singular and plural form as well as the length of time in milliseconds that these final nasals were pronounced. The animacy of these nouns was collected from the Mi'kmaq Online Dictionary (Haberlin, Williams & Ziegler 1997).

⁴⁵ In this analysis consonants were classified as geminates if they were pronounced for 200 milliseconds or longer, making them at least twice as long as the average (from Figure 22: [n] 88 milliseconds, [m] 85 milliseconds, [l] 79 milliseconds)

Definition	Singular	Plural	Animacy (Dictionary)
ʻrib'	[pigaxan] (77ms)	[piga?ənn] (272ms) [ənpigaχann] (229ms) [pigaγann] (252ms) [pigagαnn] (260ms)	Noun animate
'hair'	[nusabən] (105ms) [nusabun] (86ms)	[nuzabunn] (257ms) [nuzabunn] (274ms)	Noun inanimate
'heart'	[kəmlamun] (131ms) [kəmlamun] (97ms)	[kumlamunn] (297ms)	Noun animate
'nose'	[sısqun] (183ms) [sısqun] (107ms)	[sısqunn] (289ms) [sısqunn] (289ms)	Noun inanimate
'hook'	[kəgən] (199ms) [əm²kəgən] (125ms)	[kəgənn] (260ms)	Noun inanimate
'canoe'	[kwidņ] (145ms) [kwidņ] (131ms)	[kwidņn] (335ms) [kwidņn] (370ms)	Noun inanimate
'trap'	[ɔʔtegən] (62ms) [ləktegən] (81ms)	[ləxtegənn] (288ms)	Noun inanimate

Table 22: [-n] Plural Morpheme (Speaker: Matthew)

This observation is not exclusive to Newfoundland Mi'kmaq. In 2012, a paper was published that examined phonetic, phonological, and morphosyntactic variations among the Listuguj Mi'kmaq dialect compared to other Mi'kmaq dialects (Quinn 2012). Within this paper is the observation that Listuguj Mi'kmaq "exhibits a morphologically conditioned assimilation of the (lateral) liquid to an adjacent nasal. This is most commonly seen in the assimilation of inanimate plural and obviative singular endings, both homophonous as -1, to stems ending in /-n/" (Quinn 2012: 1). The following two examples, (352) and (353), were taken from that paper to demonstrate these types of assimilation. Interestingly, the word for 'cranberry' did appear in Matthew's data, but the inanimate plural morpheme [-1] did not assimilate to create the geminate nasal seen in Listuguj Mi'kmaq.

(352) [su:n]	'cranberry'	[su:n:]	'cranberries'	(Quinn 2012: 1)
(353) [nmisin	nɛn]'our older sister'	[nmisinɛn:]	'our older sister (obv)'(Quinn 2012: 2)

There are other examples from Matthew's data in which the final nasal is pronounced longer than normal, but it isn't consistently pronounced this way. For example the word for 'oars' [tahən] is pronounced four times, but only twice is it pronounced with a long final nasal (105 milliseconds versus 250 milliseconds). Additionally, there were words pronounced with a long final nasal that had nothing to do with plurality. For example, the word meaning 'his pipe' [udəmahan] was pronounced more often than not with a long final nasal, reaching as much as 309 milliseconds in length. This word was pronounced eight separate times throughout the data, but only in five of these pronunciations is the final nasal long. Table 23 contains a list of additional words that were pronounced with a long nasal consonant, but the length was not consistent across multiple pronunciations of these words⁴⁶.

46 There are seven other words in which the nasals within them are longer than 200 milliseconds, but these words are only pronounced a single time and therefore have nothing to compare to in order to determine whether or not the nasal is consistently pronounced as a geminate. These words and the length of pronunciations have been included here:

'he hears him'	[nnoduwadʒɪl]	297ms
'to ride a bicycle'	[taga?ənne]	224ms
'he kills it'	[nnebadəx]	207ms
'he suckles him'	[nnunaladʒɪļ]	244ms
'his elbow'	[uskənigɪnn]	203ms
'inside of the hand'	[wanamılłt∫a?ann]	260ms
'moccasin'	[kəsnn]	244ms

Definition	Word	Length of Geminate
'northern'	[oqwann]	274ms
'slides'	[utabaxann]	327ms
'my shoulders'	[tļma?ənn]	261ms
'scissors (pl.)'	[təmətxaigənn]	219ms
'my hand'	[npɪdņn]	296ms
'his shoulders'	[uktlmaxann]	340ms
'you arrive'	[pɛgizɪnn]	260ms
'beads'	[kıspizunn]	242ms

Table 23: Words Pronounced with Geminate Alveolar Nasal [nn] (Speaker: Matthew)

While the geminate alveolar nasal tended to occur almost exclusively word finally, the geminate bilabial nasal occurred more commonly word initially. There are less than ten occurrences of a geminate bilabial nasal in Matthew's data. These geminates do not appear to be consistent across multiple pronunciations of the same word or the word itself is only pronounced a single time which, again, prevent us from knowing whether or not the long nasal would be consistent. The following table lists all words containing a geminate [m]. Words with a percent symbol (%) beside them indicate they were only pronounced a single time.

Definition	Word	Length of Geminate
'twelve noon'	[mm²kənt∫ıltaboadʒıt] ⁴⁷	274ms
'a room'	[əlemmikazi]	246ms
'school'	%[ɛginamogwəmm]	296ms
'your nostrils'	[nadaɑnəmm]	237ms
'ash tree'	[mmudzidzmīnaxsi] [mmudzidzmīnaxsi]	282ms 238ms
'bad'	%[mmɛduwi ^j ık]	212ms
'he beats'	%[mmatej1t]	221ms
'I'm big'	[mmɛskiln]	252ms

Table 24: Words Pronounced with a Geminate Alveolar Nasal [mm] (Speaker: Matthew)

There are even less occurrences of a geminate lateral liquid within the data, occurring a total of six times across ten hours of audio. Similar to the bilabial nasal, the lateral liquid can become a geminate word initially, medially, or finally. The following table lists all the words in which a geminate lateral liquid was found. As with the bilabial nasal, the words in this list are not consistently pronounced with a geminate lateral liquid and any words with a percent symbol (%) following it indicates that this word was only pronounced a single time.

Definition Word Length of Geminate 'gull' [kəllo?ondijet[] 253ms [llidah] 210ms 'go (a group goes)' 'he builds a house for him' [ewigewajəll] 203ms 'sometimes' %[tʃɪptuwegell] 218ms 'basket' [pudallijewe] 215ms [mɛskilln] 'you are big' 217ms

Table 25: Words Pronounced with a Geminate Lateral Liquid [ll] (Speaker: Matthew)

47 In other pronunciations of this word the initial [m] is completely dropped.

3.3 Vowels

This section provides a summary of the vowel inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq. According to previous works, there are eleven vowels in the language consisting of six short vowels /i,e,u,o,a,ə/ and, with the exception of schwa, five corresponding long vowels. Due to time constraints, an in depth examination of the vowels was not possible, specifically vowel length and the formants were not able to be analyzed. While vowel length was not able to be measured during this re-examination, there was one instance of a minimal pair within the data that clearly showed vowel length to be distinctive.

Vowel Length Minimal Pair (Speaker: Matthew)

(354)	[kɛluzɪt]	'he speaks'
(355)	[kɛlu:zɪt]	'he is beautiful

According to Bragg's original analysis he stated that "potential clusters [were] broken up by the glides /w/ and /y/ so that except for a few isolated and unresolved examples we do not find clusters of nonidentical vowels" (Bragg 1976: 27) – an exhaustive list of the words containing vowel clusters in Bragg's data can be seen following this paragraph. While it was more common to find glides breaking up potential vowel clusters during the re-examination of the data, there were still quite a few instances with each vowel in which it was either immediately preceded by or followed by a vowel⁴⁸. Additionally, in both Bragg's analysis and my re-analysis it was observed that the vowels could be pronounced as either tense or lax. After examining the data I've determined that these alternations are

⁴⁸ There were a few times in the data in which I could clearly hear the glide /j/ occurring between two vowels, but upon a closer inspection of the waveform and spectrogram in Praat there was no visible glide. It is possible that my ear was able to perceive a sound that was too subtle for Praat to pick up on. Nevertheless, I made a note of each of these occurrences by transcribing the first vowel with a superscript *j*, for example [a^j]. None of these examples have been included in this section, but will be available in the complete word list found in the appendix.

in free variation and that tenseness does not appear to be a phonemic feature in Mi'kmaq, even on an allophonic level.

(356) /new/ [neu] 'four' (357) /neukunit/ [neugunit] 'fourth' /euneyk/ (358) [euneyk] 'foggy' (359) /euneykəl/ [euneygəl] 'foggy patches, areas' /əukun/ 'curtain' (360)[əugun]

Words Containing Vowel Clusters (Bragg 1976: 36):

3.3.1 High Front Unrounded Vowels

The high front tense and lax vowels occur word initially and word finally as well as between consonants and as the first or last vowel in a vowel cluster. The lax vowel [I] does not surface as often in word final positions or as the first vowel in a vowel cluster. The high front vowels are in free variation with one another and I concur with Bragg that they are realizations of the same underlying phoneme /i/. The following table is a small list of of [i] and [I] alternations found in both Matthew and Paul's data.

Table 26: Vowel Alternations [i]/[1]

[i] Pronunciation	[1] Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
[nitʃku]	[nɪtʃku]	'eyebrow'	Paul
[kiza ₂]	[kıza]	'all ready'	Matthew
[windʒuksnəŋ]	[wındʒuksnəŋ]	'shoe'	Paul
[wɛgajwit ^h]	[wɛgajwɪtʰ]	'angry at someone'	Matthew
[piskwa]	[pɪskwa]	'come in'	Matthew
[asuzultidʒi]	[alsuzultıd31]	'government people'	Matthew
[imgwaladʒi]	[Imgwaladzi]	'he hides them'	Matthew
[igadadinitʃ]	[igadadinɪtʃ]	'I bet you ten dollars'	Matthew

High Front Tense Vowel /i/ Examples:

Word Initial

(361)	[i bit]	'woman'	(Matthew)	
(362)	[igan]	'you arrive'	(Matthew)	
(363)	[iɡɪņ]	'sometimes'	(Matthew)	
(364)	[iskadzijıņ]	'you are ready'	(Matthew)	
Word Final				
(365)	[hepcuzi]	'come warm yourself'	(Paul)	
(366)	[mɪdʒigadətobədi]	'he smears it up'	(Paul)	
(367)	[qənobadi]	'well'	(Matthew)	
(368)	[əlismaz i]	'I lie down'	(Matthew)	
First Vowel in Cluster				
(369)	[soliewej]	'a quarter'	(Matthew)	
(370)	[kumi neziet]	'sleet falling'	(Matthew)	
---------------	-------------------	-------------------------	-----------	
(371)	[udiulde]	'good cheap'	(Matthew)	
Last Vowel in	Cluster			
(372)	[nastai]	'string'	(Paul)	
(373)	[kwilɛin]	'to look for something'	(Matthew)	
(374)	[təmətxaigən]	'scissors (pl.)'	(Matthew)	
Between Con	sonants			
(375)	[wɛgwilat]	'back'	(Paul)	
(376)	[puwadzidelmadzə]	'he hates him'	(Paul)	
(377)	[kwidʒitʃ]	'elder sister'	(Matthew)	
(378)	[wigadigıņ]	'book'	(Matthew)	

High Front Lax Vowel [I] Examples:

Word Initial

(379)	[1l1ktʃuwah]	'shortcut through the woods'	(Matthew)	
(380)	[1mgwaladzi]	'he hides them'	(Matthew)	
(381)	[ɪskat]	'ashtray'	(Matthew)	
(382)	[Izideweda]	'he bellows'	(Matthew)	
Word Final				
(383)	[mɛduwejəɕ kwidʒɪ]	'bad person'	(Paul)	
(384)	[alsuzultıd31]	'government people'	(Matthew)	
First Vowel in Cluster				
(385)	[nɛgəm ukwrutʃ]]	'his father'	(Matthew)	

Last Vowel in Cluster

(386)	[waberk]	'white'	(Paul)
(387)	[wɛdemejaɪh]	'I hinder him'	(Matthew)
(388)	[wəlɛɪmpk ^h]	'I'm well'	(Matthew)
(389)	[mɪdʒigeɪ <code>x]</code>	'dirty'	(Matthew)
Between Cons	sonants		
(390)	[kaeckwicdic]	'fall to pieces'	(Paul)
(391)	[abıstanɛwtʃ]	'wood cat'	(Matthew)
(392)	[mimadʒɪk ^h]	'wood growing'	(Matthew)
(393)	[gɪdʒɪdo]	'I know it'	(Matthew)

3.3.2 Mid Front Unrounded Vowels

The mid front tense and lax vowels occur word initially, word finally, between consonants, as the first vowel in a vowel cluster, and as the last vowel in a vowel cluster. These vowels are in free variation with one another with the tense vowel /e/ being the underlying phoneme. The following table is a small list of the tense and lax mid front vowels alternating with one another across multiple pronunciations of the same word.

Table 27: Vowel Alternations $[e]/[\varepsilon]$

[e] Pronunciation	[ɛ] Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
[nabejo]	[nabɛjo]	'rooster'	Matthew
[ewsami]	[ɛwsami]	'too much for me'	Matthew
[lamek]	[lamɛkʰ]	'under'	Matthew
[sewistem]	[sɛwistɛm]	'you break it (window)'	Matthew
[kmes]	[kmɛs]	'fish maggots'	Matthew
[pigwəlkelado]	[pigwəlkɛlado]	'he carries a lot of something to it'	Paul

Mid Front Tense Vowel /e/ Examples:

Word Initial

(394)	[ewsami]	'too much for me'	(Matthew)	
(395)	[elegwit]	'he works'	(Matthew)	
(396)	[egm]	'sometimes'	(Matthew)	
Word Final				
(397)	[cacke]	'boil'	(Paul)	
(398)	[abahtugowe]	'seabird'	(Matthew)	
(399)	[igInamwe]	'he asks for it'	(Paul)	
(400)	[tʃaw e]	'chewing tobacco'	(Matthew)	
First Vowel in	n Cluster			
(401)	[hameık ^h]	'on the other side of the lake'	(Paul)	
(402)	[wɪdʒeokʰ]	'I go with him'	(Matthew)	
Last Vowel in Cluster				
(403)	[kaeckwiedic]	'fall to pieces'	(Paul)	
(404)	[apusza e ņ]	'you lock it'	(Matthew)	

(405)	[kızaegus]	'August'	(Matthew)		
(406)	[kumi neziet]	'sleet faling'	(Matthew)		
Between Consonants					
(407)	[kezɪdewedah]	'big noise'	(Matthew)		
(408)	[wahandejo]	'bone'	(Paul)		
(409)	[pɛs e k ^h]	'I smell him'	(Paul)		
(410)	[temegej]	'I broke it off'	(Matthew)		

Mid Front Lax Vowel [ϵ] Examples:

Word Initial

(411)	[ɛɛkəmalk ^h]	'he waits for him'	(Paul)
(412)	[ɛwɪpk ^h]	'nut'	(Matthew)
(413)	[ɛdulogwɛj]	'I annoy him'	(Matthew)
(414)	[ɛldu]	'working at it'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(415)	[lijɛ]	ʻago'	(Matthew)
(416)	[wapk ɛ]	'daylight'	(Matthew)
(417)	[lamɛ]	'under'	(Matthew)
First Vowel in	Cluster		
(418)	[pisɛo]	'froth'	(Matthew)
(419)	[kundɛo]	'stone'	(Matthew)
(420)	[kwilɛin]	'to look for something'	(Matthew)

Last Vowel in Cluster

(421)	[lasiɛt]	'plate'	(Matthew)	
(422)	[weli e skıtpu]	'good morning'	(Matthew)	
Between Consonants				
(423)	[amudlɛwe]	'watch'	(Paul)	
(424)	[kızıdɛwɛdah]	'noise'	(Matthew)	
(425)	[pɛmadɛdʒibudo]	'he makes it slide'	(Paul)	
(426)	[kɛdlɛwe]	'also'	(Matthew)	

3.3.3 Low Central and Back Vowels

The low central and back vowels occur in all positions, word initially, word finally, between consonants, as the first vowel in a vowel cluster, and as the last vowel in a vowel cluster; although the back vowel [a] does not surface as often word initially or in vowel clusters. There are several occurrences of vowel alternations between the central and back vowels across multiple pronunciations of the same word with the central vowel being the underlying phoneme – see the following table for a small list of these alternations taken from Matthew's data.

[a] Pronunciation	[a] Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
[kəmaxtam]	[kəmaxtam]	'your brother-in-law'	Matthew
[kawatk ^h]	[kawatk ^h]	'spruce tree'	Matthew
[ababi]	[ababi]	'rope'	Matthew
[padadue]	[padadutʃ]	'left side'	Matthew
[poxtabaj]	[poxtabaj]	'I start to float'	Matthew
[negabigwaj]	[negabigwaj]	'I am blind'	Matthew

Table 28: Vowel Alternations [a]/[a]

Low Central Vowel /a/ Examples:

Word Initial

(427)	[a bi]	'bow (n.)'	(Paul)	
(428)	[a buktʃitʃ]	'rat'	(Matthew)	
(429)	[a laptık]	'he looks for it'	(Paul)	
(430)	[a nkotk ^h]	'he looks after it'	(Paul)	
Word Final				
(431)	[megwez a]	'red ochre'	(Paul)	
(432)	[wickewejukta]	'you laugh at me'	(Paul)	
(433)	[pidʒij a]	'it falls in a hole'	(Matthew)	
First Vowel in	n Cluster			
(434)	[matx a igən]	'scissors (pl.)'	(Matthew)	
(435)	[wenaəje]	ʻjump'	(Matthew)	
(436)	[kɛs a egus]	'August'	(Matthew)	
Last Vowel in	n Cluster			
(437)	[nɛmi a dʒɪl]	'he sees him'	(Matthew)	
(438)	[padʒidʒi a didʒɪk]	'they fall over'	(Matthew)	
Between Consonants				
(439)	[pig a?a ņ]	ʻrib'	(Matthew)	
(440)	[tʃ a wm a]]	'boil'	(Paul)	
(441)	[kadaχ]	'eels'	(Matthew)	
(442)	[n a cado]	'he puts it on'	(Paul)	

Low Back Vowel [a] Examples:

Word Initial

(443)	[a babitʃ]	'cotton'	(Matthew)	
(444)	[a p]	'do it again'	(Matthew)	
Word Final				
(445)	[tʃugw a]	'bring'	(Paul)	
(446)	[piskwa]	'come in'	(Matthew)	
(447)	[ɛli wɪdʒw a]	'go the short way'	(Matthew)	
(448)	[tegwa]	'short stick'	(Matthew)	
First Vowel in	n Cluster			
(449)	[apusx a en]	'you lock it'	(Matthew)	
Last Vowel in	n Cluster			
(450)	[sıpta a lık ^h]	'I stretch him'	(Matthew)	
(451)	[uknada a nəm]	'your nostrils'	(Matthew)	
Between Consonants				
(452)	[nəm a χt a m]	'my brother-in-law'	(Matthew)	
(453)	[abow a nəmw a dʒə]	'he helps him'	(Paul)	
(454)	[klumwɛdʒuw a skʰ]	'coal'	(Paul)	
(455)	[t ∫ahama du]	'bring something to a boil'	(Matthew)	

3.3.4 High Back Rounded Vowels

The high back tense vowel [u] occurs in all positions, word initially, word finally, between consonants, as the first vowel in a vowel cluster, and as the last vowel in a vowel cluster. Its lax counterpart [v] does not surface as often in the data and when it does surface it is only between consonants or in word

final position. It is possible that the lax vowel surfaces more often in the data, but that I was unable to discern the difference between the two sounds in some cases.

High Back Tense Vowel /u/ Examples:

Word Initial

(456)	[uklejawın]	'you belong here'	(Matthew)	
(457)	[u kwadʒigəņ]	'his leg'	(Matthew)	
(458)	[ula]	'here'	(Matthew)	
(459)	[u nudʒi]	'hand'	(Matthew)	
Word Final				
(460)	[temadu]	'to break'	(Paul)	
(461)	[aptʃu]	ʻalways'	(Matthew)	
(462)	[qalib u]	'deer'	(Paul)	
(463)	[mushənam u]	'blue'	(Matthew)	
First Vowel in	n Cluster			
(464)	[lamejguompk ejk ^h]	'inside'	(Matthew)	
(465)	[wabekuo]	'white pine'	(Matthew)	
Last Vowel in	n Cluster			
(466)	[udi u lde]	'good cheap'	(Matthew)	
(467)	[bemi u nayaja]	'it's jumping along'	(Matthew)	
Between Consonants				
(468)	[pɛgizulut]	'he brings him'	(Paul)	
(469)	[nucabuņ]	'my hair (sg.)'	(Matthew)	

	(470)	[wickewejuktuwin]	'you laugh at me'	(Paul)
	(471)	[punamwegus]	'January'	(Matthew)
High E	Back Lax Vowe	l [ʊ] Examples:		
	Word Final			
	(472)	[əpkwim u]	'loon'	(Matthew)
	(473)	[əsqʊ]	'leech'	(Matthew)
	Between Cons	sonants		
	(474)	[punlugwekh]	'it stops working'	(Matthew)
	(475)	[ləmbʊkt]	'bay'	(Matthew)
	(476)	[teskəmʊk]	'snakes'	(Matthew)
	(477)	[tʃibʊskl]	'roots'	(Matthew)

3.3.5 Mid Back Rounded Vowels

The mid back tense and lax vowels occur word initially, word finally, between consonants, and as the last vowel in a vowel cluster, although the lax vowel [o] does not occur often as the final vowel in a cluster or word initially. There are several words in which the tense and lax vowels alternate across multiple pronunciations, but it is ultimately the tense vowel that surfaces most commonly in the data. These vowel alternations can be seen in the following table.

[0] Pronunciation	[ɔ] Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
[pɛmadɛdʒibudo]	[pɛmadɛdʒibudə]	'he makes it slide'	Paul
[wok ^h]	[wok ^h]	'pots'	Matthew
[witskwado]	[witʃkwadə]	'he brings it'	Matthew
[kobɪt]	[kəbit]	'beaver'	Matthew
[kaqowadʒijah]	[kaqəwadʒijah]	'alright/okay'	Matthew

 Table 29: Vowel Alternations [0]/[5]

Mid Back Tense Vowel /o/ Examples:

Word Initial

(478)	[owadzidɛlmadʒi]	'they hate them'	(Matthew)	
(479)	[oqwan]	'northern'	(Matthew)	
Word Final				
(480)	[plam o]	'salmon'	(Paul)	
(481)	[wid30]	'blue fly'	(Matthew)	
(482)	[mebid o]	'cheek'	(Paul)	
(483)	[kiltohwad o]	'he rolls it'	(Matthew)	
Last Vowel in Cluster				
(484)	[piseo]	'froth'	(Matthew)	
(485)	[wahasimeowtʃ]	'wild cat'	(Matthew)	
Between Consonants				
(486)	[ankotk ^h]	'he looks after it'	(Paul)	
(487)	[abowadzıt]	'woodpecker'	(Matthew)	
(488)	[nogomah]	'relatives'	(Matthew)	
(489)	[mezigowikh]	'glitter'	(Matthew)	

Mid Back Lax Vowel [5] Examples:

Word Initial

(490)	[əktʃibɛn]	'east'	(Matthew)		
Word Final					
(491)	[sıptahad ə]	'I stretch it'	(Matthew)		
(492)	[uktegith ə]	'last fall'	(Matthew)		
(493)	[pa?adə]	'hardwood'	(Matthew)		
Last Vowel in Cluster					
(494)	[sətkoəjnimidəx]	'sees everything'	(Matthew)		
Between Consonants					
(495)	[mənde]	'bag'	(Paul)		
(496)	[pɛgizidəh]	'he brings it'	(Paul)		
(497)	[awəwɪdʒɪt]	'spider'	(Matthew)		
(498)	[nabəyən]	'stick you hang a kettle on'	(Matthew)		

3.3.6 Mid Central Vowel

The mid central vowel occurs in all positions, word initially, word finally, between consonants, as the first vowel in a vowel cluster, and as the last vowel in a vowel cluster; although its occurrence in vowel clusters is not common. Additionally, there are examples within the data of the schwa alternating with every tense and lax vowel in Mi'kmaq which can be seen in the following table.

Alternations 1st Pronunciation 2nd Pronunciation Definition Speaker 'last summer' Matthew [tiginibin] [tigənibən] [i]/[ə] [wibemit] [wəbɛmɪt] 'he sleeps with it' Paul [lɪmdʒazi] [ləmdʒazi] 'you get up' Matthew Matthew [I]/[ə] 'to steer' [Iłkwid**I**k] [Iłkwid**ə**k] [matyigin] [maytigan] 'scissors (sg.)' Matthew 'to break' [temadu] [təmadu] Paul Matthew 'North American [puktewsit] [puktəwsit] [e]/[ə] redstart' [elbadu] [əlbadu] 'boy' Matthew [ɛskibɛdo] [əskibɛdo] 'you expect to see Matthew somebody/something' [ɛ]/[ə] [ɛnadʒɪtʃ] [ənadʒɪtʃ] 'thin ice' Matthew Matthew [nemaxtam] [nəmaxtam] 'my brother-in-law' [peskamən] [peskəmən] 'you shoot' Matthew [a]/[ə] [klidaw] [klidaw] 'raspberry' Matthew 'old' [sayawe] [sayəwe] Matthew 'you look for them' [kwiləm**a**n] [kwiləmən] Matthew [a]/[ə] [piskadayan] [pisyadayan] 'chain' Matthew [tepkənusit] [tepkənəcit] 'moon' Paul [u]/[ə] [kil ukitʃ] [kil əkitʃ] 'your mother' Matthew [klumwedzuwask^h] [kləmwedzuwask] 'coal' Paul 'snow shovel' [halibuli] [halibəli] Matthew [ʊ]/[ə] 'my brain' [ntop] [ntəp] Matthew [o]/[ə] 'his rib' [negom piga?an] [negəm upiga?an] Matthew 'kelp' [ɔ]/[ə] [tʃ**ɔ**hołsi] [tʃə?olsi] Matthew

Table 30: Vowel Alternations with Schwa

Mid Central Vowel /ə/ Examples:

Word Initial

(499)	[əlnu]	'Mi'kmaq'	(Paul)
(500)	[əpwaw]	'tree bark'	(Matthew)
(501)	[əxsine]	'white owl'	(Matthew)
(502)	[ətkuk]	'waves/swell'	(Matthew)
Word Final			
(503)	[nantkə]	'two fives'	(Paul)
(504)	[winemadʒə]	'he curses at him'	(Paul)
(505)	[talegiskə]	'kind day'	(Matthew)
First Vowel in	n Cluster		
(506)	[wəhandəo]	'bone'	(Matthew)
Last Vowel in	n Cluster		
(507)	[pimgwa ə mgwe]	'to whistle'	(Matthew)
(508)	[skweə]	'hen'	(Matthew)
Between Con	isonants		
(509)	[tayəməkʰ]	'I strike him'	(Paul)
(510)	[pıgwəlkə pidʒozədi]	'many buttons'	(Paul)
(511)	[nestəmən]	'you understand'	(Matthew)
(512)	[məthəlnɪs]	'wren'	(Matthew)

3.3.7 Possible Additional Vowel

During the analysis of the vowels there were times when a vowel was pronounced that fell between a high front vowel and a high back vowel. This high central vowel [i]⁴⁹ was only noticeable in Matthew's

⁴⁹ Not to be confused with the Francis Smith orthography spelling of schwa, which uses the same symbol.

data and occurred less than 30 times⁵⁰. This vowel alternated quite frequently with other high vowels, back vowels, or the schwa when the same word was pronounced multiple times – see the following table. These alternations make it harder to determine whether or not this vowel is an underlying part of the vowel inventory or a potential allophone of another vowel.

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition
i ~ i	[wɪdʒɨwagwədijɛkʰ]	[wedziwagudijek ^h]	'near kins'
	[tʃibɨskəl]	[tʃibuskəl̯]	'roots'
i ~ u	[kil ikpiga?an̥]	[kil ukpiga?an]	'your rib'
	[nidzigenamwet]	[nudʒiginamwɛt]	'teacher'
i ~ v	[pinləgwɛt]	[ponlugwet]	'he stops working'
i ~ o	[sɨmwaŋ]	[somwaņ]	'water'
i ~ o	[sıptahadi]	[sıptahadə]	'I stretch it'
i ~ ə	[tʃibɨsk ^h]	[tʃibəskʰ]	'root'

Table 31: Vowel Alternations with [i] (Speaker: Matthew)

Because of the time constraints I was unable to measure the vowel formants in my data, which would have either confirmed or denied this possible additional vowel I was hearing. A closer analysis of the vowels of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq is needed before any conclusions can be made surrounding the central high vowel [i].

3.3.8 Vowel Alternations

In addition to the tense and lax vowels alternating with one another and the schwa, there were occurrences of the high and mid front vowels alternating with one another as well as the high and mid back vowels alternating with one another, which can be seen in the following two tables.

⁵⁰ Based on my observations are a native English speaker. It is entirely possible that this sound was occurring more commonly throughout the data but I wasn't able to discern the difference between it and an [i] or [u]

Table 32: Front Vowel Alternations

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
	[walni]	[walne]	'cove'	Matthew
[i][a]	[papki]	[papke]	'outside'	Matthew
	[midi]	[medi]	'poplar tree'	Matthew
	[abi]	[abe]	'bow (n.)'	Paul
[i][c]	[sibu]	[sɛbu]	'river'	Matthew
[1]~[٤]	[igmamwe]	[ɛgɪnamwe]	'he asks for it'	Paul
	[pɪdʒu]	[pɛdʒu]	'fish'	Matthew
[1][0]	[tɪbo]	[tɛbo]	'handy'	Matthew
	[elegwit]	[elegwet]	'he works'	Matthew
	[nadılłkıl]	[nadɛlłkɪļ]	'I am that size'	Matthew

Table 33: Back Vowel Alternations

Alternation	1 st Pronunciation	2 nd Pronunciation	Definition	Speaker
	[plɛku]	[plɛko]	'nail'	Paul
	[plamu]	[plamo]	'salmon (sg.)'	Matthew
u ~ 0	[mtʃiju]	[mtʃijo]	'lip'	Paul
	[tɛmagitu]	[tɛmagito]	'he saws it'	Paul
	[pudaj]	[pɔdaj]	'bottle'	Matthew
u ~ ɔ	[payaluk]	[paɣaləɣ]	'bites him'	Matthew
	[ləmbukt]	[ləmbəkt]	'bay'	Matthew

I suspect the amount of alternation in Mi'kmaq is due to its small vowel inventory, which allows for a greater amount of variability during the pronunciation of a sound. This could explain why the vowels are alternating with schwa as well as other vowels with similar height and backness. Although this suspicion cannot be confirmed without a close acoustic analysis of the data, there is evidence from another indigenous language, Witsuwit'en, that supports this idea. Witsuwit'en is an indigenous language spoken in the central interior of British Columbia and belongs to the Athabaskan language family. The underlying vowel inventory of Witsuwit'en is similar to Mi'kmaq with six underlying vowels /i, e, a, o, u, ə/. An acoustic analysis of the vowels was conducted by Sharon Hargus (2007) that revealed there was a large amount of overlap between the vowels for both the male and female speakers, with a lot more overlap of the vowels occurring specifically among the female Wistuwit'en speakers. The following two figures have been taken directly from Hargus's analysis (Hargus 2007: 185–186) and depict the first (F1) and second (F2) vowel formant averages based on each speaker with a total of nine participants. The figures are grouped by gender and demonstrate that there is an overlap in the pronunciation of the vowels in Witsuwit'en.



Figure 27: Witsuwit'en male speakers F1 by F2 plot of post-lenis (left) and post-fortis (right) vowel qualities



Figure 28: Witsuwit'en female speakers F1 by F2 plot of post-lenis (left) and post-fortis (right) vowel qualities

The idea that smaller phonological inventories can lead to a higher amount of variation aids in explaining the variation seen among some of the consonants in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq, specifically from the uvular plosive /q/, which can surface as the fricatives [γ], [h], or [χ] as well as the glottal stop [?]. Because Mi'kmaq does not have any other underlying phonemes that far back in the mouth, the area that /q/ encompasses is able to be bigger, which results in a larger amount of variation. The same can be said about the fricative /s/, which is the only underlying fricative in the Mi'kmaq consonant inventory. This allows for variation between the alveolar fricative [s] and the alveolo-palatal fricative [c] and their voiced allophones.

3.4 Summary

In addition to the underlying phonemes and allophones determined by Bragg in 1976 there is an additional underlying phoneme in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq, the labialized velar plosive /k^w/, as well as additional allophones for the fricative /s/, the plosive /q/, and the lateral liquid /1/⁵¹. A summary of the underlying consonants and their surface representations is listed in the following table.

Underlying	Surface
/p/	[p] surfaces in all environments[b] surfaces most commonly between vowels, but can also surface as the first or last consonant in a cluster, word initially, or word finally
/t/	[t] surfaces in all environments[d] surfaces most commonly between vowels, but can surface in all environments
/k/	 [k] surfaces in all environments [h] free variation (tends to occur word initially and finally) [k^h] free variation word finally [g] surfaces most commonly between vowels, but can surface in all environments
/kʷ/	[k ^w] (a closer analysis is needed to determine where this consonant surfaces) [g ^w] (a closer analysis is needed to determine where this consonant surfaces)
/q/	 [q] surfaces word initially, intervocalic, or as the first or last consonant in a cluster [h] surfaces in all environments, at times in free variation with [q] [χ] surfaces in all environments [?] surfaces intervocalically [γ] surfaces intervocalically
/s/	 [s] surfaces in all environments [z] surfaces most commonly between vowels, but can also surface as the first or last consonant in a cluster [c] free variation with [s] [z] free variation with [z]
/tʃ/	[tʃ] surfaces in all environments [dʒ] surfaces most commonly between vowels, but can surface in all environments
/n/	[n] surfaces in all environments

Table 34: Updated Consonant Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq

51 The final three allophones [4], [1], and [14], are narrower transcriptions of the devoiced [1].

	 [n] surfaces most commonly word finally, but can also occur word initially and medially [n] surfaces when preceding or following syllables become too heavy [n[?]] surfaces when preceding a plosive
/m/	 [m] surfaces in all environments [m] surfaces most commonly word finally, but can also occur word initially [m] surfaces when preceding or following syllables become too heavy [m²] surfaces when preceding a plosive
/1/	 [1] surfaces in all environments [1] surfaces most commonly word finally, but can also occur word medially before a consonant [1] surfaces when preceding or following syllables become too heavy [1] surfaces when preceding a plosive [1] surfaces word finally or word medially before an obstruent [1] surfaces word medially before plosives [1] surfaces word medially before plosives
/w/	[w] surfaces in all environments
/j/	[j] surfaces in all environments except word initially

The voicing and devoicing of consonants in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq was more varied than originally expected. Voiceless consonants could surface in intervocalic environments as well as voiced consonants surfacing where they should have theoretically remained voiceless, for example, as the first or last consonant in a consonant cluster. This goes against the previous claim that obstruents can only become voiced in intervocalic positions. Additionally, the nasals and lateral liquid showed a high rate of devoicing word finally. Upon closer observation through Praat it was determined that although the final nasals and lateral liquid could become devoiced, the Mi'kmaq speakers would still shape their vocal tract to articulate the word final sonorant consonants despite no audible pronunciation of them.

Through waveform and spectrogram analysis the existence of a glottal catch occurring between a sonorant consonant and a plosive – which was first mentioned by Bragg in his thesis – was confirmed with Matthew's data, although these consonant clusters did not always guarantee a glottal catch would form.

Bragg originally proposed that the length of the sonorant consonants immediately before a voiced obstruent was the reason for the obstruent's voicing. Upon closer examination, the length of the sonorant consonants before voiced obstruents was less than 40 milliseconds longer than the overall average and the voicing of the obstruents appeared to be arbitrary. There was insufficient evidence in proving there should be a distinction between a 'long liquid' and a regular sonorant consonant.

Geminate consonants did not occur often in the data, but did occur with the sonorant consonants in Matthew's speech. Of particular interest were word final alveolar nasal geminates, which appeared when inanimate nouns were pronounced in their plural forms. When the inanimate plural morpheme [-1] attached to the word, the lateral liquid would assimilate to the preceding nasal consonant, creating the geminate nasal. This assimilation has been observed in other dialects of Mi'kmaq specifically Listuguj Mi'kmaq spoken in Restigouche, Quebec (Quinn 2012).

There are six short vowels in Newfoundland Mi'kmaq. With the exception of schwa, each short vowel can be pronounced as either tense or lax due to the small vowel inventory. Due to the limits of this analysis, vowel length was not able to be analyzed in any detail and therefore has been left out of this table, however there is strong evidence from other papers supporting the existence of long vowels, which are distinct from their short counterparts. A summary of the underlying vowels and their surface representations are listed in the following table.

Underlying	Surface
/i/	[i] surfaces in all environments[1] free variation
/e/	[e] surfaces in all environments[ε] free variation
/a/	[a] surfaces in all environments[a] free variation
/u/	[u] surfaces in all environments[v] surfaces between consonants or word finally
/0/	[o] surfaces between consonants, word finally, word initially, and as the last vowel in a vowel cluster[o] free variation
/ə/	[ə] surfaces in all environments

Table 35: Vowel Inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq

Chapter 4: Conclusion and Future Studies

This re-analysis provided an updated phonological inventory of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq. It confirmed some of the original observations made by Bragg in 1976 and expanded upon others. The consonant system has been updated to contain 12 underlying consonants rather than 11, all of which have a voiced and voiceless realization. Specific consonants in this inventory contain additional allophonic variation such as the uvular plosive /q/, the fricative /s/, and the sonorant consonants /n,m,l/. My analysis of the vowel system remained relatively similar to Bragg's original analysis which observed six short vowels that could – with the exception of schwa – surface as either tense or lax depending on the surrounding environment. Additionally, there did not appear to be any form of predictability on when the vowel would surface as tense and when it would surface as lax.

This analysis also brought attention to intervocalic voicing and demonstrated that it is more complex than originally described. Most surprisingly, this thesis revealed that there are abundant examples of voiced consonants occurring outside of the intervocalic environment, voiceless consonants surfacing between vowels, and voicing variation across multiple pronunciations of the same word. This shows that voicing in Mi'kmaq is more complex than originally thought and that intervocalic voicing may not be obligatory.

While this re-analysis sheds new light on the phonetics of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq there is still much to be done. There is roughly 14 additional hours of audio recordings of Matthew Jeddore that could be re-transcribed in order to perform a closer examination of the labial velar plosive /k^w/ compared to the velar plosive followed by the glide /k + w/ as well as finding more examples of the long nasal consonant being used to indicate plurality rather than the inanimate plural morpheme [-1]. Based on the consonant voicing variation found in this thesis, I believe it's possible that this variation

may be found in other Algonquian languages, especially the ones that indicate that voicing only occurs in intervocalic environments. Additionally, a closer examination of the data used in this thesis is needed that focuses on the vowel formants and length in order to update the dataset and ensure that the transcriptions are as accurate as possible. This formant analysis has the potential to reveal a wider array of phonological variation among the vowels than originally thought and solidify the conclusions made concerning the vowels thus far. The data from this thesis could also be used to compare the Newfoundland Mi'kmaq dialect with Listuguj Mi'kmaq, Nova Scotia Mi'kmaq, and New Brunswick Mi'kmaq to see how their separation from the mainland potentially changed the pronunciation of words or if the Newfoundland Mi'kmaq people adopted completely new words for certain concepts while they remained the same in Quebec, Nova Scotia, and New Brunswick.

Outside of academic study, the transcriptions collected for this thesis could potentially be used as a starting point to create a Newfoundland Mi'kmaq dictionary similar to the Mi'kmaq Online Talking Dictionary that was created for Listuguj Mi'kmaq. Matthew and Paul's recordings would be important to any Mi'kmaq speaker who wanted to learn the pronunciation of Newfoundland Mi'kmaq words. It would be interesting to include recordings from Matthew and Paul to show how Newfoundland Mi'kmaq was spoken in the past as well as recordings of current Newfoundland Mi'kmaq speakers for comparison.

Bibliography

- AICLS. 2020. About Breath of Life. *Advocates For Indigenous California Language Survival*. https://aicls.org/breath-of-life-institute/. (5 May, 2022).
- Aoyama, Katsura. 2002. Quantity contrasts in Japanese and Finnish: Differences in adult production and acquisition. In, 121–135. Tokyo: Kuroshio.
- Baart, Joan. 2010. A Field Manual of Acoustic Phonetics. SIL International.
- Bartels, Dennis A. & Olaf Jansen. 1990. Micmac Migration to Western Newfoundland. *Canadian Journal of Native Studies* 10(1). 71–96.
- Bliss, Heather & Bryan Gick. 2009. Articulation without Acoustics: "Soundless" Vowels in Blackfoot. *Qualifying paper, University of British Columbia*.
- Boersma, Paul & David Weenik. 2021. Praat. https://www.fon.hum.uva.nl/praat/.
- Bragg, Russell A. 1976. Some Aspects of the Phonology of Newfoundland Micmac. Canada: Memorial University of Newfoundland (Canada) M.A. http://search.proquest.com/docview/302818208/citation/ED028345B2A541BAPQ/1. (29 September, 2020).
- Buisson, Pacifique. 1939. *Leçons Grammaticales Theoriques et Pratiques de la Langue Micmaque*. Sainte-Anne de Ristigouche.
- Davis, Stephen A. 1997. *Peoples of the Maritimes: Mi'kmaq*. Halifax, Nova Scotia: Nimbus Publishing.
- Dawe-Sheppard, Audrey. 1988. The Historical Morphology of the Independent Order of the Micmac TA Verb. *Algonquian Papers Archive* 19.
 - https://ojs.library.carleton.ca/index.php/ALGQP/article/view/969. (1 October, 2020).
- DeBlois, Albert D. & Alphonse Metallic. 1984. Micmac Lexicon. Ottawa: University of Ottawa Press.
- Denny, Peter. 1983. Micmac Semantics: Medials for Noun Classes. *Algonquian Papers Archive* 14. https://doi.org/10.22215/algqp.v14i0.856.
- Drapeau, Lynn. 2014. Grammaire de la langue innue. PUQ.
- Eberhard, David M., Gary F. Simons & Charles D. Fennig. 2021. Algonquian. *Ethnologue: Languages of the World*. https://www.ethnologue.com/subgroups/algonquian. (14 October, 2021).
- Fidelholtz, James L. 1968. *Micmac Morphophonemics*. United States -- Massachusetts: Massachusetts Institute of Technology Ph.D. http://search.proquest.com/docview/302399016/citation/3152B91C28584DE4PQ/1. (2 October,
 - nttp://search.proquest.com/docview/302399016/citation/3152B91C28584DE4PQ/1. (2 October, 2020).
- Fidelholtz, James L. 1976. Some Considerations in Developing an Orthography for the Micmac Language. In, 361–413. Carleton University.
- Goddard, Ives. 1975. Algonquian, Wiyot, and Yurok: Proving a distant genetic relationship. *Linguistics and Anthropology: In Honor of C.F. Voegelin* 249–262. https://doi.org/10.1515/9783112420461-001.
- Goddard, Ives. 1978. Eastern Algonquian Languages. In *Handbook of North American Indians*, vol. 15, 70–77. Washington: Smithsonian Institute.
- Government of Canada. 2013. History of the Qalipu Mi'kmaq First Nation enrolment process. Reference material. https://sac-isc.gc.ca/eng/1372946085822/1572460140499. (9 October, 2021).

- Haberlin, Sean, Watson Williams & Dave Ziegler. 1997. Mi'kmaq Online Talking Dictionary. *Mi'kmaq Online Talking Dictionary*. https://mikmaqonline.org/default.html.
- Hargus, Sharon. 2007. Vowel Quality. In *Witsuwit'en Grammar: Phonetics, Phonology, Morphology*, 155–190. Canada: UBC Press.
- Hedlund, Gregory & Yvan Rose. 2020. Phon. https://phon.ca.
- Hewson, John. 1973. Proto-Algonkian Reflexes in Micmac. *Anthropological Linguistics*. [Anthropological Linguistics, Trustees of Indiana University] 15(3). 151–164.
- Hewson, John. 1980. Sonorant and Glide in Micmac and PIE. Regional Language Studies (9). 1-4.
- Hewson, John. 1985. Sonorants as a Class in Micmac and Proto-Indo-European. International Journal of American Linguistics. The University of Chicago Press 51(4). 443–446. https://doi.org/10.1086/465925.
- Hewson, John. 1986. Syllables and Syllabics in Micmac. *Algonquian Papers Archive* 17. https://ojs.library.carleton.ca/index.php/ALGQP/article/view/914. (30 September, 2020).
- Hewson, John & Bernie Francis. 1990. *The Micmac Grammar of Father Pacifique*. Winnipeg, Manitoba: Algonquian and Iroquoian Linguistics.
- Humber, Alan George. 1971. Aspects of Verb Morphology in Newfoundland Micmac. Memorial University of Newfoundland MA. https://research.library.mun.ca/7142/. (30 September, 2020).
- Inglis, Stephanie. 1986. The Fundamentals of Micmac Word Formation. Canada: Memorial University of Newfoundland (Canada) M.A. http://search.proquest.com/docview/303510937/citation/59E6193CDCA449C9PQ/1. (29 September, 2020).
- Inglis, Stephanie. 2002. Speaker's Experience: A Study of Mi'kmaq Modality. Memorial University of Newfoundland Ph.D.
- Inglis, Stephanie. 2004. 400 Years of Linguistic Contact Between the Mi'kmaq and the English and the Interchange of Two World Views. *The Canadian Journal of Native Studies* 24(2). 389–402.
- Jackson, Doug. 1993. On the Counrty: the Micmac of Newfoundland. (Ed.) Gerald Penney. St. John's: Harry Cuff Publications.
- Joseph, B.D. & G. Tserdanelis. 2008. Modern Greek. In Variationstypologie/Variation Typology: A Typological Handbook of European Languages, 823–836. Berlin: De Gruyter.
- Junker, Marie-Odile & Marguerite MacKenzie. 2005. Algonquian Linguistic Atlas. Educational. https://www.atlas-ling.ca/. (1 June, 2021).
- Kharlamenko, Oxana. 2018. Grammatical Gender Variation in Old English Inanimate Nouns. In Sudies in Language Variation and Change 2: Shifts and Turns in the History of English, 61–108. Cambridge Scholars Publishing.
- Knockwood, Isabelle. 2015. Out of the Depths: The Experiences of Mi'kmaw Children at the Indian Residential School at Shubenacadie, Nova Scotia. 4th edn. Fernwood Publishing.
- Lahiri, Aditi & Jorge Hankamer. 1988. The Timing of Geminate Consonants. *Journal of Phonetics* 16(3). 327–338.
- Leonard, Wesley Y. 2008. When Is an "Extinct Language" Not Extinct? Miami, a Formerly Sleeping Language. In Sustaining Linguistic Diversity : Endangered and Minority Languages and Language Varieties (Georgetown University Round Table on Languages and Linguistics).
 Washington, D.C.: Georgetown University Press. https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx? direct=true&AuthType=ip,url,uid&db=e000xna&AN=228436&site=ehost-live&scope=site. (19 May, 2022).

Little, Carol-Rose, Travis Wysote, Elise McClay & Jessica Coon. 2015. Language Research and Revitalization Through a Community-University Partnership: The Mi'gmaq Research Partnership. *Language Documentation & Conservation*. University of Hawaii Press 9. 292–306.

McGee Jr., Harold Franklin. 2008. Mi'kmaq. *The Canadian Encyclopedia*. https://www.thecanadianencyclopedia.ca/en/article/micmac-mikmaq. (7 October, 2021).

Mithun, Marianne. 1999. The Languages of Native North America. Cambridge University Press.

- Nova Scotia Archives. 2020. Mi'kmaq Holdings Resource Guide. *Nova Scotia Archives*. https://archives.novascotia.ca/. (15 October, 2021).
- Pastore, Ralph T. 1998. The History of the Newfoundland Mi'kmaq. *Heritage Newfoundland & Labrador*. https://www.heritage.nf.ca/articles/aboriginal/mikmaq-history.php? sslid=MzQwtbAwNjE1NrEAAA&sseid=MzQ1MzMxNTCzNAIA&jobid=4dc47d13-d83c-4923-8265-6165506e7487. (5 October, 2021).
- Payne, Elinor M. 2005. Phonetic variation in Italian consonant gemination. International Phonetic Association. Journal of the International Phonetic Association. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press 35(2). 153–181.
- Prins, Samantha. 2019. Final Vowel Devoicing in Blackfoot. Graduate Student Theses, Dissertations, & Professional Papers. https://scholarworks.umt.edu/etd/11363.
- Proulx, Paul M. 1978. *Micmac Inflection*. United States -- New York: Cornell University Ph.D. http://search.proquest.com/docview/302929693/citation/807489892138413FPQ/1. (29 September, 2020).
- Qalipu First Nation. 2016. Background. https://qalipu.ca/about/background/. (9 October, 2021).
- Quinn, Conor McDonough. 2012. Listuguj Mi'gmaq: Variation and Distinctive Dialectal Features. *Algonquian Papers - Archive* 44. http://www.conormquinn.com/CQuinn2012-ListugujMigmaqVariationAndDistinctiveDialectalFeatures20121031draft.pdf. (19 October, 2020).
- Rand, Silas Tertius. 1888. Dictionary of the Language of the Micmac Indians: Who Reside in Nova Scotia, New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, Cape Breton and Newfoundland. Nova Scotia Printing Company.
- Ridouane, Rachid. 2007. Gemination in Tashlhiyt Berber: an acoustic and articulatory study. *Journal of the International Phonetic Association*. Cambridge University Press 37(2). 119–142.
- Sammons, Olivia N. & Wesley Y. Leonard. 2011. Breathing New Life into Algonquian Languages: Lessons from the Breath of Life Archival Institute for Indigenous Languages. *Algonquian Papers - Archive* 43. 207–224.
- Sapir, Edward. 1913. Wiyot and Yurok, Algonkin Languages of California. *American Anthropologist*. [American Anthropological Association, Wiley] 15(4). 617–646.
- Sarkar, Mela. 2017. Ten Years of Mi'gmaq Language Revitalization Work: A Non-Indigenous Applied Linguist Reflects on Building Research Relationships. *Canadian modern language review*. University of Toronto Press 73(4). 488–508.
- Sarkar, Mela, Mali a'n Metallic, Janice Vicaire & Janine Metallic. 2009. [Re]-Acquiring Mi'gmaq in Listuguj through a "Visual-Oral Grammar" Pedagogy. *Algonquian Papers Archive* 41. 279–298.
- Schwartzhaupt, Bruno, Ubirata Kickhofel Alves & Ana Beatriz Areas da Luz Fontes. 2015. The role of L1 knowledge on L2 speech perception: investigating how native speakers and Brazilian learners categorize different VOT petterns in English. *Revista de Estudos da Linguagem* 23(2). 311–334.

- Speck, Frank Gouldsmith 1881-1950. 1922. *Beothuk and Micmac*. New York : Museum of the American Indian, Heye Foundation. http://archive.org/details/beothukmicma00spec. (3 October, 2021).
- Statistics Canada. 2017. The Aboriginal Languages of First Nations People, Métis and Inuit: Census of Population, 2016. Statistics Canada Catalogue no.98-200-X2016022. http://publications.gc.ca/collections/collection_2018/statcan/98-200-x/98-200-x2016022eng.pdf. (29 September, 2020).
- Statistics Canada. 2018. Aboriginal Population Profile: Miawpukek First Nation. Statistics Canada Catalogue no.98-510-X2016001. Ottawa. Released July 18 2018. http://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/abpopprof/index.cfm?Lang=E. (16 May, 2021).
- The Confederacy of Mainland Mi'kmaq. 2007. Kekina'muek: Learning about the Mi'kmaq of Nova Scotia. Eastern Woodland Print Communication.

 $https://www.native-land.ca/wp/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/Mikmaq_Kekinamuek-Manual.pdf.$

- The Royal Canadian Geographical Society/Canadian Geographic. 2018. *The Indigenous Peoples Atlas* of Canada. 1st edn. Kids Can Press.
- Wicken, William C. 1994. Encounters with tall sails and tall tales : Mi'kmaq society, 1500-1760. McGill University. https://escholarship.mcgill.ca/concern/theses/8623j085c. (19 May, 2022).
- Williams, Watson & John Jerome. 1979. Aspects of Micmac Intransitive Animate Inflection. Algonquian Papers - Archive 10.

https://ojs.library.carleton.ca/index.php/ALGQP/article/view/764. (1 October, 2020).

- Wolfart, H. Christoph. 1973. Plains Cree: A Grammatical Study. Transactions of the American Philosophical Society. American Philosophical Society 63(5). 1–90. https://doi.org/10.2307/1006246.
- 2012. About Miawpukek. *Miawpukek Mi'kamawey Mawi'omi*. https://www.mfngov.ca/aboutmiawpukek/. (5 October, 2021).

Appendix A: Matthew Jeddore Word List

The following is a complete list of every word spoken by Matthew Jeddore that contributed to this analysis. This list includes every recorded variation in pronunciation of each word. Additionally, if a word was pronounced the same way more than once it is followed by the number of times it was spoken, for example the first word in the list was pronounced a total of four times, twice it was pronounced without a word final devoiced lateral liquid [welmuzwa] and twice it was pronounced with one [welmuzwa]]. Both pronunciations have been included in this list and each are followed by the number two. It should be noted that throughout the data there are times when Matthew pronounces a word one way in one recording and a completely different way in another recording. I've kept both pronunciations in the list despite the clear differences as I am not able to discern which is truly the meaning of the word being asked. It is also possible that the word being asked has multiple meanings and therefore can be pronounced multiple ways in Mi'kmaq.

'(any) woman's brother-in-law'	[wɛlmuzwa] 2, [wɛlmuzwaļ] 2
'a bad thing'	[nadowemɪduwɛɣ], [nadowemɪduwɛh]
'a bundle of switches'	[ກເbɪzəɣəʰ]
'a little while ago'	[mwəwsamizax], [məɛwsamizax]
'a long time ago'	[kisax], [isax]
ʻa lot'	[pigwellki], [pigwɛl [?] ki] 2, [pigwɛl [?] kik], [wedamozın], [pɔdamocən]
'a lot of people'	[skwidnu], [skwidʒinu]
'a lot of thin ice'	[mənadʒɪtʃkəl]
'a quarter dollar'	[kalti ^j e] 2, [kaltije]
'a room'	[lmigasi] 2, [əlemikazi], [ləmigasi]
'a shop'	[magat∫əņ], [magasɛn]
'a shortcut through the woods'	[111ktfuwah] 2, [Elıptfuwah], [Elıptfuwax], [Eliktfuwax]

'a store'	[malsənəwgwəm]	
'a story'	[adugwaxan]	
'a swell'	[ətkuk] 2, [ətku]	
'after oar'	[sɛdamebi]	
'ago'	[lijε] 2, [li ^j ε]	
'agreement'	[kadu] 2, [kadah]	
'air'	[tʃusn], [əktʃusn]	
'air you breathe'	[utabən], [məstamusabən], [muzabən]	
'alder'	[təpsi] 2	
'alders'	[təpsil]	
'all'	[msət] 3	
'all hands eat their breakfast'	[ɛskitpadaləktidʒit], [skipadəl²tidʒi]	
'all of it'	[msitowe]	
'all ready'	[kizaχ], [kiza]	
'almost'	[swelx]	
'almost daylight'	[wa]	
'along'	[pidax]	
'alright/okay'	[ayəwadʒija], [aqəwadʒijah], [kaqowadʒijah], [kaqəwadʒijah], [kakəkwadʒijaҳ]	
ʻalso'	[kedlewe] 3, [kedlewijiktukh]	
'always'	[aptʃu] 2	
'anchor'	[kulbisun], [kulbizun]	
'and you'	[aχ kil], [ah kil]	
'angry at someone'	[wegajwit ^h], [wegajwit ^h] 2	
'animal'	[wojzis] 2, [wojsis]	
'animals'	[wojsɪsk ^h] 2, [wojzɪsk ^h] 3	
'animal that's good to eat'	[mid31ptf] 3	
'animals that are good to eat'	[mid31ptʃ1kh] 2	
'ankle'	[m ² kat] 4	

'ant'	[tʃədʒɪtʃkʰ], [dʒudʒɪtʃkʰ], [dʒudʒɪtʃk], [kɪligwɪdʒɪt], [tʃɪligwɪjɪt], [kɪlɪgwɪjɪt], [ɛlɛgwɪdʒɪt]	
'ants'	[kılıgwıdʒidʒık ^h], [kılıgwıdʒidʒıt], [ɛlɛgwıdʒidʒık]	
'any'	[tanpasık ^h], [tanpazi], [tanpazik ^h], [tanpazik]	
'anyone'	[naduwın], [tanpawın] 2, [tanpawın]	
'anyone at all'	[tanbawin]	
'anyone (you or I)'	[tanwın], [tanwın]	
'anyone's brother-in-law'	[umahtamwal], [umaktamwal] 2	
'anything'	[nadəyəwej] 2, [nadəəwej]	
'anything breakable'	[ɛm²tɛzɪņ]	
'April'	[sigogus] 7, [sikogus], [sigowus]	
'arctic hare'	[wabus] 2, [wabəsk], [wabəsk ^h]	
'arctic hares'	[wabusk ^h] 5	
'are you blind?'	[kil negabigwan] 2	
'arm'	[pɪdnogwəm]	
'arms'	[pɪdnogoməł]	
'armpit'	[tlmaan]	
'around the house'	[towazıt]	
'arrow'	[mastʃəҳtɪlɪgɪn], [matʃəҳtɪlɪgɪŋ] 2, [matʃəҳtɪlɪgɪn], [matʃətelɪgəŋ]	
'ash tree'	[mudʒidʒminaɣsi] 2, [əlmudʒidʒminaɣsi]	
'ashes'	[wiskipt], [wiskipk ^h] 2, [kwiskipk ^h]	
'ashtray'	[Iskat] 2, [kIska]	
'Atlantic common murre'	[wabisigwah], [wabisigwa]	
'August'	[kıza?egus] 2, [kısaajgus], [gɛzajgus], [kɛsaegus], [kızaegus]	
'autumn/fall'	[tɔhwaχ], [toqawegus]	
'autumn/fall' 'axe'	[tɔhwaχ], [toqawegus] [təmegɪn]	
'autumn/fall''axe''babies'	[təhwax], [toqawegus] [təmegɪn] [pegwɛłkimidʒuwadʒɪtʃ]	

'back/spine'	[paʔəm], [paɣəm], [paɣəm]
'bad'	[mɛduwi ^j ɪk]
'bad day'	[meduwig 1sku] 2
'bad spot'	[wɪntʃɪkʰ]
'bad spots'	[wɪntʃigəl] 3
'bad weather'	[pɛduwigiskəkʰ], [ɛdugiskə], [mɛduwigiskək], [pɛduwigiskək]
'bag'	[mundi]
'barking kettle'	[wɔw], [wɔ]
'barn'	[uskidʒinuwɪt], [wɪskidʒinuwɪ], [kɪdijamwəgwəm], [laklans], [lahlogwəm], [laχlogwəm], [laklans] 2, [tɪzibəwəgwəm], [tezibəwəgwəm]
'barn (for animals)'	[windʒɪdijamwogwom] 2
'barn (for hay)'	[skigwogwom] 2, [əmskigwogwom] 2
'barn (for cows)'	[lakwogwom] 2
'barrel'	[malıgiju]
'baseball bat'	[tuwadidʒɪkʰ], [tuwadidʒi]
'basket'	[podalijewe] 3, [pudalijewe]
'bat'	[maltʃemadidʒɪχ], [maltʃemadidʒɪ]
'bat (animal)'	[nadʒibuktanıtʃ], [najibuktanıtʃ], [nadibuktanıtʃ]
'bay'	[ləmbukt] 3, [ləmbəkt] 2, [ləmbukt] 4, [ləmbə], [ləmbukth]
'beads'	[kıspızun], [kıspizun], [kıspızunk ^h]
'bear'	[nabɛsk mojn] 2, [muwin]
'beat'	[mate] 3, [matax]
'beats him'	[matık ^h], [mate]
'beaver'	[kəbit], [kobɪt]
'because'	[tʃɪptuk ^h]
'bed'	[powəņ], [ənpoχwɔŋ]
'been (in the sense of you've been somewhere)'	[wid3i] 2

'beer'	[lapi ^j elewe] 2
'begin'	[amskwis] 2
'belly'	[puskun nəmosti], [nəmʊsti]
'belt'	[pispizuņ], [kispizuņ], [mkɪspɪzuņ], [ɪspɪzuŋ], [ɪspɪzun], [kɪspizuņ]
'bend'	[pəxtʃiwadu]
'berries'	[munitʃkəl], [mənitʃəl̯]
'berry'	[mənitʃ] 2, [mənitʃk ^h]
'big'	[ma?əxsit], [mayəxsi], [mɛskix], [maxta] 3, [maxtax] 2
'big noise'	[kezɪdewedah], [kezɪdeweda]
'bike'	[elkajıt], [əl²kəjɪd]
'birch'	[stə?un]
'birch tree'	[maskwi]
'bird'	[sizip] 3, [sizip], [sisip]
'bite anything'	[paqadu]
'bite him'	[paqal], [paxalh]
'bites'	[paqalə]
'bites him'	[payaluk], payaləx]
'bitter'	[wisyəy], [wisyəkh] 3
'black'	[axtɛwijɪh]
'black bird'	[maxtewe sızıp], [maxtewej sızıp], [maxtewek sizıp]
'black currents'	[mɛzımɪn], [mɛzımɪn]
'blackboard'	[maχtεwεgε wigadigən̥], [mahtεwε wigadigən̥], [wigigm], [aχtεwε wigigın̥], [wigigın̥], [wigigən̥]
'black board'	[maxtewe saxski], [matewe saxski], [tewe saxski]
'bladder'	[wiskwi] 2
'blade'	[wilnəgwan] 3, [wilnəgwan]
'blanket'	[plagɪt]
'blind'	[nɛgabigwɛk ^h], [negabigwek ^h], [nɛgabigwək]
'blood'	[maldɛjo]

[wɪdʒuzəkʰ] 4, [wɪdʒuzək], [wɪdʒuze]	
[məɛχunamuh], [məɕhənamuχ], [məɕhunamuh], [muɕhunamuχ], [məɕhunamuχ], [mushənamu], [mushunamu]	
[əshunamu upkwiman] 2	
[wid30] 2	
[məchunamuk ^h], [məchunamu], [mshənamu]	
[əpkwiman] 2, [pkwiman], [mushunamuksıt] 2	
[kwiman]	
[emitʃagowɪtʃ], [miktʃagowɪtʃ] 2, [muchənaməxce mitʃagowɪtʃ]	
[mug1spətnək ^h]	
[saxski] 7, [sahski]	
[saxskejl]]	
[podamɔsən̥], [apɔdamosən̥], [uktu], [uktul]	
[abəwan], [nabəyən]	
[wa?andeo], [wəhandəo]	
[win]	
[wigadigin] 3, [wigadigin]	
[skibul], [skibəl], [skibəl]	
[pɔdaj], [pudaj] 2, [budaj]	
[abi] 2, [ɛbi]	
[əlbadu], [elbadu]	
[əpadus], [əlbadus] 2	
[nidap]	
[samwanigəņ], [samwanigɪn]	
[pibənaņ], [pɪmnaņ]	
$[sewistezin^{2}k], [sewistestun], [temtestu], [sewistezin^{2}k^{h}]$	
[sɛwistɛzɪŋ], [sɛwistɛzi]	
[tmadu]	

'breakfast'	[ek1tpugowe], [ɛskitpugowe]
'breath'	[kamlamudi]
'bright day'	[kɛsadı] 2, [kɛsadık] 2
'bright days/bright weather'	[kɛsade]
'bright light'	[wazəχwεkʰ], [wazəhwε]
'bring'	[pɛgisulk ^h]
'bring him on his back'	[wɪtʃkuwadəl]
'bring it'	[tʃigwadu], [wɪtʃkwadə]
'bring something to a boil'	[tʃahamadu]
'broad daylight'	[wapke]
'brook'	[tʃibudʒitʃ]
'brother'	[nsɛs]
'brushed it off'	[pɛzipɛgɛ]
'brushed off'	[pesikpadu]
'bull'	[latola]
'cabbage/leaf'	[nibi]
'call for it'	[wɛkudəm], [wɛgodəm]
'can't sleep properly'	[ohwagizinpo]
'canoe'	[kwidņ] 5
'canoes'	[kwidņ] 2
'cat'	[jowtʃ]
'chain'	[pısyadayən], [pıskadayan], [ıskadayan], [abıskadayan], [abıskadayan]
'cherry tree'	[tʃədʒɪməzi], [tʃətʃīməzi], [totʃɛməzi], [widʒətʃīməzi], [widʒətʃɛməzi]
'chest'	[puskən] 4, [puskun] 4, [puskun̥], [ənpuskun̥]
'chewing tobacco'	[tʃajudi tʃajwɑli] 2, [tʃawudi], [tʃajudi], [tʃawe]
'child'	[dʒuwadʒɪtʃkʰ]
'claw'	[oxəsil]
'clean'	[waqmek]

'clean clothes'	[waxame uxtapsun] 2	
'clear sky'	[muɛhun], [muɛhuk], [məɛho]	
'clearing land'	[macigadəx], [muzigadə]	
'clock'	[ad31]	
'clothes'	[tapsune], [kɛp̄satık], [kɛp̄sahte], [asun], [azun]	
'cloud'	[aluk ^h] 2	
'clouding over'	[pɛmɑləgwija]	
'clouds'	[lame ^j iχ], [aləgwəl]	
'codfish'	[mpɪdʒu], [nəmez]	
'cold'	[tegi], [tegik ^h], [tegit], [tɛgik ^h]	
'come here'	[dʒɪgujɛ]	
'come in'	[piskwa], [pɪskwa]	
'cormorant'	[təmani], [dəmaxani], [temayanija], [temayani]	
'corner'	[tamu], [kədaamuk ^h]	
'cotton'	[ababits], [ababits], [ababid3]	
'cough'	[samwaden]	
'cough medicine'	[samwaden pizun] 2	
'coughing'	[no}əm]	
'cove'	[walne], [walni]	
'coves'	[walnei]]	
'cows'	[windʒudijamuɛ]	
'cranberry'	[sun]	
'cranberries'	[sunl]	
'crook on the hook'	[kləkwɛwɛ]	
'crooked'	[paxtſuwik ^h] 3, [axtſuwik ^h]	
'crooked girl'	[hebɪt]	
'crooks on the hook'	[klukwɛwɛl̥]	
'crow'	[haɣaqətʃ], [kahahətʃ]	
'crow blackbird'	[wetmaxtewek ^h]	

'crying'	[pɛmɪmtɪk],
'cut his head off'	[tɛmkwɪdadʒ
'day'	[kıskuk], [kıs
'daylight'	[wapk ^h], [wo
'devil'	[məndu]
'dirty'	[mɪdʒigeɪx],
'do it again'	[ap] 2
'do something properly'	[minaadzew
'dog barks'	[wegwilat]
'dogs'	[lemudʒɪk ^h]
'doing good'	[ladowadļ], [
'don't do that'	[mukladu] 2,
'dream'	[puwadu]
'duck'	[əptʃitʃmtʃʰ],
'early fall'	[naxsıtkwah]
'east'	[awtſībɛņ] 2,
'Eastern Canada goose (brant)'	[senowk ^h], [s
'eel'	[kadew] 2
'eels'	[kada], [kada
'egg'	[waw] 2, [wa
'eggs'	[waw]], [wa
'elder sister'	[kwidʒitʃ]
'European house'	[wəndʒigəm]
'evening'	[wɛlakʰ], [wɛ
'everyone's mother'	[əkidʒewo]
'fall down/fall over'	[padʒidʒi], [r
'farm'	[igadayaņ], [
'father-in-law'	[tʃɪltʃʰ]
'feather'	[pigun] 3

[pɛmɪmtɛ] 31], [tımkwıdad31ł] skə] apke] [medzige] vazi] 2, [mɪnaɣadʒɛwaduņ] [wɛlasuwadl], [walaladʒɪl] [muktladu] [əptʃitʃkəmue], [aptʃitʃkəmue] [wtʃībɛn], [tʃībɪn], [əktībɛn] senəmk^h] 2, [senəm[?]k^h] aχ] 3 ak], [wak^h] ugul]], [wəndʒigəm], [wındʒigəm] εlaχ] 2 padzidzit] [uktigadayan], [uktigadahan]
'February'	[abugonajɪt], [abugonadʒɪt] 2, [abunadʒɪt], [abugonadʒi]
'female beaver'	[nabumsk ^h]
'female dog'	[skwazım]
'fine evening'	[weliwula]
'finish growing'	[kizigwet], [IsigwIt]
'finished sleeping'	[kıskuzi], [ıskuzi]
'fire'	[puktəw]
'fish (sg.)'	[pɪdʒu], [pɛdʒu], [nəmetʃ]
'fish (pl.)'	[pɪdʒukʰ], [nəmejdʒɪkʰ]
'fish hook'	[kəgən], [əmkəgən]
'fish maggots'	[kmɛs], [kmes], [kəmes] 3
'five dollars'	[nanajgəł]
'flies (insects)'	[wudʒ1k ^h], [udʒ1k]
'fly (insect)'	[utʃ], [udʒ], [wutʃ]
'flying along'	[pɛmaɣsin²k]
'foam (on the water)'	[bemitk ^h] 2
'four dollars'	[newajgəł]
'four quarters'	[kaltije nəwtagık ^h]
'fox'	[ukwis]
'Frenchmen shoe'	[wenutʃ]
'from your heart'	[nkamlamədi]
'froth'	[piseo] 2
'frown'	[wedadzigwe]
'fruit'	[jızimanık ^h], [ızimanık]
'frying pan'	[lapuweł]
'full'	[wadzuja] 2, [wadzujaz]
'full of water'	[wadzube]
'geese'	[sinəmkh], [senəmkwa], [senəmkwah], [sɛnəmkwah]
'giant'	[dʒɪnu]

'glitter'	[esigowık ^h], [mesigowık ^h], [msik ^h] 2, [mezigowık ^h], [mesigowık ^h], [kobıtʃ] 2, [ɛsigowık ^h]
ʻgo'	[lije]
'go (a group goes)'	[lidah], [lida]
'go out'	[tɛwi ^j ɛt] 2, [tɛwi ^j ɪt]
'go the short way'	[wɪdʒiwax], [ɛliwɪdʒwa], [liwɪdʒɪwa], [ɛlɪktʃuwah]
'Godfather'	[kɛkənɪt], [kɛkunɪt]
'good cheap'	[udiulde], [udiulte]
'good ice'	[kɛlu mkumi]
'good looking'	[wɛlamuɣsın], [wɛlamuksıŋ]
'good morning'	[welieskitpu]
'goose'	[sinu], [sɛnəmkʰ], [sɛnəm [?] kʰ]
'gooseberries'	[ləbaxtıtʃkə], [ləbaxtıtʃkl]
'gooseberry'	[ləbatıtʃk ^h]
'government'	[gəbəlnol], [kəbəlnol]
'government people'	[asuzultidʒi], [alsuzultıdʒı], [asuzulltıdʒı]
'government road'	[elegewid awti] 2
'grandchild'	[nudʒitʃ]
'grass'	[skigu] 3
'grass (pl.)'	[skigu]] 2
'grease'	[mɛmɛ ^j]
'grove of poplar trees'	[medijamigek ^h], [midijamə], [medijamege]
'grow'	[zigwis], [izigwis]
ʻgull'	[kləhəndıtʃ], [kələ?əndi ^j etʃ], [kləhəndi ^j ıtʃ], [klə?ənditʃ], [kloɣonditʃ]
'gulls'	[klə?əndɪtʃkʰ]
ʻgun'	[pɛskəwe], [pɛskɛwɛ]
'half a dollar'	[adaj1gnəwhtag1k ^h]
'half an animal'	[istugwan] 3, [istugwan] 2
'hammer'	[matedzuwe]

'hammers'	[matedʒuwɛl]
'hand'	[pɪdņ], [unudʒi] 4, [lamɪłtʃaʔan]
'handy'	[tɛbo], [tɪbo]
'harbour'	[walni] 2
'harbours'	[ləmbuktəl]
'hard'	[mɛlłki]
'hard/difficult/bad'	[meduwej1h], [eduwe]
'hardwood'	[nībənə?ən], [nībənə?əņ]
'hare'	[abəligəmwıtʃ], [abligmutʃ] 2
'have some tea'	[ɛwadu pədewe] 2
'he annoys him'	[kigadʒiwadl] 2
'he approaches'	[wɪdʒəwɪtʃkujɛt], [tɛbawɪtʃkujɛt] 2
'he argues'	[kigadʒazıt ^h], [kigadʒazı]
'he arrives'	[pɛgisın [?] k], [pɛgizın [?] k ^h], [nejm pɛgisıntk ^h] 2
'he asks for it'	[nəgəm gulutk ^h] 2
'he barks'	[wɛgwilat] 4
'he barks at him'	[wegwilad31]
'he beats'	[matejɪt]
'he beats him'	[matadʒ1] 2, [matadʒ1]
'he beats me'	[maxtet]
'he beats/hits it'	[nuktek]
'he bellows'	[kızigawı\], [ızideweda] 2
'he belongs here'	[uklejawıt], [klejawıt], [klejawıŋ]
'he bites him'	[pɔhɔladʒıl], [payaladʒıl] 2, [payaladʒil]
'he breaks him'	[temalad31]
'he breathes'	[kamlamɪt]
'he brings him'	[wɪtʃkwaladļ] 4, [wɪtʃkwaladļ], [wɪtʃkwaladəl̯] 2, [wɪtʃkwaladəl̯], [negəm wɪtʃkwaladəl̯] 4, [wɪtʃkwalal]
'he brings him (dead)'	[witʃkwado]
'he brings it'	[witſkwado], [tſigwadu]

'he brings it (dead)' 'he broke his neck' 'he broke it off' 'he brought him' 'he brought it' 'he builds' 'he builds a house for him' 'he builds him a house' 'he comes handy' 'he coughs' 'he eats' 'he flies along' 'he flies toward us' 'he folds' 'he gets up' 'he gets quiet' 'he gives him a rest' 'he gives it a rest' 'he goes out' 'he goes with him' 'he grabs him' 'he grabs it' 'he grabs that' 'he grows' 'he grows up' 'he has a bald head' 'he has a big head' 'he has a broken neck'

[witfkwado], [witfkwado] [tempwadezin[?]k] [telegit[], [temegit[] 2 [pegisulut] [pɛgizidə], [pɛgizidə], [pɛgizidə] [nɛgəm ɛwigat] 2 [ewigewadzəl], [ewigewadzəl], [ewigewadzəl] 2, [ɛlduwadʒıl], [ɛwigɛwajəl], [wig ɛlduwadʒəl] 3, [ɛwig ɛwadʒəl] [kut[azɪt], [t[azɪt], [kikt[azɪt] 2, [kikt[azɪt] [nɛgəm noyəmit] [nɛgəm midʒəsɪt] [pimadidʒazit] [elaysin²tk], [elaysintk^h], [elahsintk^h], [wit[kwaysintk^h] 2 [mawadɔ] 2, [mawadəɣ] 2 [ləmtʃazɪt], [lɛmtʃazɪt^h], [ləmdʒazɪt], [nɛmtʃazɪt], [metfazit], [mintfazit] 2, [mintfazi] 2, [wəntahazıt^h], [əntayazi], [wəntahazıt] [atlasmulad31]] [adlasmudoh] [tewje] [wid3ewad]] 2 [kohwaladʒɪl], [ohwaladʒɪl] [qoqwadox] [kohwado] [kezigwitf] [kizigwet] [egwadatpat], [megwadatpat], [egwadatpat], [egwadatpat] [magatpat], [mayatpad], [mayatpat] [temkwek]

'he has fun'	[pabit] 4, [babit]
'he has him'	[kekunadzəl]
'he has it'	[kɛkun²kʰ] 2, [kekuŋ²kʰ], [kɛkuŋ²kʰ] 2, [kɛkuŋkʰ], [nɛgəm kɛkuŋ²kʰ] 2
'he has them'	[kekunadzi], [kekun²kəl]
'he hates him'	[powadzideləmadzı]] 2
'he hates it'	[pəhwadʒidɛs]
'he hates them'	[pəhwadzideləmadzi]
'he hates those (inaniamte)'	[pəwadzidɛtkəl]
'he hears a lot of noise'	[nutkə]
'he hears him'	[noduwadz11]
'he hears it'	[nutkh] 3, [negəm nutkh] 2
'he hears them'	[nutkəł], [nutkəl], [nuduwadzi]
'he helps them'	[abənəmwadʒɪl], [abənəmwadʒi]
'he hides him'	[Imgwalad31]
'he hides it'	[Imgwado], [mImgwado]
'he hides them'	[mɪmgwaladʒi], [ɪmgwaladʒi] 2, [imgwaladʒi]
'he hinders him'	[wɪdəmejwadʒəl]
'he hits him'	[ta?madʒɪļ]
'he holds him'	[kɛlnɪkʰ]
'he holds it'	[kɪlnɪkʰ]
'he holds on tight'	[məlłkaptʃɪtʃ]
'he holds on tight to a lot of people'	[mɛll̥²kamɑdʒi]
'he holds on tight to someone'	[mɛlłkamadʒıl] 2
'he holds onto a lot of people'	[məlkənadʒi]
'he holds onto him'	[kəqwaladʒıl], [məlgın] 2, [məlgən]
'he holds onto it'	[kəkwadə]
'he holds onto them'	[məll [?] kənadʒi], [mɛlłkənadʒi]
'he hunts'	[kɛdantɛgɪt]
'he hunts for him'	[kɛdanadʒɪļ]

'he hunts for it (inanimate)'	[kɛdantɔ]
'he hurries up'	[winpasit]
'he hurts him'	[kɛzidadʒɪl]
'he is beautiful'	[kɛlu:zɪt]
'he is big'	[mɛskiļkʰ], [mɛskilļkʰ]
'he is blind'	[negabigwat] 2, [egabigwad]
'he is from there'	[wid31t] 2
'he is good'	[kɛluzıt] 2
'he is growing'	[m1mad31th], [mimad31th]
'he is heavy'	[ɛskulkʰ], [kɪskul̥ʔkʰ]
'he is hungry'	[kɛwizɪnk ^h]
'he is in the room'	[ejkəlmigazık]
'he is inside'	[azɛgɛkʰ], [azɛgekʰ], [azɛgek]
'he is old'	[nɛgəm kızigu] 2
'he is ready'	[kıskadzık ^h] 2
'he is ready to leave'	[1skadz1k ^h]
'he is red'	[mɛgwɛjık ^h], [nɛgəm mɛgwe] 2
'he is short'	[tegwaxtsidz1t] 2
'he is sick'	[ɛsinugwat]
'he is small'	[aptʃidʒi], [aptʃiʲit], [aptʃidʒɪt]
'he is strong'	[mɛll̥kigɛnat], [mɛlɬkigənat]
'he is well furred'	[wɛdawɛluwat], [wəlawɛluwat]
'he itches'	[kɛzıbijɛt], [kɛzibijɪt]
'he jumps'	[wɪnahajɛt]
'he keeps a hold of it'	[kılnək ^h]
'he killed it'	[nebadʒ]]
'he kills him'	[nebad31], [nejbad31]]
'he kills it'	[nebadəx]
'he kisses'	[wıskaləmadʒıļ]

'he kisses them'	[wıskahalltıgəl]
'he knocked him down (with his hands)'	[m̥ɛsɣənadekʰ], [əsɣənadekʰ]
'he knocks him down'	[mīshunadajīļ], [mīshunadadzīļ], [mēszənadadzīļ]
'he knocks it down'	[kɛjwadəx], [nɛgum kɛjwadəx]
'he knows him'	[kɛzijadəl]
'he learns'	[keginamasıt], [heginamasıt], [keginamazıt]
'he licks it'	[məskwatk]
'he lives handy'	[tɛbo wigɪtʃ] 2
'he locks it'	[apəsχαχ], [apusχαχ]
'he looks for him'	[kwiləwadʒɪļ]
'he looks for it'	[kwiłk ^h]
'he looks for them (inanimate)'	[kwɪll̥kəl̥]
'he makes a lot of noise'	[kezidewedəxsit]
'he makes him slide down'	[nɪsijohwadıl]
'he makes it'	[ɛwigatk ^h]
'he makes it sit down'	[ɛbadɔ]
'he makes noise'	[kɛzigawɛd], [kɛzigawɛt] 2
'he moves'	[madʒazɪt]
'he names it'	[nɛgəm widık ^h] 2
'he names him'	[wizun²kəwadʒəl]2, [wizunkɛwadʒəl]
'he plays'	[ɛlazıt]
'he plugs him up'	[ebidʒɔ?wadʒɪļ]
'he plugs it up'	[kɛbidʒəh] 2
'he points'	[ɛlugwat], [ɛlugwatk], [ɛlugwatkʰ]
'he prays'	[lazudmat]
'he prays for it'	[alazədmɛlsɛw], [alazumɛlsɛw]
'he puts him in the river'	[ɛgwidʒaladl]
'he puts him in the water'	[samwaniktuk ^h]
'he puts it on'	[nazaladzıl], [nasaladzıl]

'he puts it (a boat) in the water'	[egwidʒadə]
'he quarters it'	[kəlltidad31]
'he rests'	[atlasmit]
'he rolls it'	[kiltowado], [kjutowado], [kiltohwado]
'he rouses him'	[tugwalad31]
'he rubs it'	[panugwatk ^h]
'he rubs it by hand'	[panəgwalwal], [panəgwaladʒəl̯], [pawnəgwaladʒıl̥]
'he saws him'	[ɛlagıbuladʒıl]
'he saws it'	[əlagıtɛgɪtʃ] 2, [əlagıtəx]
'he saws it down'	[tɛmagɪbuladʒɪl], [tɛmagɪtəx], [tɛmagɪtəh]
'he saws it off'	[temagitəx] 2
'he saws wood'	[ɛlagıtəlL], [pəhcugul ɛlagıtəlt] 2
'he says'	[tɛləwɪt] 2
'he scoops'	[na?anig1t], [nayanig1t ^h]
'he scoops him'	[naanigaladʒɪl]
'he scoops it'	[nahənigatk ^h], [ənigat]
'he scrapes him'	[tʃigadʒəlwih], [nasigwadʒəl̯]
'he sees'	[nɛmidat], [nɛmidɛt]
'he sees everything'	[sətkowəjnimidə], [msətkowəjnımido]
'he sees him'	[nɛmiadʒɪ]]
'he sees it'	[nɛmidəɣ], [nɛmidə]
'he shoots'	[pɛskik] 2, [peskə]
'he shoots him'	[peskad31] 2, [peskad31]
'he shoots it'	[peskadl], [peskəkh] 2
'he sings'	[kɛdabɛgi ^j ɛt], [abɛgijɛt]
'he sings it'	[ɛdabɛgijatikʰ]
'he sits'	[ɛbasıt]
'he sits him down'	[hɛbaladʒɪļ]
'he sleeps with her'	[wibemadʒil]

'he slides down'	[nızijohwat]
'he slides him along'	[pɛmadidʒaladəł]
'he slings him over'	[ɛɕkidʒegɪdʒəl], [wɪskidʒɛgɪdʒəl̯]
'he slings it over'	[wiekidzegitʃ] 2
'he slows him down/he stops him'	[nɛnthaladʒɪļ]
'he smashes it up'	[ɛwɪsteh], [ɛwɪstek]
'he smears him up'	[mɪdʒigaladʒəl]
'he smells him'	[pɛsadʒɪļ]
'he smells it'	[nɛəm pɛsɛdo] 2
'he smells something'	[pɛse]
'he smokes'	[nɛgəm kɪdəmat] 2, [kwɪdəmat]
'he softens it up'	[małhətk ^h], [małqətk ^h]
'he speaks'	[keluzit] 2
'he stands'	[kayamit], [ta?amit]
'he stands in front of you'	[kahəmit], [ka?əmit]
'he stands up'	[qayəmazıt]
'he steals'	[negəm kemudnɛt] 2, [kemudnɛt], [kemudnɛt], [kɛmudnɪt]
'he steals him'	[kɛmudnatʃkʰ]
'he steals it'	[kemudnatk ^h], [nenthazıt]
'he stops'	[nenthazɪt], [nthasit ^h]
'he stops him'	[əntxaladʒəł], [ınthladʒıl]
'he stops him from talking'	[ənxamwadʒɪl], [nhamwadʒɪl], [nɛnthamwadʒɪl]
'he stops it'	[nenthadəx], [nenxadəx], [ınthadəx]
'he stops talking'	[munewisto]
'he stops working'	[pinləgwet], [punlugwet]
'he stretches'	[sibit] 3
'he strikes him'	[pɪtadʒɪl], [nɛgəm pɛtadʒɪl], [taamadʒɪl] 2
'he strikes him unexpectedly'	[taɣəmɑdʒɪl]
'he strikes it'	[taxt1k ^h]

'he struck it'	[taxteg]
'he suckles'	[nunɪt]
'he suckles him'	[nunaladzı]]
'he suckles it'	[nunɪt]
'he takes a shortcut'	[wezwado tegwatsits] 2, [weswadox tegwaxtsits]
'he teaches him'	[negim keginamwadʒəł] 2
'he tells a story'	[adugwit] 4, $[adugwe]$
'he tells him'	[təlimadʒɪļ]
'he tells it'	[tɛlud], [tɛlək]
'he tells lies'	[uskabɛwɪtʰ]
'he tells me off'	[kɛzigawmɪt ^h], [ɪzigawmit]
'he tells stories'	[adugudidʒ1k ^h] 2
'he tells two stories'	[aduw1d31k ^h]
'he thinks about him'	[ən²kideʲlmadʒəl]
'he thinks about it'	[ən [?] kidɛtk ^h]
'he thinks of it'	[wi ^j an ² kidɛtk ^h]
'he understands him'	[nɛstuwadʒəl̯]
'he understands me'	[nestuwit] 2
'he unties him'	[apkwaladʒəł]
'he wakes up'	[togwi ^j ɛt], [towi ^j ɛt ^h], [tugwi ^j ɛd], [tugwi ^j ɛt]
'he walks around (the house)'	[kjutowazıt] 3, [kuktowazıt], [utowazıt]
'he whistles'	[mgwazim ² gwet], [p1m ² gwazimgwe]
'he works'	[əlugwɪt], [elegwɪt], [elegwɛt]
'he's alive'	[imad31th], [negəm imad31th] 2
'he's approaching'	[wɪtʃkujɪt], [wɪtʃkujɪt ^ʰ]
'he's arguing'	[kigadʒazi]
'he's asleep'	[nɛbat], [nɛɡəm nɛbat] 2
'he's been somewhere'	[wedzi ^j e]
'he's big'	[mɛskɪļkʰ]

'he's bringing his pack' 'he's building a house' 'he's building a house for me' 'he's building his house' 'he's come toward us' 'he's finished sleeping' 'he's getting nearer' 'he's going ahead' 'he's going to boil it' 'he's gone astray altogether' 'he's got it' 'he's hunting for it' 'he's hunting for them (pl.)' 'he's in good health' 'he's inside' 'he's kind of hungry' 'he's kind to him' 'he's licking him' 'he's locked in' 'he's looking for it' 'he's outside' 'he's pretty' 'he's quieting down' 'he's short' 'he's straying' 'he's talking' 'he's the skipper' 'he's vexed' 'he's well'

[wit[kwalet], [wit[kwale] [elduwadz] [wig ɛlduwatf] 4 [wig ɛldəwatʃ], [wig ɛlduwatʃ] 2, [wiɛlduwac] [wickwasin] [kiskuzit] 2 [witfkujet] [nigan], [iganazīt^h], [iganazīt], [iganazīd] [widʒawmadɔ] [kiskada], [kiskadax] [kɛkunk^h], [kɛkun[?]k] [kedanad31], [ketanad31] [kɛdanadʒi] 2 [welejik^h], [tadʒigeg] [pisit] [mimelit] [gəsaladʒ1], [əsaladʒəl] [muckomad3ə]] [pisi], [pisit] 2 [kwillkh] [kwidʒimu wikh] 2 [ɛluzitʃinəm] [wəntayajık] 3, [wəntayajı], [wəntayaji] [tegwaytfizit], [tegwatfizit], [tegwatfizit] [kiskad] [edlewisto] [skiblewit] 2 [wegajik^h] 2 [wɛlɛk], [wəlɛk^h]

'head boss (on a boat)'	[unudʒɪt] 5
'heart'	[kamlamən] 2, [ənkamlamən], [kəmlamun] 2, [kumlamun]
'hearts'	[kumlamun]
'heat'	[kɛdabadu]
'heaven'	[wasok]
'heavy'	[kesku], [keskuk]
'heel'	[qən], [nɣun], [nhun̥], [mhən], [ən²ɣun]
'heels'	[ntqontk ^h]
'hen'	[kigliwɪtʃ], [skwɛə]
'her brother'	[wɛləmusəl]
'her brother-in-law'	[nɛləmus]
'her husband'	[wigmadʒil] 2
'her husbands'	[nigəmatʃkʰ]
'here'	[ula] 4
'herring'	[alɛntʃ]
'herrings'	[alantʃik ^h]
'hiding'	[imgwa]
'him'	[nɛgəm]
'his beard'	[ukidul]
'his belt'	[ukɪspɪzun]
'his breath'	[ukamlamidın]
'his brother'	[wɛdʒɪgədidɪdl], [wɪdʒɪgədidɪdəl̯] 2
'his brother-in-law'	[umaxtaməl], [umaktan], [maktaməl]
'his cabin'	[nɛgəm wik ^h] 2
'his ear'	[nɛgəm siduwayəŋ]
'his elbow'	[uskənigɪn]
'his father'	[nɛɡəm ukwɪutʃ]] 2
'his foot'	[ukwat]
'his forehead'	[uktogwejən], [negəm uhtogwıdʒən] 2

'his godfather'	[nɛgəm kɛkunidʒəl]
'his godson'	[ukɛkwɪntʃɪļ], [ukɛkwɪntʃəl̯]
'his hand'	[upɪdŋ]
'his head'	[unədʒi] 2
'his heart'	[ukamlamən]
'his home'	[wigitʃ] 2
'his house'	[ogwom]
'his joints'	[ən²kıskaj] 4
'his leg'	[kwadzigəņ], [ukwadzigəņ] 2
'his mother'	[ukwizɪļ], [ukwidʒəļ]
'his mouth'	[nɛgəm uktun] 2
'his nose'	[u <code>xsishun</code>]
'his older sister'	[umɪs]
'his older sisters'	[umɪsl], [umisl]
'his pipe'	[udəmahan], [udəma?an] 4, [udəmayan], [udəmaan], [nɛgəm udəma?an̥]
'his pipes'	[udəma?an²kʰ] 2
'his rib'	[negom pigaʔan], [negəm upigaʔaŋ]
'his ribs'	[upiga?an]
'his shoes'	[umuksn²kʰ]
'his shoulders'	[uktļmayan], [əxtļma?an]
'his skin'	[umegenəm], [uməgegɪŋ], [uməgegenəm]
'his slide'	[utabayan]
'his slides'	[tabayanəməl], [uktabayanəməl]
'his soap'	[sıspanigınəməl], [uxsıspanigınəməl]
'his son'	[kwisl], [kwɪs], [əkwɪskʰ]
'his son-in-law'	[kluzugul], [klusgwəl]
'his sons'	[ukwısk ^h]
'his sons-in-law'	[ukluzək ^h]
'hoe'	[əlgɛgɪņ] 2

'hold him up'	[tʃidun] 3
'holding on tight'	[məl [,] gən], [məlgən̈]
'hook'	[kəgən], [əm²kəgən]
'hooks'	[kəgən]
'horse'	[tɛzɪbo]
'horses'	[tɛzɪbək ^h]
'horse house'	[tezibowogwom]
'house'	[wındʒidəm], [wındʒigwam], [wındʒigwəm], [wındʒigwəm], [wigwam], [wigwam]
'houses'	[wɪndʒigwəməl]
'how'	[taleg1s] 2, [taleg1sk]
'how's the tide?'	[talpa], [talpah], [tadutək ^h], [dadutek]
'hungry'	[kɛwizıņ]
'hunting grounds'	[ɛtldugəlidik], [ɛtldugəli]
'husband'	[nigəmatʃ]
'hut'	[hepte]
'I am big'	[mɛskiləm], [mɛskɪlkʰ]
'I am blind'	[negabigwaj] 2, [negabigwaj]
'I am good'	[kɛlul], [ɛluk], [ɪlłkaluzɪn], [ill̥kɛluzɪŋ]
'I am heavy'	[kɛskul] 2
'I am here'	[tɛklejawi], [klejawi]
'I am hungry'	[nint kewizın] 2
'I am ready'	[iskadʒi ^j i]
'I am red'	[mɛgwiʲi]
'I am short'	[tegwaxtsije]
'I am small'	[aptʃidʒi]
'I am that size'	[nadɛll̥²kɪl̥], [nadɪlłkɪl], [nadɛlłkɪl̥]
'I annoy him'	[ɛdulogwɛj] 2, [kɛdulogwɛj], [kɛdulogwej]
'I arrive/come'	[nin pɛgisɪn] 2, [pegisɪn], [pɛgisɪn], [pɛgizin], [pɛgisɪŋ], [pɛgisɪn [?] kʰ], [ɛgisɪŋ]

'I ask for it' 'I ask for it for him' 'I ask for it myself' 'I beat him' 'I beat/hit it' 'I belong here' 'I bet you' 'I bet you ten dollars' 'I bite it' 'I break it (by dropping it)' 'I breathe' 'I bring him' 'I bring it' 'I broke it off' 'I brought it' 'I build a house' 'I build a house for him' 'I build a house for someone' 'I call for it' 'I can see the boat' 'I carry it' 'I come' 'I come in' 'I come too' 'I cough' 'I cover up' 'I cut his head off'

'I don't know'

[nin pulodum] 2, [wegutma], [wigudmay], [kwegudm] [wegudəmay] [wegudmaj] 2 [matej1k^h], [maxteg], [matej1k] [nukteen] 3, [nukteen], [nuktehen] [kle] 3, [klejawe] [igadu], [igadul] 2, [igadul], [igadəl] [igadadinit]] 2, [igadadinit]] [pa?adɔ], [paqadɔ] [temtesk^h], [temtesk], [temtes] [kamlami] 3, [əntkamlami] [nin witfkwalək^h] 2, [witfkwalik^h], [witfkwalɛ], [witfkwalə] [tfigwadə] [temegej] 2, [temege] 2, [nin temege] 2 [pegisulk^h] [ɛwigal], [ɛwigan], [ɛldu], [wig ɛldu] 2, [wig ɛldah] 4, [ɛldah], [wig ɛlda] 2 [ɛldu], [nin ɛldah] 2, [nin ɛlday] [ɛlduwatʃ], [wig ɛlduwətʃ] 2 [wigudəm] [nemidu] [witfkwadu] [pegism] [nin piskwa] 2, [nin piskwəj] 2 [wid3edikh] [no?omi] 2 [ən[?]qənozi] [timkwideg] [mugidʒidu] 2

'I eat' 'I finished sleeping' [kiskuzi] 'I get into a boat' [tebasi] 'I get up' 'I go inside' 'I go out' 'I go with him' [widzeok^h] 'I got it' 'I grab it' 'I grow up' [kizigwej] 'I had my rest' 'I have a big head' 'I have a small head' 'I have breakfast' 'I have fun' [pabi] 'I have it' 'I hear something' 'I hinder him' 'I hit him' [ta?amək^h] 'I hit it' [taxtəm] 'I hold him up' [tʃidun[?]k^h] 'I hold onto him' 'I hold you' [kɛlnu]] 'I hunt' 'I hurry up' 'I hurt it (inanimate)' [atskeno] 'I hurt them' 'I itch' [kɛzıbije] 'I jump'

[midʒəzi], [nin midʒəsi] 2 [mdʒazi], [nɪmtʃazi] [nin pɪdʒazi] 2, [pidʒazi] [tujej], [tɛwje^j] [kɛkunəm], [kɛkunə], [kɛkunəm] [kohwaluk^h], [kohwalək] [kisijadlasm1] 2 [magatpaj], [magatpaj], [mayatpaj] [aptʃitʃnunɔdʒi], [ni aptʃitʃnunɔdʒi] 2, [aptʃitʃunudʒi] [kitpugewe], [eskitpugewe] [kɛkunəm], [nin kɛkunəm] 2, [nudəmah] [nudəm], [nadəwe nudəm] 2 [wedemejath] [mɛlłkın[?]k^h], [məlłkənk^h] [kɛdantɛgɛ] 2, [tan[?]tegɛ] [winpazi], [nin winpazi] 2 [at[ikenotko]] [wenayaje], [na?aje]

'I jump out at someone'	[kwədajah], [kwədajaχ]
'I keep hold of anything'	[kɛlnəm], [kəlnəm]
'I kick it'	[tɪktɪskəm]
'I kill him'	[nejba]
'I kill it'	[nebadu], [ebadʒəl]
'I killed him'	[nebadax], [nebada]
'I kiss'	[wıskahələmpk ^h]
'I knock it down'	[kuwadu]
'I know'	[kedʒik], [kedʒi], [ɪdʒɪdo], [kɛdʒidu]
'I know him'	[kɛdʒi]
'I know it'	[gɪdʒɪdo]
ʻI know you'	[kɛdʒik]
'I learn'	[kinamazi], [ɛginamazi]
'I lie down'	[əlismazi] 2, [ɛlizmazi]
'I like him'	[kesal ⁹ kik]
'I like him a lot'	[kɛzisallkh] 2, [keziksal?k] 2
'I lock it'	[apəsxam]
'I made it'	[kızıdu] 2, [ɛwigadəm]
'I make it slide'	[isadidʒado]
'I make noise'	[kɛzigawe] 2
'I name him'	[wid1kh]
'I name it'	[widəm] 2
'I play'	[mɛlazi], [mɛlasi]
'I plug it up'	[kɛbidʒə?əm]
'I pray'	[alazudɛmɑj]
'I put it on'	[nazadu]
'I put those under there'	[pɪdɪkəl]
'I rest'	[alasmi]
'I return'	[abadʒasi]

'I scoop'	[nanige ^j h], [na?anige]
'I scrape him'	[nalsugutk ^h], [nasiguk ^h]
'I scrape it'	[nasigudəm]
'I see'	[nɛmidaj]
'I see the boat'	[nɛmidu]
'I see the house'	[nemidu wındʒigwəm] 2
'I shoot'	[peskəm] 2
'I sink myself'	[kɛdabazi]
'I sit'	[ebazi], [basi]
'I sleep'	[nɛbaj] 2
'I slide down'	[nɛsiɪlijohwaj], [nɪzɪjohwaj]
'I slide him along'	[pɛmadidʒalɨk]
'I sling it over'	[wickidzegejih]
'I slow him down/stop him'	[nɛntɣalıkʰ]
'I smash it up'	[sewitem]
'I smell it'	[nin pɛzɛdu] 2
'I smoke'	[kɪdəmaj] 3
'I start'	[nahej] 3
'I start to float'	[pohtabaj], [poxtabaj], [poxtabaj]
'I steal him'	[kɛmudnalłkʰ]
'I steal it'	[kemudnadəm]
'I steal it (animate)'	[kɛmudnal̥²k]
'I stop'	[ninthazi], [1n²hɑzi]
'I stop him'	[ənxalık ^h]
'I stop it'	[əntxadu]
'I stop short'	[nenthazi], [nɛn²hɑzi], [nın²ɑazi]
'I stop work'	[punləgwej]
'I stretch'	[sīptawazi]
'I stretch him'	[nsıptayalık ^h], [sıptahadi]

'I strike him'	[pɛtej], [pɪdekʰ], [pɪte], [pɛtɛk], [tɑɑməkʰ]
'I strike it'	[taqtəm], [tahtəm], [taqtəm]
'I suckle'	[nunej]
'I take it all'	[səducuwadu], [əmsəducuwadu]
'I teach'	[keginamwej] 2, [keginamwi]
'I teach him'	[keginamaχ], [nin keginamaχ]
'I tell him'	[tɛlɛm [?] k ^h], [tɛləm [?] k ^h], [nin tɛlɛm [?] k ^h] 2
'I tell you lies'	[əlu¢kabɛwɪn]
'I understand'	[ni nestə] 2, [nestə]
'I understand him'	[nestah], [nesta]
'I untie it'	[apkwadu], [nin apkwadu] 2
'I wake up'	[tugwi], [tugwiχ], [tugweja], [tugwe ^j e]
'I watch it'	[əntkampk ^h] 2, [əntkam]
'I work'	[elegwej]
'I make it slide'	[nɪsədijado]
'I'm angry'	[wegajik ^h], [wegaji] 3
'I'm asleep'	[nɛbaj] 3, [neba ^j]
'I'm big'	[mɛskiln]
'I'm chasing him'	[pezugwadah] 2
'I'm doing the same thing you're doing'	[nəxtedeladegekh], [nəktedeladegekh]
'I'm from'	[nin awɪdʒi] 2
'I'm getting hungry'	[kewiem]
'I'm going to bet you'	[igadu]
'I'm grabbing it'	[kohwalık]
'I'm hungry'	[kɛwızıņ]
'I'm kind of hungry'	[mimɛlɛ]
'I'm ready'	[k1skadzi ^j i]
'I'm under it'	[pɪsi], [bɪsi]
'I'm well'	[wɛligəm], [wəlɛɪmpkʰ], [wɛlɛji]

'I've put on a bad face'	[winegwet]
'ice'	[kumi], [mkumi], [ṃkumi], [əm²kumi], [əm²kumi], [əṃ²kumi]
'if you get up'	[lmdʒazın] 2, [əlɪmdʒazın]
'in good shape'	[ulde]4, [ulte]
'in the middle of something'	[megwaj1k ^h]
'in the name of the Father' (making the cross across the body)	[tanteluwizi], [tantelewizɪt], [antelewizɪt]
'in the spring'	[sɪgunək ^h]
'Indigenous person'	[əlnu] 2
'Indian paddle'	[əlnuwibi] 2
'Indigenous people'	[əluk ^h]
'Indigenous woman'	[lnus], [lnusk], [əlnusk ^h]
'Indigenous girl'	[lnuskwɪtʃ]
'inside'	[lamejguompk ejkh], [lameguomk ejkh] 2, [lamigəmp]
'inside of the hand'	[lamiltfe], [lamiltfan], [wanamılltfa?an]
'iron'	[hazewo], [qazewəx]
'is that your brother?'	[kil wɪdʒɪgədijə] 2
'island'	[manigu]
'islands'	[manɪgul] 2
'it (animate) smells'	[ɪzəlɛt]
'it is short'	[tegwaxtsitskh] 3
'it approaches'	[wɪtʃkuja]
'it barks'	[wɛgwila]
'it (inanimate) is under it'	[pid1k] 2, [pis1t]
'it (inanimate) smells'	[kɛslɛk]
'it (long object) snapped'(context: drop a pencil and it breaks)	[tɛmtɛsɪn̥]
'it breaks'	[pesipazıt]
'it breaks'	[sewistogwit]

(context: boat on the rocks)	
'it broke off'	[temazigikh] 2
'it comes back'	[abədʒazıt], [bədʒazıt], [abədʒazık ^h]
'it comes inside'	[bɪdʒipɪdɪk ^h], [pɛdʒibidɛ]
'it falls down'	[tɛzın ² kax]
'it falls in a hole'	[pidʒija] 2
'it gets quiet'	[wənta?əge], [wənta?e] 2, [wəntahaind], [ən²tahajind]
'it grows'	[mimadʒi]
'it is big'	[mɛskɪll̥kʰ]
'it is cloudy'	[alugwijax] 2
'it is hard'	[mɛllkekh], [mɛllke]
'it is heavy'	[kɛskuk], [kɛskukʰ], [kɪskukʰ]
'it is hot'	[ɛptɪkʰ], [əptɪk]
'it is inside'	[pid1k ^h]
'it is itchy'	[kɛzɪbijah]
'it is pretty'	[kɛzikəlulkʰ]
'it (the landscape) is pretty'	[kɛluzık], [kɛzigelulk ^h]
'it is sharp'	[kik ^h] 2
'it is small'	[aptʃitʃ], [aptʃidʒi ^j ıt], [aptʃidʒɪtʃk ^h]
'it is stormy'	[ɛdunaɣ]
'it is that size'	[nadɛlłkik ^h]
'it is there'	[nadel IdIk] 2
'it is too much'	[asamijah], [nesamija], [ɛwsamija], [wesamija]
'it is under it'	[pɪdɛk], [pidɪk ^h] 2
'it is very pretty'	[kɛzi gɛluzık] 2
'it makes me itchy'	[kɛzɪpkwıkʰ]
'it sleeps'	[nɛbat ^h], [nɛgəm nɛbat] 2
'it smells'	[k1slɛpɛzuņ]
'it smokes'	[kludah] 2

'it snapped off'	[dɛmtɛzɪn²k], [temtezɪn], [tɛmtɛzɪn²kʰ], [temtesɪņ], [temptesɪņ]
'it stops'	[Inthasik ^h]
'it (the machine) stops working'	[pɨnəgwɛkʰ], [nhazikʰ], [nhazik]
'it stops working'	[pənlugwɛg], [pʊnlugwɛkʰ], [pʊnləgwɛkʰ], [pʊnləgwɛ]
'it suckles'	[nunɪt]
'it sucks'	[nunik], [nunik ^h] 3
'it takes a rest'	[adlasm1k ^h]
'it's alive'	[mimadʒɪt]
'it's in the bag'	[pɪdʒalık ^h]
'it's big'	[məskik ^h], [məskig], [mɛskig], [mɛskik] 2
'it's getting bigger'	[pəmkik]
'it's good'	[kɛlulkʰ]
'it's growing'	[mɪmadʒık ^h]
'it's heavy'	[kɛsku] 2
'it's hooked on'	[nastɪk], [nastɛ]
'it's jumping along'	[unayaja], [bemiunayaja]
'it's locked in'	[pɪdɛ]
'it's the same'	[təlijah], [telia]
'jacket'	[nazadə]
'Jack pine'	[kuwo], [kwo]
'January'	[punamwegus] 3, [punamwegus] 2, [punamwejgus]
'July'	[sɪtanewimpk ^h]
ʻjump'	[wena?ajit], [wenaqajet], [wenaəje]
'jump at anything'	[wenayəjetk ^h]
'June'	[nɪbənigus]
'kelp'	[kilpəl], [tʃəʔołsi], [tʃəhołsi], [dʒoholsi]
'kettle'	[wızutnıt], [wizudnıt] 2, [wisudnıt]
'kettle boiled'	[wɪdʒayəmijɪt]
'kettles'	[wızunidʒık ^h]

'kick it'	[tɪktɪskah]
'kill'	[nebah], [nebax]
'killed them'	[nebah]
'kind day'	[taleg1skə] 2
'kind of hungry'	[memele] 4, [mimele]
'king'	[lɛgwɪt]
'king's highway'	[elegwidew awti] 2, [elegewidew awti] 2
'kingdom'	[ɛlɛgewagi] 2
'kiss'	[sɛgaɣaləm], [usɛgaʔɛləm]
'kitten'	[mejowtʃitʃ], [mijowtʃitʃ]
'knife'	[waqan] 2
'lands to the east'	[əmtkəsn]
'last fall'	[trgrthəx], [əktrgrthə], [tɛgrthə], [əktɛgrthə] 2, [uktɛgrthə], [tɛgrthəx], [əktɛgrthəh]
'last spring'	[tɪgisɪguņ]
'last summer'	[tiginɪbɪn], [tiginɪbəŋ], [uktɪgɪnibɛŋ], [tigənibəŋ]
'leaf'	[nibi] 2
'learn itself'	[kɛinudmadi], [kɛginudəmazi], [ɛginudəmazi]
'leech'	[əsχuχ], [əsqʊ] 2
'leeches'	[skuk ^h] 3
'left side'	[padaduɛ], [padadut∫] 2
'let across (one person)'	[udamuzə]
'let across (multiple people)'	[udaməsnk ^h]
'lice'	[waguk ^h]
'like a sound'	[telltah], [tellta]
'little bird'	[tʃɪptʃidʒ], [tʃɪptʃitʃ]
'little blue fly'	[wudʒɪtʃ]
'little boy'	[badutʃ], [lbadudʒitʃ]
'little pot'	[otʃɪtʃ]
'little river'	[tʃibudʒitʃ] 2, [dʒibudʒitʃ]

'little rivers'	[tʃibudʒitʃkʰ]
'little short man'	[tegwahtsid31t]
'liver'	[uskuņ]
'living people'	[m1madzuw1no]
'lock a door with a key'	[apəsigən], [apəsxegin]
'long'	[idaχ]
'long ago'	[kisa]
'looking for him'	[ulwadʒɪl]
'looking for it'	[kwiləmın]
'loon'	[əpkwimʊ], [kwimu]
'lots of smoke'	[mɛdludɛwik], [mkludɛwik ^h]
'lots of snow'	[wastewik ^h]
'louse'	$[wak^h] 2, [wok^h]$
ʻlynx'	[abuksigən], [abuksigɪn]
'mad'	[wɛgajıkʰ]
'maggot'	[dʒudʒitʃ] 2
'make them fight'	[wegojwad]]
'make them vex'	[wegajwadz1ł]
'male beaver'	[nuzoms]
'male cow/moose'	[windʒudija], [winjudijam], [windʒudijam] 2
'man'	[dʒinəm]
'many nostrils'	[wɪnadaamwaļ]
'maple'	[mestik ^h]
'maple sugar'	[kastijomi]
'maple tree'	[snawe] 3
'May'	[pənamwejgus], [punamwegus] 2, [unadamwegus]
'me and him (but not you) break it off'	[temegedɪtʃ]
'meat'	[wijus]
'medicine'	[ənpisun], [npizun̥], [n̥pizun̥] 2, [ənpizun̥], [pisun]

'men's clothes' 'Mi'kmaq' 'middle oars' 'milk' 'moccasin' 'moon' 'morning' 'mother' 'mother bear' 'mother-in-law' 'mountain' 'mountains' 'mouse' 'murre' 'murres' 'my (female) brother-in-law' 'my animal' 'my arms' 'my back' 'my beard' 'my belt' 'my big head' 'my boat' 'my body' 'my brain' 'my brother' 'my brother-in-law' 'my cabin' 'my ear'

[t[inəməhwan], [t[inəməhwan]] [migmah], [migmaw] [mɛgwajibi] [məlagıt]] 2 [mkəsn], [magas], [kəsn] [tepkonozip] [ɛskitpu], [skitpu] [kidʒuwo] 2, [kidʒəwo], [əkidʒuwo] 2 [nabɛsk^h] 4 [dʒugwidʒit[], [tʃugwidʒit[] [pəmdn], [pəmdın] [pəmdənk^h] [əlnuwi abukt[itf] 3, [nuwi abukt[itf] 2 [wabizigwah] [wabisik^h] 3, [wabizik^h] 2 [nıləmus], [nɛləmus] 2 [ntuwemk^h], [tuwemk^h] [pidnogom], [ənpidnogom] [pa?əm], [ən[?]pa?əm] [nidul] [ntkispizun] [mayatpaj], [menatpaj], [mayatpaj] [ni ntul] 2, [ntul], [ntulık] [ntenin], [ənteni], [ntenin] [ntəp] 2, [ntʊp], [ntʊb] [widʒigədijɛk^h] 3, [wɛzigədijɛ] [nəmaytam], [nɛmaytam], [nəmaytɛm] [nik], [ni] [nın siduwan] 2

'my elbow' 'my elder sister' 'my father' 'my fingernail' 'my fingernails' 'my foot' 'my forehead' 'my four sons' 'my friend' 'my godson' 'my grandchildren' 'my grandmother' 'my hair (pl.)' 'my hair (sg.)' 'my hand' 'my head' 'my heart' 'my heel' 'my husband' 'my husbands' 'my knee' 'my leg' 'my little cabin' 'my little house' 'my medicine' 'my mother' 'my mouth' 'my mouth is always open' 'my mouth is open'

[nuskənigən], [ni nuskənigən] 2 [kwidʒitʃ], [ən[?]kwidʒitʃ] [nut∫^h] [ənyəzi], [nyəzi] [nqozil], [ənyozil], [nthozil] [ən[?]kat], [m[?]kat] [togwidʒən], [əntogwidʒən] [newd31 n[?]kw1sk^h] 2 [nigəmat[], [meti] 2, [medi] [kəlnıgən], [ninın[?] kəlnıgən] 2 [nudʒitʃk^h] [nugumie] [nuzabun] 2 [nusabun] 2, [nusabən], [nuzabən] [ənpɪdn], [npɪdn] [ninudʒi], [nunodʒi], [ninunədʒi] [ən[?]kamlamən] [nqon], [ən²qon], [n²qən²k^h], [ən²qunk^h], [n²qunk^h][nin nigəmat[] 2, [mt[inəmən], [nt[inəmu] [tʃinəmən] [tʃigun], [mtʃigun] [ən[?]kadʒigən], [ən[?]kazigən], [ni ən[?]kadʒigə] 2, [əntkadʒigən] [nɪktʃitʃ], [dʒiktʃitʃ] [nikt[it]] 2 [nin ənpizun] 2 [ənkɪtʃ], [nkitʃ], [ən²kitʃ], [nin ən²kitʃ] 2 [əntən] 2, [ən[?]tun] [pantunebi] 3 [əntun pantedih] 2, [patedik], [pantedik], [pantunebi] 2

'my nose'	[u <code>xsishu</code> n]
'my nostril'	[witnadej], [wednade], [widnade]
'my nostrils'	[wətnadaaməl], [nadaaməl]
'my older brother'	[kısigwıt wıdʒıgədijɛh] 2
'my older sisters'	[nəmɪsk ^h]
'my pipe'	[nudəma?aņ], [nudəma?an], [nin nudəma?aņ], [nin nudəmaaņ]
'my rib'	[pigahan]
'my ribs'	[piga?ən], [pigayan]
'my sheep'	[nin ən [?] tuwen], [nin əntuwe ⁱ n] 2, [ən [?] tuwe ⁱ n]
'my shoes'	[ni nəmuksn [?] k ^h]
'my shoulder'	[tlma?ən], [əntlmahan]
'my shoulders'	[tlmayan [?] k ^h], [tlma?ən]
'my sibling'	[wɪdʒɪgədijɛh]
'my skin'	[məgegenəm], [məgegenəm], [məkekenəm]
'my snowshoe'	[taqəmk ^h], [əntahəmk ^h], [mtahəm]
'my soap'	[sıspanigənəm], [sıspanigənəm]
'my sons-in-law'	[nkluzuk ^h]
'my stick'	[kumudʒəm̥]
'my sticks'	[kəmudʒəməl̯]
'my teeth'	[nibɪd]]
'my tooth'	[nɛbɪt], [nɛbɪt ^h], [nɛbit]
'my whiskers'	[nidul]
'my younger sister'	[kwedʒitʃkʰ], [kweʲdʒitʃ], [n²kwedʒitʃ]
'my younger sisters'	[kwedʒitʃk ^h]
'near kins'	[wɪdʒɨwagwədijɛkʰ], [wɛdʒiwagudijɛkʰ]
'nephew'	[nuluks] 2
'new'	[pɛle], [pɪle]
'new rope'	[pılltuk], [pıltuk], [pıltəkʰ], [pıltukʰ], [pıltu]
'New Year's Day'	[punanewem [?] kəsən̯], [punanewemp]

'new/fresh'	[pile] 2
'next spring'	[tɪgisɪgunuk ^h]
'night'	[tɛpki]
'nineteen'	[newtinskad31] peskonad1x]
'no'	[mokwa], [mohwa]
'noise'	[kızıdewedah] 2
'noise going along'	[pemta]
'north'	[ohwadņ], [okwatn], [ohwatnu], [oqwat], [okwat] 2, [oxwat], [ohwat], [əkwatk]
'North American redstart'	[puktewsit] 2
'north pole'	[pɔktʃi]
'north wind'	[okwatk ^h] 3
'northern'	[oqwan] 2, [okwadņ] 2, [oqwatn] 2, [oxwadņ], [oqwaņ]
'noses'	[sisqun] 2
'not dry'	[muwispadenu], [mugispadeno]
'not long ago'	[kɛdʒigaw]
'not sharp/blunt'	[mugezigiknək], [mugezigiknu], [mugezigiknə]
'nothing'	[moqa?əhwej]
'November'	[toqwax], [tɛgigus]
'now'	[nuda] 3, [mədax], [mədah], [muda] 3, [nɛda]
'nut'	[ɛwɪpkʰ] 4
'oars'	[tahən] 2, [ta?an,], [tayən]
'ocean'	[ləmbuk]
'off in the water'	[abaxtu]
'old'	[sayəwe], [sayawe]
'old wild beaver'	[inamsk]
'older'	[kıziguwıt]
'older sister'	[nəmɪs]
'on earth'	[mamigegejməx], [mayamiekʰ], [mayamigɪkʰ]
'on the other side'	[hame ^j 1k ^h]

'on top'	[kegwadu]
'one and the other'	[nεgəm owe] 2, [aχala nεgəm owe], [nεgəm owε], [aχala nεgəm owε], [aχnεgəm owε]
'one dollar'	[nəhtagık], [nəwhtagık ^h] 3
'one hundred'	[keskim²kilnayan]
'one person'	[uskidʒın], [nəktedʒıt], [nəwtedʒıt], [uskidʒın]
'one son'	[nkwis], [ən²kwis], [newtedʒit nkwis] 2
'otter'	[kɛwnıkh], [kɛwnık] 2, [kɛwnıt], [kɪwnık]
'otters'	[kɛwnigax] 2
'our brother'	[wɛdʒigɪmpk ^h], [wɪzigɪmpk ^h], [wɪdʒɪgɪmpk ^h], [wɪdʒɪgɪmk ^h]
'our godfathers'	[kɛkunidʒɪkʰ]
'out in the bay'	[ləmbuktu]
'out in the ocean'	[əktanok ^h]
'outside'	[papki], [papke], [papkık ^h], [kwıdʒmֽk ^h]
'owl'	[tidikli], [tidigli]
'paddle'	[wɪnjuwibi], [kəbidan], [kəbidan]
'pair of oars'	[uktahən]
'pantry'	[pəktəshazi]
'paper'	[wigadigɪn]
'partridge'	[plawɪtʃ], [lawɪtʃ], [pəlawɪtʃ]
'partridge berries'	[wıskiman] 3, [wıskimaņ]
'partridge berry'	[wıskiman], [wıskiman]
'partridges'	[pəlawıtʃk ^h], [plawıtʃk ^h]
'path'	[awti]
'paths'	[awtil] 4, [awtił], [awtijəļ]
'people'	[skwɪdʒɪn̥] 2, [skwidʒɪn̥] 2, [skwidʒin], [skwidʒɪn], [skwɪdʒɪn], [skwɪdʒɪn²kʰ] 2, [skwɪdʒɪn̥], [skwɪdʒɪn²k], [skidʒɪn̥]
'perhaps'	[tʃɪptəkʰ]
'person'	[skwɪdʒɪn]

'pine'	[kwətʃ]
'pines'	[kwok ^h]
'pipe'	[tɛmaqan]
'pipes'	[tɛmaʔan²kʰ]
'pit'	[walam²ki], [wəlam²kıh], [wəlam²kıkʰ]
'plate'	[lasiet]
'playing cards'	[laskəgwɛ], [laskugwɛj]
'plenty of ashes'	[wɪskukʰ], [wɪsku]
'polar bear'	[wabus]
'poplar tree'	[midik], [medi], [midi] 2
'poplar trees'	[medijayamig1k]
'pot'	[wə] 2
'pots'	[wək], [wək ^h] 3, [wok ^h]
'priest'	[patlijas]
'prince'	[ɛlɛgewidʒidʒɪt]
'princess'	[ɛlɛgewiskwɪtʃ]
'puppy'	[ləmudʒɪtʃ] 2
'push off'	[pusi]
'put it down in the water'	[ɛdabadu]
'put someone to sleep'	[mpa] 4
'quarter'	[kalltiie] 2, [kaltiie], [kaltije]
'quartered an animal'	[kaltijed1k]
'quarters'	[kaltijegəl], [kalti ^j el], [kaltegə]
'queen'	[lɛgɛwisk ^h], [ɛlɛgewisk ^h] 2, [ɛlɛgewis]
'rabbit'	[labɪt], [labɪts] 4
'rain'	[pεzaχ], [pεza]
'rapids'	[hapskul], [hapsku]
'raspberries'	[kəlidax] 3, [klidax]
'raspberry'	[klidɛw] 2, [klidəw], [klidɛw]

'rat'	[abuktʃitʃ], [abʊktʃɪtʃ], [abuktʃitʃ]
'ready'	[kɛgɪskadʒijaҳ], [kɪskadʒa]
'really'	[əlba]
'red'	[megwek ^h], [megweh], [megwek], [megwe]
'red stone'	[Igwe kundew] 2, [megwe kundew] 2
'relative'	[noguməw]
'relatives'	[mogumaχ], [mogomah]
ʻrib'	[piga?an] 2, [pigaxan], [pigahən], [ənpigahən]
'ribs'	[ənpigaxan], [pigaan], [pigahən]
'rich people'	[sa?əmah]
'rich person'	[samawudi] 2
'ridge'	[pəm²dən]
'ridges'	[pəmdən ² k ^h] 2, [kəmtən ² k ^h], [pəm ² dən ² k ^h]
'right (direction)'	[inaxan], [ina?an], [inahan]
'ripe fruit'	[kısıgwegəl], [kızimanigəl]
'river'	[sɛbu], [sibu] 2, [tʃibu]
'rivers'	[sibul]
'road'	[awti] 7
'robin'	[tʃɪptʃawetʃ] 2
'robins'	[tʃɪptʃawetʃk ^h], [tʃɑwɪtʃk ^h]
'rock'	[kundejo] 3
'rocky'	[kundɛwik]
'rocky cove/rocky island'	[manapsk ^h]
'rocky coves/rocky islands'	[manapskul] 2, [manapsku]
'room'	[əlmigazi]
'rooms'	[migasil]
'rooster'	[nabejo], [nabejo], [nabejo]
'roosters'	[nabejok ^h], [nabeok ^h]
'root'	[tſibiskh] 3, [tſibəskh], [tſibisk], [tſibis]

'roots'	[tʃibʊskɨ], [uktʃibʊskl], [tʃibɨskɨ], [tʃibɨskəl], [tʃibɨskəl] 2, [tʃbuskəl], [tʃibɨskəl]
'rope'	[abi], [ababi] 2, [ababi] 2
'ropes'	[ababik ^h]
'rough'	[meduna] 2
'rough weather/storm'	[tunəxt], [tunaxt]
'rowboat'	[ən²tu]]
'rum'	[puktewie], [poktewie]
's/he breaks it (window)'	[sewiste], [sewistek ^h]
's/he broke it'	[temegɪtʃ], [temegetʃ]
's/he broke it off'	[negəm temeget]] 2
'sailboat'	[qədamozən]
'salmon (sg.)'	[plamo], [plamu]
'salmon (pl.)'	[plamok ^h]
'salt'	[saləwej]
'salt (lots of it)'	[salawɛl]
'sand'	[tıpkwaņ]
'school'	[kinamwoyuwom], [keginawogwum], [ɛginamogwəm], [eginamowəm]
'scissors (pl.)'	[təmətxigən], [təmətxaigən]
'scissors (sg.)'	[matxigɪn], [matxigɪŋ], [matxigən] 2, [matxəigən], [maxtign], [matxaigən]
'sea'	[tan], [uktan], [ktan], [uxtan]
'seabird'	[abahtugowe] 4, [abahtuwi], [abahtuwəwık ^h], [abahtugowık ^h]
'seaweed'	[kılpəl], [kılpəl] 2, [kadasko] 3, [kodasko] 2
'sees everything'	[sətkoəjnimidəx]
'September'	[madʒɔ?tuwigus] 2, [madʒɔtuwigus]
'servant girl'	[nuktoqtes], [nutoqtes]
'seven'	[əluwiganək]

'seventeen'	[nəwtiskad31l əluwigan1kh] 2
'seventy'	[əluwiganək tezinskah] 2
'sharpening stone'	[kida?an] 2
'shawl'	[puduwe], [pɪduwe], [pɪdugwɛj], [pɪdugwɛ]
'she suckles him'	[nunaladl] 2
'she's pretty'	[kɛluzɪt]
'sheep (pl.)'	[ɪtʃkələwəwtʃɪk]
'sheep (sg.)'	[tʃɪtʃkəluwəwtʃ]
'shin'	[nulu]
'shirt'	[saladʒɪl], [adlawe]
'shoe'	[windʒuksnat]
'short'	[tegwaxtʃitʃk ^h]
'short stick'	[tegwa] 2, [tegwah], [tegwaxtʃitʃʰ]
'short sticks'	[tegwaxtʃitʃkəl]
'shovel'	[halibudi]
'shovels'	[halibudi]]
'sick'	[azəgəm] 2, [azəgəm]
'sing'	[kɛdabɛgi]
'sit'	[pasi] 2
'six'	[azɛgom] 2, [asəgom]
'sixteen'	[utiskad31l azegom] 2
'sixty'	[azɛgom dezinkah] 2
'skin'	[məgegəņ]
'skins'	[məgegən [?] k ^h]
'skipper over the men'	[kibelew1ktuwadzi]
'sky'	[məsigɪs], [muzigɪsk ^h]
'sky without clouds'	[məɛɣunamu], [mɛhənamo]
'sleet'	[kumi]
'sleet falling'	[kumi neziet] 2

[tabagən], [tabaxən] 2, [təbayən], [tabayan], [tabayən]
[utabayan], [tabaxan]
[aptſitſk], [aptſitſk ^h] 3, [aptſitʃ] 2, [aptſizɪt]
[aptʃidʒɪt]
[tɛmptɛzɪn²ka]
[tludɛw], [əmtludɛw]
[mkludo], [mkludew] 2
[mteskə], [tɛskum]
[teskəmʊk ^h], [teskəmʊk], [mtɛskəmuk ^h]
[wastew] 3
[pezah], [peza]
[halibʊli], [halibəli]
[sikuwe siz1p] 2, [sikəwe siz1] 2
[pɛsa], [pɛsaɣ] 2
[aqmkh]
[sispanigin]
[nugwe]
[piskwah]
[temkwi], [temkwek ^h]
[uskənigən]
[nadowoj], [nadooj]
[mɛll̥kədɪkʰ]
[samawudı]], [samawudıl]
[ɛll̥ʔkədɪh]
[egɪn] 2, [egɪņ], [igɪņ] 3
[upigayan]
[nkluzu]
[kluzuk ^h] 3
[buktʃikʰ], [əbuktʃikʰ], [obuktʃikʰ], [ubuktʃik]

'sounds like'	[tɪl]ta]
'sour'	[wɪtʃhətʃ]
'south'	[kədesn] 2
'southward'	[sɛnuɣsaɣtıkʰ], [sɛnuɣsaɣtık]
'southwest'	[piktezik ^h]
'spark'	[saptegni], [saptegəne]
'sparrow'	[nid31pqadeg1t], [nid31phadeg1t]
'spider'	[awəwɪdʒɪt] 2
'spiders'	[awəwɪdʒɪdʒɪk], [awəkɪdʒɪdʒɪk]
'spoon'	[əmhwantʃitʃ], [əm²kwantʃitʃ]
'spring'	[sik ^h], [sek ^h], [s1k ^h] 2, [sigun]
'spring month'	[sıkəwigus] 2
'sprupce beer'	[kawatkwaboχ], [awatkwabi], [kεwatkwabi]
'spruce tree'	[kawatk ^h] 3, [kawatk ^h]
'spruce trees'	[kawatkək ^h]
'stale bread'	[sa?owoj], [saxawe], [sayawe], [sa?ewe]
'star'	[klohwojtʃ], [klohwɛtʃ], [klowowɪtʃ], [klowɪtʃ], [klogwɪtʃ] 2, [klogwɪɕ]
'stars'	[klowed3wikh] 2, [klowed3iw1kh], [klogw1d31w1k]
'stick'	[kumudʒ], [kəmudʒ], [kəmutʃ] 2
'stick you hang your kettle on'	[nabəən], [nabən]
'sticks'	[kəmudʒɪl]
'still water'	[qədaps], [qədaps], [qədapsk ^h]
'still waters'	[pudap] 2, [pudaps], [qədapsk ^h], [qədapskul]
'stone'	[kundɛo]
'stones'	[kundal], [kundal]
'stories'	[adəgwa?an [?] k ^h]
'storms'	[ɛdunaɣ]
'stove'	[pa?əzi]
'stoves'	[pa?azigɪn], [mpaazigɪņ], [paazigɪn] 2

'straight ahead'	[kunudzekli ^j e] 2
'strawberries'	[adwəm [?] kəmınt], [adwəmkomıntk ^h], [adwəm [?] kəmın [?] k]
'strawberry'	[adwəmkumın]
'string'	[ənhunɛbisun], [ənhunebisən̯], [nastaha ^j gən̯] 2, [ənhunɛbisən]
'strips used for making baskets'	[lɪptɛnigun]
'sugar/sweet'	[sɪsməhn], [sismə?ən̥], [əm²kina], [nəm²kina], [sismə?un], [nlasismə?un], [nom²kinah], [sismə?un̥]
'summer'	[nıpk ^h]
'sun'	[naguzɪt] 4, [naguze]
'sure'	[kɛdlɛwiʲiktək]
'swallow (animal)'	[kuglwales] 2
'swallows (animal)'	[kugwalesk ^h] 2
'swim along'	[pɛma]
'talk a little bit'	[kɪtʃkah], [ɪtʃka], [kɪtʃka]
'tea'	[pədewe] 2
'teacher'	[keginamwadʒi], [nɨdʒigenamwɛt], [nudʒigenamwɛt], [nudʒiginamwɛt] 2, [nudʒiginamwɛ], [nudʒiginamwɪt]
'tell someone off'	[kızigawımpk ^h] 2, [ızigawım [?] k ^h]
'that's enough'	[na dεbijaχ] 2, [na dεbija]
'the crook on the hook'	[klukewe]
'the fire is hot'	[kɛzustuwık] 2, [kəzustuwık]
'the foreman'	[skibəl]
'the ice is not hard enough'	[məlgɛnək], [wadɛməlgenək]
'the log rolls'	[teduwi ^j ɛt], [tedubi ^j ɛt]
'the north'	[oqwatk ^h] 3
'the other crowd'	[uhtəgɪk ^h]
'the other one'	[uxteg], [apəktık], [apəktık], [apəktɪ], [uxtək ^h] 2, [uxtə], [abəktəh], [apəktıh], [tɛgık], [əktegık ^h], [əktək ^h]
'the other one comes'	[abəktık ^h], [uxtəg]
'the others'	[abuktık ^h], [apəktık], [abəktık ^h]
--------------------------------------	--
'the place'	[kwɛgadi]
'the tide is rising'	[wɪtʃkaba], [pɔҳtabaҳ]
'their (any woman's) brother-in-law'	[wɛlmuzwa]], [wɛlməzəwal]
'their brother'	[wɪdʒigɪmadʒəl] 3
'their home'	[wigwam] 2
'then'	[nahej]
'there'	[nadel]
'these chairs'	[kutpudi]
'they (inanimate) are heavy'	[kɛskugəl]
'they (inanimate) are under it'	[bidɛɡəl]
'they grab him'	[kokwaladidʒəl]
'they hate it'	[pəwadʒidɛdəmidɪtʃ]
'they hate those'	[pəwadʒidɛtkəl̥], [owadʒidɛdəmididʒəl̥]
'they have him'	[kɛkunɑdɪdəļ]
'they hear a lot of noise'	[nudəmidɪtʃ]
'they hear a noise'	[nudəmidi], [nudəmidıt∫]
'they hear noises'	[nudemidɪtʃ]
'they help him'	[abɔ?ən²kık ^h], [abəwən²kık ^h], [abənwadidʒıl]
'they help them'	[abənəmwadıdʒi]
'they hide him'	[mɪmgwaladıdʒəl]
'they hide it'	[m1mgwadud1tʃ]
'they hide them'	[1mgwadudidzəl]
'they hurry up'	[wɪnpazultɪdʒɪχ], [wɪnpazultɪdʒɪh]
'they hurt him'	[atʃknejwadɪdʒəl]
'they knock them down'	[m1shunadad1]
'they knocked them over'	[nɪstegəļ]
'they look for it (a moose)'	[kɛdanadidʒəl̯]
'they look for them (animate)'	[kɛdanadidʒi]

'they hate him' [powadzidelmadidzə]] 'they broke it off' [temegedIt[], [temegedIc] 'they fall over' [padʒidʒiadidʒik] 'they grab them' [kohwaladzi], [kohwaladıdzi] 'they had that' [kɛkunəmidɪtʃ] 'they had those' [kekunmid1d3ə]] 'they hate them' [owadzidelmadzi], [ekunadidzi], [kekunadidzi] 'they're chasing him' [peteska] 'they're hunting for it' [kwiləmiditf], [kwilmidi] 'they're looking for them' [kwilmididʒəl] 'they're ready to leave' [Iskadzołtidzih] 'they're telling stories' [adugwadidʒik], [adugwadidʒik] 'thin ice' [enad31t[], [menad31t[], [ənad31t[]] 'things quieting down' [wəntaazə], [wəntahazi] 'this fall' [əthɔ] 'this morning' [sebaj] 'this summer' [nibmu] 'thread' [ababit]] 'three' [sist] 2 'three dollars' [nestajgəł], [nezajgəł] 'three people' [nesid₃i] 'three quarters' [nazıskəl kaltijel] 2, [neziskəl kal³ti³el] 2 'thrushes' [*ɛ*thəlnıs], [məthəlnıs] 'tide is falling' [pemniwadik], [pemniwadah], [patfiniwediks] 'tide is level' [kispa] 'tide rising' [poytaba], [po?taba], [pohtaba] 'tie him on' [keltapelad31]] 'tie something up' [tsibila?an] 'tie up something/anything' [elta?pell?k]

'tight' [ɛdʒɪmkegəl], [edʒɪm[?]kelə], [ɛdʒɪmkelək] 'to ambush someone' [emimgwazi], [mimgwazi], [imgwazi] 'to appear/come' [pɛgisɪn[?]k^h], [pɛgisɪŋ] 'to arrange/put in order' [mawal], [mawadu] 'to be ready' [iskadzejin], [iskadzeje] 'to be sick' [kesinugwən] 'to break something' [təmadu] 'to bring' [dzigwadu] 'to go astray' [kiskat^h] 2, [kiskat], [kisgad] 'to grow ripe' [kızigwɛk^h] 'to hinder' [wədmejah] [tkədisku] 2, [tkadisko] 3, [tiktisku] 'to kick' 'to lie' [Iluskabewi] 'to look for something' [kwilein] 'to pray for him' [alazudəmɛsɛwadʒ11] 'to ride a bicycle' [taga?əne] 'to roll' [kiltowazıt], [killtowazıt], [kiltowazıt] 'to rouse someone from sleep' [tugwal], [tugwali] 'to sew it up' [lisygon], [lisogon] 2 (context: sewing up a moccasin seam) 'to smear' [midʒigadun] 'to smear somebody up' [sewistadʒil], [sewistegəl] 'to squeal' [alewista] 2, [alewista] 'to stand' [aqmit], [hahami], [kahəmi], [kahəmit] 'to steer' [Iłkwidək], [IłkwidIk^h] 'to stop talking' [mənɛwistudık^h], [munɛwistudık^h] 'to strike' [tahəmit^h], [tamit], [kahəmit^h] 'to swim' [tkismi] 2, [kismi], [ətkismi] 'to take a shortcut' [wed3wad3it[k^h], [wed3wad3it[]] 'to teach' [eginamwet]

'to whistle'	[mpImgwazimgweji], [pImgwazimgwej], [pimgwaəmgwe] [pImgwazimgwej]				
'tobacco'	[təmawe]				
'today'	[kɪsku <code>x]</code>				
'too much for me'	[ɛwsami] 2, [ewsami] 2				
'top'	[skwıtuk], [skwiduk], [skwıtu] 2				
'toward the south'	[senuxsaxteg]				
'town'	[tʃigan], [uktʃigan]				
'trap'	[ɔ?tegən], [lɔktegən]				
'traps'	[lɔɣtegən]				
'tree'	[sto?ən]				
'tree bark' (specifically fir and spruce)	[əphwaw], [əpxwaw], [əpwaw] 2, [əpwaw]				
'truly'	[ked]]				
'turkey'	[tagali], [tagalitʃ]				
'twelve noon'	[kəntʃidabow adʒit] 2, [m²kəntʃiltabo adʒit]				
'two dollars'	[tabwajgəł]				
'two hundred'	[tabuwaskım ² kılnawan]				
'two stars'	[klogwetſk], [klogwitʃ] 2, [klogwitſk ^h], [klohuwetʃ]				
'two stories'	[adugwɪdʒɪk ^h]				
'two suns'	[naguzidʒık], [naguzıdʒık ^h]				
'under'	[lamɛk ^h], [lamɛ] 2, [lamek], [lame ^j ık ^h]				
'under arms'	[kɪktʃəlkoj] 2				
'under the chair'	[lamej kutpudi] 2, [komej kutpudi] 2				
'under your arms'	[mtʃkɛktʃəl²koj]				
'village'	[udan]				
'water'	[comwaņ], [sɨmwaŋ], [somwaŋ]				
'water boiled'	[wɪdʒaɣamija]				
'waterfall'	[hapskʰ], [kapsku]				
'waterfalls'	[apsku]]				
'wave'	[tku], [ətku]				

'waves'	[tkuk ^h] 2, [ətkuk] 2
'we break it off'	[temegek ^h] 7, [temegik ^h], [temadu temegwik ^h] 2, [temegeik ^h]
'we speak'	[keluzul]ti], [kɛlusi]
'we all come'	[pɛgizul̥tım²kʰ], [pɛgizul̥tımkʰ] 2
'we bet each other'	[igadatni], [igadadinɪtʃ], [gadadinɪtʃ]
'we broke it off'	[temegwek ^h]
'we hear you'	[nudul]
'we sleep together'	[wibɛdijɛk], [wibɛdijɛh]
'we're arguing'	[kigadʒadiʲɛ], [kigadʒadijɛkʰ] 2
'we're ready to leave'	[k1skadzəłtiws]
'we're wandering around'	[alidajeh], [alidaje]
'weasel'	[əskwus], [əskus]
'well'	[qənobadi], [ən [?] hənobadi]
'well furred'	[ulawɛluwat]
'west'	[tkəsn] 2, [ətkəsn]
'whale boat'	[welibuk ^h], [welibo], [welību]
'what'	[talawın]
'what a smell'	[tɪslɛkʰ]
'what do you call yourself'	[talawiduzın], [talawiducın]
'what happened'	[talijaχ]
'what thing'	[hokwej]
'what's that smell'	[tɛlimah], [kowəjtɪlima]
'what's your name?'	[testalawizm]
'which one'	[naduwin], [naduwen], [tegiņ]
'white owl'	[əxsine] 2, [xsine] 2
'white pine'	[wabek], [wabekuo], [kuwo], [kwo] 3
'who'	[wɛn]
'who's son'	[wɛnukwıs], [wɛnukwısə]
'who's sons'	[wɛnukwısk ^h]

'wild cat'	[wahasimeowtf]
'wind'	[dʒuzəkʰ]
'windy'	[wadʒuzək ^h], [wɪdʒuzək ^h]
'woman'	[ibit]
'women's clothes'	[ebidutapsun]
'wood cat'	[abistanewtf] 2
'wood cats'	[w1stanewtʃ1k ^h]
'wood growing'	[mimadʒɪk ^h] 2
'wood stove'	[paazigīni], [paɣazigīni]
'woodpecker'	[abəhwadʒɪt], [abowadʒɪt] 4
'working at it'	[ɛldu] 4
'wren'	[məthəlnıs] 2, [teməthəlnıs]
'yes'	[amutʃ]
'yesterday'	[ulagu]
'you all'	[kiləw]
'you all break it off'	[temegek ^h], [temegwik]
'you and I'	[kɪnu]
'you are big'	[mɛskɛln̥], [mɛskɪləmən], [mɛskil̥], [mɛskilŋ]
'you are blind'	[negabigwan], [negabigwan]
'you are good'	[kɛluzi]
'you are heavy'	[kɛskən]
'you are hungry'	[kɛwizɪn]
'you are ready'	[iskadzij1n], [k1skadzij1n]
'you are that size'	[nadɛlłkılən], [nadɛll̥kıln̥], [nadɛlłkıləmən̥]
'you arrive'	[igan], [pɛgizɪn], [kil pɛgisɪn] 4
'you belong here'	[əklejawın] 2, [uklejawın] 2, [nklejawi], [uklejawın]
'you blow at them'	[puduwadəm], [pudəwadəm]
'you break it (by dropping it)'	[tɛmtɛstun], [m²tɛstun̥]
'you break it' (context: chopped up a piece of furniture)	[sɛwistemən]

'you break it (window)'	[sewistem] 2, [sewistem]
'you breathe'	[kamlamudın], [əkamlamudım], [kamlamıŋ]
'you bring him'	[tʃikwal] 3, [tʃigwal] 4, [ki tʃigwal] 2, [witʃkwaləkh]
'you bring it'	[tʃigwadəw], [tʃkwadun]
'you're bringing it'	[witskwado] 2
'you broke it off'	[kill temegen] 2
'you brought him'	[pɛgizulut ^h]
'you build'	[kil ɛwigaņ] 2
'you come in'	[piskwaj], [kil piskwa] 2, [hil piskwa] 2
'you cough'	[noyomin]
'you cover up'	[ən²honozın]
'you dropped it'	[sewistezın]
'you eat'	[kıl midʒəsıŋ] 2
'you expect to see somebody/something'	[ɛskibɛdo], [əskibɛdo]
'you frighten me'	[kɛdajwɪmpk ^h] 2
'you get up'	[ləmdʒazi] 3, [lɪmtʃazɪt], [lɪmdʒazi], [ləmdʒazi]
'you go'	[kil lijɛ] 2
'you go out'	[tujɛ]
'you go with him'	[kil wıdʒijo] 2, [wıdʒejo], [widʒejo]
'you got it'	[kɛkunəmən] 3, [kɛkunəməŋ]
'you grab it'	[kohwal], [kowal], [kohwal] 2
'you grow up'	[kızıgwɛŋ]
'you have a bald head'	[mɛgwadatpaŋ]
'you have a big head'	[ma?atpan]
'you have it'	[kɛkunəməŋ]
'you hear it'	[kil nudəmən] 2
'you hear someone'	[nudax]
'you hear them'	[nudat], [ninudayık ^h]
'you hide away from him'	[mεmkwazıktah], [mgwazıktaχ]

'you hit him'	[ta?amit ^h]
'you hold me'	[kɛlnɪn]
'you hold onto him'	[məl ³ gən]
'you hunt'	[kɛdantegɪn]
'you hurry up'	[winpazin]
'you itch'	[kɛzɪbijɛn]
'you jump'	[una?aje] 2
'you keep ahold of it'	[kəlnɛn]
'you kick him'	[tkədɪsku]
'you kick it'	[tıktıskəmən]
'you kill it'	[nebadun]
'you killed'	[nebat] 2
'you kiss'	[usəgayələm]
'you kiss it'	[uskahəltəm], [wıskahəll̥təm̯]
'you knock him down'	[mɛshənadek]
'you knock it down'	[m1shunade], [kuwadu], [kil ⁹ kuwadu] 2
'you knocked them (inanimate) down'	[m1shunadej1]
'you know'	[kil kedʒiduņ] 2
'you know me'	[kɛdʒiņ], [kɛdʒiʲɪŋ]
'you lick it'	[məskwaləmən]
'you lock it'	[apəsxajen], [pəsxaen], [apusxaen], [apəsxaen]
'you look for it (inanimate)'	[kwɪləm]
'you look for them (inanimate)'	[kwıləman] 3, [kwıləmən]
'you make a lot of noise'	[ɛdʒigawɛn], [kɛzigawɛŋ]
'you make him slide'	[neziowadəl], [necijowadıl]
'you make it'	[kil ɛwigadəmən̥] 2
'you make it slide'	[ɛzɛdidʒaləgwək], [isadidʒaləgwıkʰ]
'you plug it up'	[kɛbidʒə?məŋ]
'you pray'	[lazudman]

'you see' [nɛmidaņ] [wazo?ek^h], [wasohək], [wazoqwe] 'you see a light' 'you shoot' [peskəmən], [peskamən] 'you sling it over' [wickidzegin] 'you smash it up' [əwistemən] 'you smell him' [kipɛset] 'you smell it' [pɛsedun], [kil pɛzɛdun] 2 'you smoke' [kilł kidəman] 2 [kɛluzın] 2 'you speak' [kemudnej] 'you steal' 'you strike him' [pɛtit^h] 'you strike it' [taxtəmən] 'you tie it up' [kelłtapeləmən] 'you understand' [nestəmən] [kil apkwadu] 2, [apkwadu] 'you untie it' 'you wake him up' [təgwaləx] [kıduwijan⁹qənozın], [kıduwijanhonozın] 'you want to cover up' 'you want to cover up' [kɛduwikwajık^h], [ɛduwikwajık^h] 'you want to know it' [ɛdwitʃidʒidɔ] 'you're angry' [wɛgajin] 'you're big' [mɛskil] 3, [mɛskıln], [ɛskıln], [mɛskıl] 'you're coming closer' [kıkt∫azın] 'you're doing good' [wɛlaladʒɪl], [jaladuwadl], [wɛlalawadʒɪl] 'you're finished sleeping' [kıskuzın] 'you're going to bet' [igaduwi], [igaduwe] 2 'you're good' [kɛluzi] 2 'you're grabbing it' [kowadu] 'you're heavy' [kɛskul] 'you're holding on' [kɛlnık], [kɛlnık^h]

'you're kind of hungry'	[mimɛlɪn]
'you're ready'	[kıskadʒıʲın]
'you're sick'	[kesinəgwan], [kesinəgwaŋ]
'you're under it'	[pisin] 2
'you're warm'	[ɛpsi]
'you're well'	[wɛlejın]
'young bear'	[mwinitʃ] 2
'younger sister'	[kwedʒitʃ]
'your brother-in-law'	[kɛləmus], [kɪləmus]
'your two brothers'	[wɛdʒɪgədik ^h], [wɪdʒɪgədik ^h], [adʒigədik ^h], [wɪdʒɪgudik ^h]
'your beard'	[kidu]]
'your belt'	[uspizun]
'your book'	[tuwigadigm]
'your breath'	[entkamlamudıņ]
'your brother'	[wɪdʒɪgudijəx], [əksɪs], [mahtamwaļ]
'your brother-in-law'	[kəmaxtam], [kəmaxtam], [kəmaxtam]
'your elbow'	[nuskənigən] 2, [kil uskənigən] 2
'your father'	[kil kutʃ] 4
'your feet'	[kadļ]
'your food'	[kiluk], [kilu]
'your forehead'	[kil [?] togodʒən̯] 2, [əxtogojɛt], [əxtowgwɛdʒa]
'your godson'	[n²kɛkunɪt]
'your hand'	[nəmɪs], [kənuzi], [kil kunədʒi]
'your heart'	[təkamlamun]
'your husband'	[kil kigəmat∫]
'your leg'	[il əkadʒigəŋ]
'your little house'	[kil kiptʃitʃ] 2
'your medicine'	[kil ukpizun], [pizunəm] 2, [kil ukpizunəm] 2
'your mother'	[kwidʒiwo], [əkɪdʒwo], [kil əkitʃ] 4, [əkitʃ], [kil ukitʃ] 2

'your name'	[talawizm] 3
'your nose'	[sısqun], [əsısqun], [nsıshun], [sısqun]
'your nostrils'	[nadaanəm], [uknadaanəm], [uknada?anəm]
'your older sister'	[kəmɪs]
'your pipe'	[kil kudəma?aņ]
'your rib'	[ənpiga?ən], [ənpiga?an], [kil ikpiga?an] 2, [ən²pigaɣan], [ukpiga?an], [kil ukpiga?an]
'your ribs'	[piga?an̥], [kil ukpigahan̥], [ukpiga?an̥]
'your shoes'	[kil [,] kəmuksn [,] k ^h]
'your shoulders'	[xtəlmahan], [əntlmahan]
'your skin'	[məgegenəm]
'your soap'	[əxsıspanigənəm]
'your son'	[kil ikwıs] 2, [kwıs]
'your sons'	[əkwısk ^h]
'your sons-in-law'	[χkluzu], [ukluzuk ^h], [əkluzuk ^h]
'your workers'	[kənə?əbɛm], [kəna?abɛm], [kəna?abɛmp]

Appendix B: Matthew Jeddore List of Phonetic Environments

The following is a list of the phonetic environments for every consonant that occurs in Matthew's speech.

Phonetic Environments for [p]									
#_	V_V	V	V_C		V	C_C	_#		
#_a	i_a	a_k	ə_w	k_a	n_o	m_k	a_#		
#_a	i_ɛ	a_s	ə_χ	3_γ	n_u	m_k^h	m_#		
#_e	a_ə	a_t	ε_k	k_i	n[_a	m_t	a_#		
#_ə	a_i ^j	a_t∫	€_s	1_a	n[_ɛ		ə_#		
#_ε	a_o	a_k	i_t∫	l_ə	n[_i		I_#		
#_i	a_u	a_k^h	ı_h	1[_ε	n[_ı		v_#		
#_I	a_e	a_s	ı_k	1[_i	n[_u				
#_o	a_u	a_t∫	I_k^h	m_a	n²_a				
#_o	ə_a	e_k	I_q	m_a	n²_i				
#_u	3_3	ə_h	ı_t	m_I	s_a				
#_v	i_I	ə_k	ı_t∫	m_ĭ	s_a				
#_k	I_a	ə_s	u_k	m[_ε	s_ə				
#_1	u_i	ə_t∫		m[_i	s_i				
	u_I			n_a	S_I				
	u[_ə			n_i	t_a				
				n_i	t_a				
				n_i	t_u				

Phonetic Environments for [b]									
#_		V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_a	a_I	e_a	i_i	a_l	j_a		υ_#		
#_a	a_a	e_a	i_o	a_w	l_a				
#_e	a_a	e_i	i_o	a_1	1_a				
#_ə	a_i	e_I	i_u	i_1	1_i				
#_ε	a_e	ə_a	i_ʊ		m_o				
#_i	a_ə	∋_∋	i:_i		m_u				
#_I	a_e	3_£	I_Ə		m_v				
#_u	a_i	ə_i	3_I		n_a				
	a_I	ə_u	ı_i						
	a_o	ε_a	I_I						
	a_o	e_a	I_i						
	a_u	ε_i	I_0						
	a_ʊ	1_3	I_3						
	a_a	0_3	I_U						
	a_e	ε_u	o_a						
	a_ə	i_e	0_I						
	a_e	i_ə	o_u						
	a_I	i_ɛ	o_i						
	a_o	i_i	u_e						
	a_u	i_I	u_i ^j						
			u_u						

Phonetic Environments for [t]										
#_	V	V	V	C		C	V		C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	I_e	ə_h	ə_k ^h	h_a	1_o	n_ə	s_ə	n_k ^h	I_#
#_a	a_e	3_I	ə_χ	ə_n	h_e	l_o	n_e	s_ɛ	k_1	i_#
#_e	a_i	I_0	ı_h	ε_h	h_ə	1_u	n_o	s_i	k_1	ε_#
#_ə	a_I	I_3	a_k ^h	ε_k	h_e	ll_a	n_o	S_I	m_k	χ_#
#_ε	a_o	I_0	a_1	$\epsilon_k^{\rm h}$	h_o	ll_i_i	n_u	s_o	m_l	a_#
#_i	a_e	ı_u	a_n	ε_1	h_u	ll_ij	n_σ	s_o	n_]k	a_#
#_I	a_I	o[_e	a_p	i_k^h	j_1	ll_I	n[_e	s_u	n_h	e_#
#_o	e_e	o_e	a_χ	i_p	k_a	ll_o	n[_ɛ	w_a	n_k	ə_#
#_o	e_i	o_u	a_k	I_]W	k_e	ll_o	n²_a	w_e	n_l	k_#
#_u	e_I	o[_e	a_k ^h	ı_k	k_ə	ll_u	n [?] _e	w_i	n²_k	n_#
#_k	ε_a	u_a	a_l	I_n	k_e	l [?] _e	n [?] _u	W_I	n_χ	o_#
#_1	ε_ε	u_e	a_n	ı_p	k_i	1²_i	p_a	χ_a		p_#
#_ l	ε_i	u_ə	a_p	I_S	k_ı	l?[_o	p_e	χ_α		s_#
#_m	i_e	u_i	e_k ^h	ı_h	k_o	ł_a	p_ə	χ_e		u_#
	i_e	u_o	e_m	ɔ_k	k_o	ł_i	p_e	χ_ə		
	ı_a	u_o	ə_k	u_m	k_u	m_a	р_1	χ_ε		
		u[_e		u_n	k[_e	m_e	p_u	χ_ι		
				u_p	1_a	m_ə	q_a	χ_ο		
				u_k	1_a	m_e	q_a	χ[_ε		
				u_k ^h	1_e	m_I	q_e	χ_u		
					l_ə	m_I	q_ə			
					1_i	m[_e	q_e			
					l_i_i	m²_ε	q_u			
					1_i ^j	n_a	s_a			
					1_I	n_a	s_a			
					<u></u> 1_I	n_e	s_e			

Phonetic Environments for [d]									
#_		V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_a	a_a	e_i	i_u	a_l	l_a	m_ņ	a_#		
#_ə	a_e	e_I	1_]a	a_ļ	1_e		a_#		
#_ε	a_ə	ə_a	ı_a	a_l	l_ə		ε_#		
	a_ɛ	ə_e	ı_e	a_w	1_ε		u_#		
	a_i	ə_i	I_9	a_ņ	1_u				
	a_i ^j	ə_I	ı_i	I_1	m_ə				
	a_I	ə_u	I_I	e_l	m_I				
	a_i	ε_a	I_O	e_1	m[_e				
	a_o	ε_e	I_u	ə_m	m²_ə				
	a_ɔ	6_3	o_a	ε_1	n_a				
	a_u	ε_i	o_9	ε_n	n_e				
	a[_ɛ	ε_I	o_u	i_n	n_ə				
	a_a	e_0	o_a	i_ņ	n_e				
	a_a	€_u	o_a	I_n	n_i				
	a_e	i_a	u_a	I_ņ	n_i ^j				
	a_ə	i_e	u_a	u_m	n_I				
	a_e	i_e ^j	u_ə	u_n	n_u				
	a_i	i_ə	u_e						
	a_i	i_e	u_i						
	a_o	i_i	u_I						
	a_o	i_I	u_o						
	a_u	i_o	u_o						
	e_a	i_o	u_u						
	e_e	1_E							
	e_u								

			Pho	netic Env	ironments	for [k]			
#_	V_V	V	C		C	V		C_C	_#
#_a	a_ɔ	a_l	ı_t	¢_a	lł_a	m²_a	p_I	t_w	I_#
#_a	e_e	a_t	ı_t∫	ေ့ခ	lł_a	m [?] _e	p_o	p_w	1?_#
#_e	e_I	e_]s	I_W	e_i	lł_ə	m²_ə	s_a	s_w	i_#
#_ə	e_u	ə_]t	i_p	6_0	lł_i	m²_i	s_a	s_l	e_#
#_e	ə_a	ə_l	i_w	h[_i	1 ł_ 1	m²_1	s_e	s_ł	ε_#
#_i	ə_a	ə_s	o_w	j_ə	lł[_u	m²_o	s_ə	t∫_l	n²_#
#_I	ə_e	ə_t	o_t	j[_u	l²_ə	m²_u	s_e	t∫_n	ə_#
#_j	ə_i	ə_w	o_t∫	l_a	1²_i	m²_u	s_i	t∫_w	l;_#
#_1	ə_I	ε_1	ĵ_₩	l_ə	1²_o	n_a	S_I	s_l	u_#
#_m	6_3	ε_t∫	u_k	1_o	l ₅ [_ə	n_e	s_i	¢_w	t∫_#
#_o	ε_u	ε_w	u_l	lृ[_a	l_a	n_i	s_o	h_t	m_ #
#_o	ε[_u	i_1	u_n	ļ[_ə	ł_i	n_I	s_u	h_w	a_#
#_t	i_a	i_n	u_p	1[_ε	m_]e	n[_e	t_a	ł_w	e_#
#_u	i_ə	i_s	u_s	1[_i	m_e	n[_ɛ	t_ə	m_l	i_#
#_w	i_ɛ	i_t	u_t	l[_u	m_ə	n²_a	t_I	m_w	1Ĵ\$_#
	i_o	i_t∫	u_t∫	ll_e	m_i	n²_a	t_o	m [?] _w	o_#
	i_u	i_w	u_w	ll_ə	m_I	n²_ə	t_u	n_l	o_#
	I_9	I_S	ʊ_t	ll_ε	m_o	n²_ɛ	t[_ε	n_w	t_#
	I_U			ll_ii	m_u	n²_i	t∫_a	n²_w	s_#
	u_a			ll_I	m_u	'n²_i	t∫_ə	p_w	ʊ_#
	u_a			ll̥²_a	m_u	n²_ı	t∫_ε	χ_1	
	u_e			ll [,] ə	m[_e	n²[_ə	t∫_u		
	u_i			lĵ,_9	m[_ε	p_e			
	u_I			l₿, [−] I	m[_I	p_e			
						p_i			

Phonetic Environments for [k ^h]									
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_	#			
					u_#	t∫_#			
					ຈ_#	p_#			
					i_#	n_#			
					I_#	t_#			
					ε_#	s_#			
					e_#	m_#			
					o_#	n²_#			
					ວ_#	ł_#			
					a_#	<u></u>]?_#			
					a_#	ņ?_#			
					υ_#	l i_ #			
					m²_#	ņ?_#			
					ll_#	w_#			
					<u>l</u> _#	j_#			
					1_#	m_ #			

	Phonetic Environments for [g]										
#_		V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#				
#_a	a_a	ə_I	i_I	a_w	m[_u	m_w	e_#				
#_ə	a_ɛ	ວ_ ວ	i_o	i_w	j_ə	m²_w	ə_#				
#_ε	a_I	€_a	i_o	e_w	j_u	s_w	ε_#				
#_I	a_o	ε_e	i_u	ə_w	l_e	w_w	i_#				
	a_u	6_3	ı_a	€_W	l_ə						
	a_e	3_3	I_9	o_w	1_ε						
	a_i	ε_i	3_I	a_w	1_I						
	a_u	ε_i ^j	ı_i	i_m	l²_ə						
	a ^j _ə	1_3	I_I	i_ņ	s_a						
	e_a	6_3	ı_u	o_w							
	e_e	e_3	0_0	I_m							
	e_e ^j	€_u	o_3	I_n							
	e_ə	i_]ɛ	o_u	I_W							
	e_ɛ	i_]I	u_a	u_w							
	e_i	i_a	u_e								
	e_I	i_a	u_ə								
	e_i	i_e	u_e								
	e_o	i_e ^j	u_i								
	e_u	i_ə	u_I								
	ə_a	i_ɛ	u_o								
	ə_e	i_i	u_u								
	ခ_ခ										

		Phonetic Envir	onments for [q]		
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#
#_ə	a_ə	a_m	p_a		
#_o	o_a	o_t	s_u		
#_a	a_o	o_w	ł_ə		
	a_o	a_m	n_o		
	a_a	ɔ_w	n²_o		
	ర_ర		χ_၁		
			s_u		
			ņ_ɔ		
			n²_ə		
			n²_u		
			t_o		

Phonetic Environments for [?]										
#_	V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#				
	a_a	a_o	a_m							
	a_a	ə_0	a_p							
	a_e	o_ə	o_m							
	a_ə	٥_٥	o_t							
	a_ɛ	o_e	o_w							
	a_o	ວ_ə								
	a_a	ວ_ວ								
	a_a	o_u								
	a_ə									

		Pho	onetic Envir	onments for	· [h]		
#_	V_	V	V_C	C_V		C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	a_ə	a_s	6_3	n²_o	m_w	a_#
#_a	a_o	e_e	a_t	e_o	p_a	p_w	ə_#
#_e	a_a	o_ə	a_t	¢_u	s_a	w_t	a_#
#_ɛ	a_a ^j	0_0	a_t∫	ł_ə	s_ə		u_#
#_i	a_e	o_a	ລ_ເ	m_o	s_u		e_#
#_o	a_ə	<u>ə_</u> o	ə_t	n_a	t_a		e ^j _#
	a_a	ວ_ວ	o_t	n_o	t_a		ε_#
	a_a^j	o_u	o_w	n_u	t_ə		i_#
			o_n	n²_a	t_o		I_#
			o_t	n²_ə	t∫_ə		1_#
			o_w				o_#
			u_t				

Phonetic Environments for [y]										
#_	V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#				
	a_a	a_ə								
	a_a	a_o								
	a_ə	o_0								
	a_I	o_3								
	a_o	o_u								
	a_a	ວ_ວ								
	a_a									

	Phonetic Environments for [χ]										
#_	V_V	V_	<u>_</u> C	C_V		C_C	_#				
#_k	a_a	a_]k	ə_s	¢_u	s_a	p_w	a_#				
#_s	a_a	a_l	ə_t	n_a	s_ə	s_q	a_#				
#_t	a_ə	a_n	ı_]t	n_a	s_u		ຈ_#				
	a_a	a_s	o_t	n_o	t_a		ε_#				
	a_a	a_t	o_w	n_o	t_ə		i_#				
	a_ə	a_t∫	u_s	n_u	t_i		I_#				
	0_0	u_t	o_s	n²_u			1_#				
		a_s	o_t				o_#				
		a_t	ɔ_t∫				o_#				
		a_t∫	o_w				u_#				

			Phoneti	c Enviro	nments f	or [s]			
#_	V_	V		V_C		C	V	C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	ε[_a	a_k	ε_k	1_l	w_i	1_u	h_k	u_#
#_a	a_ə	ε[_ι	a_m	ϵ_k^h	I_ļ	χ_a	m_ə	n_k	a_#
#_e	a_ɛ	i_a	a_t	ε_l	I_m	h_i	m_i	k_n	e_#
#_ε	a_i	i_ə	a_t∫	ε_t	I_n	h_1	n_e	k_ņ²	ε_#
#_i	a_I	i_ɛ	a_k	ε_χ	I_n ⁹	j_1	n_I	m_h	i_#
#_I	a_u	i_i	a_t	i_k	г_р	j[_I	n[_i	m_k	I_#
#_i	a_a	i_i ^j	e_k	i_k^h	I_q	k_a	p_a	m_k ^h	i_#
#_k	a_i	i_I	e_k ^h	i_1	ı_t	k_e	p_i	m[_i	k_#
#_n	a_i	i_o	e_n	i_ļ	Ι_χ	k_ı	p_u	n_k	m_#
#_o	a_o	i_u	e_t	i_m	o_t	k_i	w_a	p_k	n_#
#_t	e_a	i_v	e_w	i_m	o_n	k_u	W_I	p_k ^h	p_#
#_u	e_i	ı_a	ə_h	i_n [?]	u_g	k[_i	χ_i		t_#
#_w	e_I	I_9	ə_k	i_p	u_h	l_ə	χ_Ι		u_#
	e[_i	ı_i	ə_k ^h	i_t	u_k	1_ε	χ_k		
	ə_a	I_I	ə_n	i_χ	u_k^h	1_i			
	ວ_ວ	I_U	ə_ņ	i_χ	u_n				
	ə_i	o_9	ə_q	I_g	u_p				
	ə_I	ວ_ອ	ə_t	ı_h	u_t				
	ε_a	o_i	ə_χ	ı_k	u_χ				
	ε_e	u_a	ε_h	I_k^h	v_k				
	3_3	u_ə							
	ε_i	u_e							
	ε_ι	u_i							

]	Phonetic En	vironments f	or [z]		
#_		V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#
#_i	a_ə	e_i	I_ə	€_W	j_I		
	a_ɛ	e_I	ı_i	i_m			
	a_i	e_u	I_I	u_w			
	a_I	ə_i	ı_u				
	a_i	ə_u	I_9				
	a_u	ε_a	o_ə				
	a_a	3_3	o_i				
	a_ə	€_i	0_I				
	a_e	£_1	o_i				
	a_i	ε_u	u_a				
	a_i	i_a	u_a				
	a_i	i_ə	u_e				
	a_o	i_u	u_ə				
	a_o	i_a	u_i				
	a_u	i_i	u_I				
	e_a	i_I	u_o				
		i_u	u_u				
		I_a	u:_1				

Phonetic Environments for [6]										
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#					
#_o	a_i	ı_k	h_u		I_#					
#_w	€_i	ə_k			i_#					
	i_I	u_k			u_#					
	o_ə	ə_h								
	u_a	ə_χ								
	u_r	ε_k								
		i_k								
		u_h								

Phonetic Environments for [z]										
#_	V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#				
	a_i	ı_i	u_w			e_#				
	∋_⊃	I_I								
	ə_i	0_1								
	ε_i	u_e								
	٤_١	u_ə								
	i_i	u_i								
	i_1	u_u								
	i_u									

		Ph	onetic Enviro	onment for	[tʃ]		
#_	V_	V_V		C	V	C_C	_#
#_a	a_ə	1_]i	I_k ^h	p_a	m_a	m_k	i_#
#_a	a_i	ı_i	i_k ^h	p_i	m_i		e_#
#_ə	a_o	I_U	e_k ^h	h_i	m_I		a_#
#_i	a_i	3_0	a_k	h_u	k_ə		a_#
#_I	i_a	0_I	a_k ^h	k_a	n_ə		ə_#
#_k	i_ə	3_C	a_k ^h	k_ə	n_i		ε_#
#_o	i_i	o_i	ε_k	k_i	n_I		I_#
#_u	i_u	o_I	i_k	k_I	p_i ^j		j_#
	i[_a	u_a	ı_k	k_u	p_I		n_#
	i[_I	u_I	i_m	l_a	p_u		p_#
			i_m	1_e	s_ɔ		m_ #
			i_n	l_l_e	W_I		u_#
			u_l	ł_a			w_#

		Phone	tic Environ	ments for [d	3]		
#_		V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#
#_i	a_a	ε_a	I_e	a_l	j_I		a_#
#_I	a_I	ε_i	I_Ə	ε_w	m_a		i_#
#_o	a_o	ε_i ^j	I_E	I_W	n_i		u_#
#_u	a_u	£_1	ı_i	i_m	n_I		
	a_a	ε_u	I_I		n_u		
	a_ə	i_a	I_ŧ		W_I		
	a_e	i_e	I_0		j_I		
	a_i	i_ə	I_u				
	a_1	i_ɛ	i_i				
	a_u	i_i	o_9				
	e_i	i_i ^j	o_i				
	e_i ^j	i_I	o_i				
	e_I	i_o	Ĵ_I				
	e_u	i_o	u_ə				
	e ^j _i	i_u	u_e				
	ə_i	ı_a	u_i				
	ə_I		u_I				

			Ph	onetic Env	vironment	ts for [w]			
#_		V_V		V_C		C_V		C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	e_a	3_0	a_m	b_a	k_a	m[_i		ε_#
#_a	a_e	ε_e	o_i ^j	a_n	¢_a	k_e	n_a		o_#
#_e	a_ɛ	3_3	0_I	a_t	d_i	k_e ^j	n_I		a_#
#_ə	a_i	ε_i	0_0	a_t∫	d_o	k_ə	n[_I		a_#
#_ε	a_I	ε_i ^j	0_3	a_m	dz_a	k_e	p_a		e_#
#_i	a_o	£_1	o_u	a_t	d3_i	k_i	q_a		ə_#
#_ i ^j	a_o	6 <u>3</u>	o[_i	e_dʒ	d3_o	k_ı	q_e		
#_I	a_a	e_3	s_a	e_s	g_]ı	k_o	s_a		
#_o	a_e	ε[_i	o_e	e_t	g_a	k_o	s_e		
#_o	a_I	i_a	3_C	ə_h	g_a	k_u	t[_I		
#_t∫	a_u	i_a	э_ і	ə_s	g_e	1_a	z_a		
#_u	e_a	i_e	ວ_ວ	ə_t	g_e ^j	1_i	χ_α		
	e_a	i_1	o_u	ə_t∫	g_ə	1[_т	χ_ε		
	e_e	i_o	u_a	ε_j	g_ɛ	m_a			
	e_ɛ	i_u	u_a	ε_k ^h	g_i	m_a			
	e_i	i[_1	u_e	ε_n	g_i ^j	m_e			
	e_I	ı_a	u_e ^j	€_S	g_I	m_ə			
	e_o	I_I	u_ə	ε_t	g_ɔ	m_e			
	ə_a	i_a	u_e	ε_t∫	h_a	m_i			
	ə_e	o_]a	u_i	i_s	h_a	m_I			
	ခ_ခ	o_a	u_i ^j	I_n	h_e	m_o			
	ə_i	o_e	u_I	o_t∫	h_ə	m_o			
	ə_I	o_ə	u_o	o_g					
	ခ_၀		u[_I						
	ε_]α								

		Phon	etic Enviror	nments for [j]		
#_	V_	V	V_C		C_V	C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	6_3	a_g	ə_t	k_u		a_#
#_I	a_e	ε_i	a_w	ε_]s	n_u		a_#
#_o	a_i	£_1	e_]k	ε_m	w_e ^j		e_#
	a_I	٥_3	e_b	ε_w	w_e		ε_#
	a_u	i_a	e_dʒ	o_ņ			o_#
	a_e	i_a	e_g	o_s			o_#
	a_ə	i_e	e_k ^h	o_t∫			
	a_e	i_ə	e_k	o_w			
	a_i	i_ɛ	e_l	0_Z			
	a_i	i_I	e_ll	o_n			
	e_a	i_o	e_w				
	e_e	3_0					
	e_I	u_a					
	e_o	u_e					
	e_u	u_e					
	ə_I	u_I					

			Phone	etic Envir	onments	for [m]				
#_		V_V			V_C		C	V	C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	ə_]i	i_i	a_l	ə_g	I_n	d_a	n_i	j_]p	o_#
#_a	a_a	ə_]o	i_u	a_p	ə_h	г_р	d_a	n[_i	1_d3	ə_#
#_d3	a_e	ə_]u	i_ʊ	a_s	ə_k	ı_t	d_e	q_e		a_#
#_e	a_ə	ə_a	I_a	a_w	\mathfrak{a}_k^h	ı_t∫	d_ɛ	q_i		I_#
#_ə	a_ɛ	ə_a:	ſ_Ĵ	a_l	ə_p	i_]k	d3_1	s_a		a_#
#_ε	a_i	ə_a	3_I	a_w	ə_p	i_g	g_a	s_i		e_#
#_g	a_I	ə_e	ı_i	e_k	ə_s	i_w	g_u	s_I		ε_#
#_h	a_o	ə_ ə	I_I	e_k ^h	ə_t	o_]p	j_ə	s_o		u_#
#_i	a_ɔ	3_£	ı_u	e_n	ə_t∫	o_k	k_e	s_u		
#_I	a_u	ə_i	o_a	e_p	ə_w	o_p	k_e	t_a		
#_k	a_a	ə_1	o_ə	e_t	ε_k	o_w	k[_o	t_a		
#_o	a_e	ə_0	o_i	ə_]g	ϵ_k^h	ɔ_] d	ļ_a	t_e		
#_o	a_ə	ə_ ວ	0_I	ə_]k	ε_p	o_k	l_a	t∫_u		
#_p	α_ε	ə_u	o_e	ə_]m	ε_t	o_l	l_ə	w_a		
#_s	a_i	ອ_ບ	ວ_ə	ə_]n	ε_t∫	o_s	1_i	w_i		
#_t	a_I	ε_a	o_i	ə_]p	i_g	u_]k	1_u	W_I		
#_t∫	a_u	€_a	u_a	ə_]s	i_p	u_k	1[_i	z_a		
#_u	e_a	e_3	u_a	ə_]t	1_dz	u_l	m[_ε	?_a		
#_w	e_e	3_3	u_e	ə_]w	I_g		m[_i	5_ə		
	e_ə	ϵ_{ϵ_j}	u_ə	ə_b	ı_k					
	e_i	ε_i	u_e	ə_d	I_k^h					
	e_I	ε_u	u_i	ə_dz						
	e_u	i_a	u_i							
	e[_i	i_a	u_I							
	ə_]ɛ	i_e	u_u							
		i_ɛ	Ω_Ι							

Phonetic Environments for [m]									
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#				
#_p		ə_k			o_#				
#_k					o_#				
#_e					ə_#				
#_t					a_#				
					ε_#				
					a_#				

Phonetic Environments for [m]										
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#					
#_c		u_s		q_k	d_#					
#_s				t∫_t∫ ^h						
				d3_k						

Phonetic Environments for [m ²]											
#_	V_V	V_	C	C_V	C_C	_#					
#_t		i_g	ε_k ^h								
#_k		I_g	o_k								
		ə_k ^h	o_k								
		ε_t	a_k								
		ə_d	ε_k								
		ə_k	1_k ^h								
		I_k									

			Р	honetic	Environ	ments fo	r [n]			
#_		V_V			V_C		C	V	C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	ə_e	i_1	a_b	ε_t	ı_k	d_a	1_т	z_k ^h	ε_#
#_a	a_e	ခ_ခ	i_u	a_h	ε_t∫	I_k^h	d_a	1_o	t[_k	I_#
#_e	a_ə	3_¢	i[_e	a_p	i_]k	<u>г_</u> р	d_e	1_u		ɔ_ #
#_ə	a_ɛ	ə_i	i[_ə	a_s	i_]m	I_S	d_ɛ	l[_e		ຈ_#
#_ε	a_i	ə_I	i[_u	a_t	i_]n	ı_t	d_ɛ	m_a		a_#
#_h	a_I	ə_0	ı_a	a_w	i_]p	ı_t∫	d_1	m_i		a_#
#_i	a_o	ອ_ວ	ı_a	a_d	i_]t	i_l	d_o	m[_ε		u_#
#_I	a_u	ອ_ວ	ſ_Ĵ	a_t∫	i_]w	o_d	d_u	m[_o		i_#
#_i	a:_i	ə_u	ı_i	e_]p	i_dʒ	o_w	g_ə	m[_u		e_#
#_k	a_a	€_a	I_0	e_t	i_h	u_]p	g_i	n_ə		e ^j _#
#_1	a_a	e_a	ı_u	e_χ	i_j	u_d	j_i	n[_i		h_#
#_o	a_ə	6_3	o_a	ə_d	i_p	u_dz	j_1	n[_u		j_#
#_p	a_i	6_3	0_0	ə_dʒ	i_s	u_k	k_a	s_a		1_#
#_q	a_I	e_3	ວ_ຈ	ə_h	i_t	u_k^h	k_e	s_a		s_#
#_s	α[_ε	ε_u	u_a	ə_k	i[_t	u_1	k_ə	t_a		t_#
#_t	e_a	i_]a	u_a	ə_k ^h	I_]S	u_m	k_o	t_ə		
#_t∫	e_ə	i_]ə	u_e	ə_1	1_d3	u_n	k_u	t_i		
#_u	e_I	i_]ɛ	u_ə	ə_p	ъj	ʊ_1	l_a	t_1		
#_χ	e_o	i_a	u_e	ə_q			1_e	t∫_u		
	e_o	i_a	u_i	ə_t			l_e ^j	t∫_u		
	e_u	i_e	u_I	ə_t∫			l_ə	w_ə		
	e[_u	i_ə	u_o	-γ_6			1_ε	w_i		
	ə_a	i_ɛ	u_o				1_i	W_I		
	ə_a	i_i	u_u							

Phonetic Environments for [ŋ]										
#_	V_V V_C C_V C_C #									
#_p		u_k ^h			a_#	ε_#				
#_q					ə_#	e ^j _#				
#_χ					a_#	1_#				
					I_#	ວ_#				
					u_#	j_#				

Phonetic Environments for [ņ]									
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#				
					d_#				
					g_#				
					s_#				

Phonetic Environments for [n ²]										
#_	V_V	V_	V_C		C_C	_#				
#_k	I_a	a_k	ı_]k		s_k ^h					
#_h		a_k ^h	ı_h							
		a_t	ı_k							
		a_k ^h	1_k ^h							
		ə_h	ı_t							
		ə_k	ı[_k							
		ə_k ^h	o_k							
		ə_p	u_k							
		ə_q	u_k^h							
		ə_t								
		ε_h								

Phonetic Environments for [l]									
#		V_V		V_	C	C	V	C_C	_#
#_a	a_a	e_i	i_]a	a_d	i_]k	h_o	k_i ^j	t_d	k_#
#_a	a_a	e_I	i_]ə	a_h	i_]l	k_a	k_o		a_#
#_b	a_e	e_u	i_]ɛ	a_p	i_]n	b_e	k_o		I_#
#_e	a_ə	e_u:	i_ɛ	a_s	i_]p	b_ə	k_u		a_#
#_ə	a_ɛ	ə_a	i_u	a_t	i_]w	b_i	m_a		ຈ_#
#_£	a_i	ə_a	ı_]a	a_t∫	i_n	d_a	m_a		e_#
#_i	a_i	ə_e	I_]ə	a_n	i_ņ	d_e	n_a		ε_#
#_i ^j	a_i	ခ_ခ	I_9	a_t	i_p	d_o	n_ə		i_#
#_I	a_o	3_E	ı_i	a_w	i_t	d_u	n_u		j_#
#_m	a_u	ə_i	I_I	e_b	ı_]m	g_i	p_a		u_#
#_n	a_a	ə_I	ı_u	e_k	1_]p	1_]i	s_e		n_#
#_o	a_a	ອ_ວ	o_a	e ^j _m	1_k ^h	k_e	t_a		s_#
#_u	a_e	ə_u	o_i	ə_b	I_m	k_ə	t_i		
	a_ə	€_a	o_a	ə_g	I_n	k_i	t_u		
	a_e	e_a	u_]ɛ	ə_k	I_ņ		χ_ο		
	a_i	ε_e	u_a	ə_m	г_р				
	a_I	6_3	u_I	ə_n	I_t				
	a_o	3_3	u_o	ə_t	ı_t∫ ^ħ				
	a_u	ε_i	u_u	ə_w	o_s				
	e_]I	1_3	ʊ_i	ε_d	u_b				
	e_e	ε_u		ε_χ	u_d				
	e_ə			ε_m	u_k^h				
				ε_n	u_t				
				ε_ņ	u_w				
				€_S	σ_k^h				
				ε_t					

Phonetic Environments for [l]						
#	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#	
		i_t			k_#	a_#
		e_k			I_#	o_#
		ə_]k			ə_#	w_#
		u_t			u_#	e ^j _#
		I_t			ε_#	s_#
		i_k ^h			e_#	t∫_#
		i_t∫				d3_#
		I_k ^h				

Phonetic Environments for [1]						
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#	
				t_m	d_#	
					k_#	

Environments for [l [?]]						
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#	
		ε_k				
		a_k				
		a_t				
		ə_k				
		u_t				
		ə_g				
		i_]k				
		i_]t				

Phonetic Environments for [4]						
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#	
		ı_k			ອ_#	
		o_t			u_#	
		a_h			ε_#	
		i_t∫			I_#	
		ı_t∫			i_#	
		i_k ^h				
		ε_k				

Appendix C: Paul Jeddore Word List

The following is a complete list of every word spoken by Paul Jeddore that contributed to this analysis. This list includes every recorded variation in pronunciation of each word. If a word was pronounced the same way more than once it is followed by the number of times it was spoken.

'afraid'	[tʃībak ^h] 2, [tʃībak]
'animal'	[pojziek], [wojzie] 2, [woezis]
'animals'	[wojziekh], [wojziekh] 3, [wojeziekh], [wojeiekh] 2
'awake'	[kickəze]
'back'	[wɛgwilat], [wɛgwilat]
'bad person'	[mɛduwejəɕ kwidʒ1] 2
'bag'	[mənde], [məndə]
'beaver'	[kopik]
'berries'	[menitʃkə]
'bird'	[sɛsɪpk], [sesɪp], [sisɪpk ^h]
'bite'	[paɣal]
'black currents'	[ɛədomin̥], [ɛədomink], [skədomin]
'boat'	[wəlebət]
'boil'	[cacke], [tʃawmal] 3, [tʃawma]
'boiled it/boiled'	[ut∫awmaladıkenu]
'bone'	[wahandejo] 2
'boss'	[¢kibə]
'boss over a person'	[ɛkebələwikduwadʒɪl]
'boss over something'	[kibləwɪktɛ]
'bow (n.)'	[abi] 2, [abɛ]
'bring'	[tʃugwa]
'bring it to a boil'	[tʃugwadu utʃawmadu], [tʃɪgwadu utʃawmadu] 2, [tʃugwadu tʃawmadu]
'bring water to a boil'	[ɛɑmwɑnudʒamija], [wɪdʒamija]
-------------------------	---
'button'	[pidʒozədi]
'buttons'	[pɪdʒozədi], [pidʒəzədi]
'cheek'	[mībido], [mɛbido]
'coal'	[klumwedzuwaskʰ], [kləmwedzuwask]
'come warm yourself'	[epsuzi], [hepsuzi]
'deer'	[halibu], [qalibu]
'dog'	[ləmutʃ]
'dog berry'	[mudʒəmanahsi]
'dry'	[kɪspadɪk], [kɪspadeh]
'duck'	[aptʃitʃ kəmutʃ] 2
'eat'	[makodəm]
'eye'	[mpugik ^h], [m̥pugik ^h]
'eyebrow'	[niktʃu], [nɪktʃu] 6
'eyebrows'	[nɪktʃul]
'face'	[msɪskʰ]
'fall to pieces'	[kaeckwicdic] 3
'fingernail'	[mqozi], [m̥qozi], [n̥qozi]
'fingernails'	[mqozik], [ənqozik]
'fire'	[nawan]
ʻfish'	[nemetʃ]
'five'	[natkə]
'gooseberry'	[belbakɛtʃkə], [belbahkɪtʃ]
'he makes it slide'	[ɛmadɛdʒibudo]
'hammer'	[maltadʒəwe]
'hare'	[habligəmutʃ]
'he asks for it'	[igInamwe], [ɛgInamwe]
'he brings him'	[nɛgəm pɛgizulut] 2, [pɛgizulut]
'he brings it'	[pejezidəh], [pegizidəh]

'he caries a lot of something to him'	[pigwəlsawepeməladı], [pigwalk ^h koweeladıtʃ], [pigwəlkelado], [pigwəlkɛlado]
'he carries him'	[əntləmanəbemalık ^h], [əntəlmaanepɛmalə]
'he carries him on his back'	[nɛgəm upampımadɔ] 2, [upawəmp pɛmado] 2, [negəm upahəmbɛmado]
'he carries it'	[ntəmanəpɛmadu], [təmanıpɛmadu]
'he carries it on his back'	[nɛgəm pɛmado ukwahmək ^h] 2, [ukaəmpɛmalık]
'he curses at him'	[winemadʒə] 2
'he curses at it'	[winemek ^h], [win1mek]
'he curses him'	[winemadʒ1l]
'he curses it'	[wɪnemadʒo]
'he curses you'	[winimek] 2
'he hates him'	[puwadzidelmadzə], [pəwadzidelmadzə]
'he hates it'	[puwadzidɛtʃkʰ] 2
'he helps him'	[abowanəmwadʒə], [abonəmwadʒıl]
'he helps it'	[abowanəmat ^h], [abowanəmatk ^h]
'he hits him'	[taməkʰ], [tahaməkʰ], [tahmə], [tahəmə], [tahəməg]
'he hits him unexpectedly'	[pɛteh], [pɛtɛjɪh], [pɛtɛɪ]
'he hits it'	[pɛmsahazitahtə], [tamɪt]
'he hunts for him'	[kwɛlut], [kwɪlut]
'he hunts for it'	[kwilame], [kwılıt], [kwılacık ^h], [kulasık]
'he is the boss of him'	[nəmedləm]
'he is the boss of it'	[¢kibəlɛwıktıh], [skiblewıktık ^h]
'he kills him'	[nebaze]
'he kills it'	[nebado]
'he kisses her'	[tɛzagwaj]
'he knows him'	[kɛdʒik]
'he knows it'	[ɛdʒidə], [kɛdʒidə]
'he laughs at him'	[wickewektah]
'he laughs at it'	[wickewejuhtuwit] 2, [wickiwejuktuwin]

'he licks him'	[muɛkwat]
'he licks it'	[muɛkwadali]
'he looks after him'	[ankewadʒu], [ankejwadʒ1l]
'he looks after it'	[ankotk ^h] 2
'he looks for him'	[alamut] 3
'he looks for it'	[alaptəkh], [alaptık] 2
'he loses him'	[hɛnut], [ɛnut]
'he loses it'	[ento], [hento]
'he makes him slide'	[əladidʒipəduk], [pɛmadɛdʒimut]
'he makes him work'	[hɛlugwɪt], [in ɛlugwɪt], [hiɕalɛgu tluwɛŋ] 2, [kiɕaladʒu utlugwɛŋ]
'he makes it slide'	[pɛmadɛdʒibudɔ], [pɛmadɛdʒibudo]
'he makes it work'	[kiɛado əlugwıŋ], [kiɛado tləgwɛŋ] 2, [gizado tlugwɛŋ] 2, [kiɛado tlugwɛŋ], [kiɛado utlugwɛŋ] 2
'he mistreats it'	[eolijankotk ^h]
'he mistreats him'	[eolijankəj1wad3ə]
'he puts him/it on'	[nacado] 2, [nazuadu], [nazado] 2, [nazadu]
'he raises himself up'	[nɛmtʃazi], [lɛmtʃazi], [nɛm²tʃazi], [nɛmdʒazıt], [nɛmdʒazi]
'he resembles him'	[nutelijamkamkuzid31k ^h]
'he saws him'	[temagito], [temagipublawad31k]], [temagipulad31k]
'he saw it'	[temagito] 4, [temagitu] 2, [temagitoh], [emagito], [atemagito]
'he sleeps with him'	[wɪbɛdijɛkʰ]
'he sleeps with it'	[wəbɛmɪt], [wibɛmɪt]
'he smears him up'	[mɛzigabut], [mɪdʒigalət]
'he smears it up'	[pɪdʒigado tobədɪ], [mɪzigadotobədi], [mɪdʒigadətobədi], [mɛzikado]
'he strikes it unexpectedly'	[petekh] 2
'he talks to him'	[pɛdlɛwictuwɛk], [hɪdlɛwɪctuwɛk ^h], [hɛdlɛwɪctuwɪk ^h]
'he throws him over'	[pazalut ^h], [pazalut]
'he throws it over'	[pazekıņ]

'he waits for him'	[ɛɛkəmalkʰ], [ɛɛkɪmalk]
'he waits for it'	[ɛɕkəmatk ^h]
'he's laughing at him'	[wickewejuhtuwaumadzə
'hen'	[kigliwɪtʃ]
'herring'	[nalentʃ], [halentʃ]
'I smell him'	[pesekh] 2
'I strike him'	[taəməkʰ], [taɣəməkʰ]
'leg'	[mkadu], [mkadʒigən] 2
'legs'	[mkadzigəns] 3, [mkadzigənz], [mkadzigənc]
'licks'	[muɛkwatʃ]
'lip'	[mtʃiju], [mtʃijo], [ənɕi]
'lips'	[mtʃiju], [mtʃejə]
'liquid'	[winpokh] 3
'little boat'	[welebat]it]]
'long'	[pidah], [pida]
'many buttons'	[pıgwəlkə widzozədi] 2, [pıgwəlkə pidzozədi] 2
'many people'	[pɛgwəlki ɛkwidʒık] 2, [pigwəlki əɛkwizıŋ] 2
'Mi'kmaq'	[əlnu] 2
'money'	[culejowe]
'moon'	[tɛpkənəɕɪt], [tɛpkənusɪt]
'my teeth'	[ni nibidu] 2
'nail'	[plɛku], [plɛko]
'nose'	[msiskun], [ənɛishuņ]
'on the other side of the lake'	[hame1k ^h] 2, [qamek ^h], [qam1k ^h]
'partridge berry'	[wickiman] 2
'people'	[segwakeckwid31k]
'person'	[əktɛzuskwɪtʃıŋ]
'red ochre'	[megweza], [megwesa]
'river'	[ɛɛbu], [ɕɛbɔ]

'rosary beads'	[ɛəgumin]
'salmon'	[plamo] 2
'shoe'	[nəmokein], [ndʒəena], [ndʒəkenə], [nəməkeın], [windʒuksnən] 4, [wındʒukenən]
'shoes'	[windʒuksnank ^h], [windʒuknank ^h]
'shovel'	[kalibudi], [halibudi], [qalibudi]
'sit'	[hebinigije], [hebijenike], [ebɪnegej]
'skin'	[məgegıŋ]
'smell'	[əmpɛɕɛdu], [pɛɕɛdu]
'string'	[nastai], [nastigən]
'sun'	[nagozīt]
'taste'	[nɛnudəm̥], [nɪnutəm̥]
'teeth'	[nɪbilu], [nibidu], [nibidl]
'ten'	[mtəņ]
'thigh/leg'	[qatije], [katije] 2, [kaltije]
'thread'	[ababitʃ]
'to beat someone'	[matot]
'to boil'	[t∫awmaladıenu]
'to break'	[temadu] 2
'to cut'	[pɛtsuli], [pɛsuwi]
'to hear'	[ciduwan], [meiduwan]
'to kiss'	[wəɛkalamu], [wıskaəmuk]
'to wait'	[kɛɕku], [kɛdi kɛskuk] 2, [kɛskuh]
'tooth'	[nibit], [nipit]
'trout'	[adawazu], [nadahwazu], [nadawazu]
'two fives'	[nantkə] 2
'watch'	[amudlɛwe] 2, [namudlɛwe]
'white'	[wabe1k]
'you laugh at me'	[wickewejukta] 2, [wikewejukta]
'you're crying'	[kazigozi], [kazigozi]

Appendix D: Paul Jeddore List of Phonetic Environments

Phonetic Environments for [p]								
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#			
#_a	e_e	a_t	m_e	m_]p				
#_a	e_ɛ	a_t∫	m_u	p[_ε				
#_ə	э_е	e_c	m_u					
#_£	i_ə	e_s	m[_ε					
#_i	i_i	ε_k	n_o					
#_1	i_u	ı_k	s_a					
#_1	3_I	I_k ^h						
#_o	o_i							
#_u	u_a							

The following is a list of the phonetic environments for every consonant that occurs in Paul's speech.

Phonetic Environments for [b]									
#_		V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_e	a_a	e_i	i_ə	a_l	1_a				
	a_i	e_I	i_ɛ	u_1	m_ɛ				
	a_e	ə_e	i_i						
	a_o	3_¢	i_u						
	a_u	€_i	3_I						
	a_e	e_3	ı_i						
	e_a	ε_u	o_ə						
	e_a	i_a							
	e_ə								

Phonetic Environments for [t]									
#_	V_V	V_C	C	V	C_C	_#			
#_a	i_o	a_k	e_u	l_a	n_k	I_#			
#_e	a_ɛ	a_k ^h	h_u	1_i	n_l	a_#			
#_ə	a_i	ε_k ^h	h_ə	m_ə		o_#			
#_ε	a_o	€_S	k_a	n_ə		a_#			
	a_u	ı_k	k_ε	n_o		ə_#			
	ε_e	o_k ^h	k_ı	p_ə		i_#			
	3_3	o[_1	k_u	р_1		u_#			
	i_a	u_1		s_a					
	0_0	u[_1							
	o_0								
	u_e								
	u_ə								
	i_u								

Phonetic Environments for [d]								
#_		V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#	
	a_a	ə_i	i_a:	e_l	e_I			
	a_e	a_u	i_e	ε_1	k_u			
	a_ɛ	a_a	i_ɛ	i_ļ	n_e			
	u_o	a_u	i_o	I_l	n_ə			
	u_o	ə_i	i_o	u_l				
	a_i	ə_I	i_u					
	ə_u	ə_0	0_ə					
	a_I	ε_i	u_ə					
	a_o	ε_u	u_i					

Phonetic Environments for [k]									
#_	V_V	V_C	C	V	C_C	_#			
#_a	i[_ɛ	I_t	e_u	m_a	¢_W	i_#			
#_ε	a_o	i_d	s_u	m,_a	¢[_w	u_#			
#_i	a_e	u_t	¢_a	m_u	s_w	I_#			
#_I	e_I	ə_t	¢_e	n_e		s_#			
#_1	0_3	I_c	ေ့ခ	n_ə		a_#			
#_o	ε_u	a_o	t_a	n_o		¢_#			
#_u	i_a	ວ_ເ	3_2	p_ə		l_#			
#_w	i_e	u_c	¢_i	s_a		ε_#			
	3_I	u_n	e_I	s_ə		n_#			
	u_a	u_s	k ^h [_o	s_i					
		u_w	1_e	t_ə					
			l_ə	t_u					
			1_ε	t∫_ə					
			l_i	t∫_u					
				t∫[_ə					

Phonetic Environments for [k ^h]								
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_	_#		
				1_]k	p_#	i_#		
					o_#	a_#		
					e_#	n_#		
					¢_#	ε_#		
					ə_#	1_#		
					I_#	t_#		
						t∫_#		

Phonetic Environments for [g]								
#_	V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_i	a_i	ε_i	u_w			ə_#		
	a_o	٤_۱	a_w					
	e_e	ε_u	e_w					
	e_ə	i_a	ə_w					
	ə_e	i_ə	ε_w					
	e_I	i_i	i_1					
	ə_u	i_1	i_w					
	6_3	i_o	I_W					
		u_i						

Phonetic Environments for [q]							
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_a			m_o				
#_a			m_o				
			n_o				
			n°_o				

Phonetic Environments for [h]								
#_ V_V V_C C_V C_C					_#			
#_a	#_£	a_a	a_k	a_w	s_u		a_#	o_#
#_a	#_i	a_a	a_m	a_m			a:_#	o_#
#_e	#_I	a_ə	a_s	u_t			e_#	u_#
		a_a					I_#	

		Phonetic Envir	onments for [s]		
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#
#_e	e_I	a_t	h_i	j_k	i_#
#_£	1_3	a_k	1_a	k_n	n_#
#_i	i_I	a_k^h	m_a		
#_k	a_I	ε_k	m_i		
	e_a	i_h	m_I		
	ε_e	ı_k	p_u		
	ε_u	ı_p	t_u		
	u_I	i_k			
		I_k ^h			
		u_k			

Phonetic Environments for [z]								
#_	V_	V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
	a_a	ε_a		j_I		n_#		
	a_i	i_i						
	a_i	o_ə						
	a_u	o_i						
	e_a	0_I						
	e_i	o_e						
	e_I	u_i						

Phonetic Environments for [6]									
#_	V_V	V_C		C_V	C_C	_#			
#_a	a_a	a_k	i_t	j_I	m_k	I_#			
#_ə	a_I	e_k	ı_k	k_i	m_k ^h	n_#			
#_ε	a_e	ı_d	I_k ^h	k_1					
#_i	ə_I	ə_]k	I_n	m_i					
#_k	3_3	ə_k	I_t	n_i					
#_u	i_a	ε_k	o_n	p_u					
		i_k	u_k						

Phonetic Environments for [z]							
#_	V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#	
	a_a	€_i		j_1			
	a_e	ε_u					
	a_i	i_a					
	o_i	i_I					
	a_I	i_u					
	a_u	ı_i					
	a_e	o_ə					
	a_u	⊃_ə					
	e_i	u_i					

Phonetic Environments for [tf]						
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#	
#_a	u_a	ε_k	m_a		i_#	
#_i	a_i	i_k	m_e		e_#	
#_I	e_o	ı_k	m_i		I_#	
#_u	I_I	i_]k	m²_a		n_#	
			p_i		u_#	

Phonetic Environments for [dʒ]								
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#			
	a_ə		m_a					
	a_i		n_o					
	e_o		n_u					
	ε_u							
	i_I							
	i_o							
	i_o							
	I_a							
	I_O							
	u_a							
	u_ə							

	Phonetic Environments for [w]								
#_	V_	V_V		C_V		C_C	_#		
#_ε	a_a	£_1	a_m	g_i	k_i				
#_I	a_e	o_a		m_ɛ	m_a				
#_ə	e_a	o_e		h_a	g_I				
#_a	e_I	0_I		g_a	m_e				
#_i	ə_e	u_a		g_e	k_a				
#_o	ə_i	u_e		k_I	k_e				
	ə_I	u_e		g_ə	g_ɛ				
	ε_e	u_i			j_a				
	3_3	u_I							
	ε_i								

Phonetic Environments for [j]								
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#			
	e_ə	e_w			a_#			
	e_o	o_c			e_#			
	ε_e	o_s			o_#			
	£_1	0_Z						
	ε_u	0_Z						
	i_a							
	ə_I							
	i_e							
	i_ɛ							
	i_o							
	i_u							
	o_e							

Phonetic Environments for [m]								
#_	V_	V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_a	a_e	ə_a	a_k	h_ə				
#_c	a_ə	ə_e	a_w	l_a				
#_e	a_I	ə_ ə	a_w	w_a				
#_ə	a_o	ə_0	e_c					
#_ε	a_u	ə_ ວ	ə_]p					
#_I	a_ə	ə_u	a_p					
#_k	a_i	i_u	ə_b					
#_3	e_a	ε_e	ə_p					
#_p	e_e	1_3	ə_w					
#_q	e_ə	I_a	ε_dʒ					
#_s	ε_a	o_i	€_S					
#_t	ı_a	u_a	ε_t∫					
#_tſ	ə_]u	u_i	I_C					
#_u			u_w					

Phonetic Environments for [m]								
#_ V_V V_C C_V C_C _#								
#_p					ə_#			
#_q								
#_k								

Phonetic Environments for [m ²]								
#_	#_ V_V V_C C_V C_C _#							
ε_t∫								

Phonetic Environments for [n]								
#_	V_V		V_C		C_V	C_C	_#	
#_a	i[_i	a_e	a_t	ə_z	¢_a		i_#	
#_d3	I_U	ə_u	a_d	ε_t	¢_u		I_#	
#_e	a_ə	ε_u	a_k	i_dʒ	s_ə		a_#	
#_ə	a_a	i_e	e_t∫	i_k	k_a		a_#	
#_ε	a_I	i_ɛ	ə_c	i_p	1_u		ວ_#	
#_i	a_ə	i_i	ə_q	1_d3			u_#	
#_I	a_u	i_I	ə_s	a_k^h			ε_#	
#_t	e_i	I_a	ə_t	o_d				
#_u	ອ_ອ	I_e						
#_q		o_ə						

Phonetic Environments for [ŋ]							
#_	V_V	V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_q					i_#		
					ຈ_#		
					a_#		
					u_#		
					I_#		
					ε_#		

Phonetic Environments for [l]								
#_	V_V		V_C	C_V	C_C	_#		
#_ə	a_a	ə_u	a_k	t_u		a_#		
#_ε	a_e	€_e	a_k ^h	b_a		I_#		
	a_ə	€_u	a_t	b_e		u_#		
	a_e	i_a	e_b	b_ə				
	a_i	i_u	e_m	b_i				
	a_I	I_a	ə_k	d_ə				
	e_a	I_I	ə_m	d_ɛ				
	a_u	I_U	ə_n	g_i				
	a_i	o_i	ə_s	k_ə				
	e_i	u_a		k_u				
	ə_a	u_e		p_a				
	ə_e	u_i		p_e				
	ອ_ອ	u_u		t_ə				
	3_¢							
	ε_a							

Phonetic Environments for [l]							
#_ V_V V_C C_V C_C _#							
					a_#		
					I_#		

Phonetic Environments for [l]							
#_ V_V V_C C_V C_C _#							
					d_#		

Appendix E: The Mi'kmaq of Newfoundland

According to Mi'kmaq oral tradition, their people "have continuously occupied the island [of Newfoundland] since precontact times and that this original population was later joined by a group from Cape Breton" (Pastore 1998). Other scholars think that although the Mi'kmaq most likely had knowledge of and travelled to Newfoundland seasonally, their permanent settlement on the island more accurately occurred some time during the mid eighteenth century (Speck 1922; Bartels & Jansen 1990).

The Mi'kmaq people living in Cape Breton, Nova Scotia regularly travelled to Newfoundland using a specific type of birch bark canoe which was "designed for use on open water" (Jackson 1993: 8). Some have argued that the journey between Cape North (the closest point of Cape Breton to Newfoundland) and Cape Ray (the closest point of Newfoundland to Cape Breton) – a total distance of roughly 150 kilometres – was "far too hazardous a journey for prehistoric travel by birch bark canoe" (Jackson 1993: 8), but these statements severely underestimate the capabilities of Mi'kmaq people who were accustomed to travelling long distances in all types of weather. The Mi'kmaq lived and hunted along coastal regions in the warmer months and moved inland to hunt larger mammals in the winter months for generations. Although these trips inland were made more difficult due to the weather conditions they were still "extended voyages far removed from their base camps" (Wicken 1994: 75). For example William Wicken, who wrote a PhD thesis on the history of the Mi'kmaq people between 1500 and 1760, states that in the winter of 1752-53 the "Mi'kmaq from Unimaki and Antigoniche⁵² made several trips to Canceau⁵³" (Wicken 1994: 75). The distance between Antigonish and Canso is just over 100 kilometres.

⁵² Presently spelled Antigonish

⁵³ According to the maps from Wicken's paper, this place is referring to the city of Canso on the north-eastern tip of mainland Nova Scotia rather than the Straight of Canso (also called Straights of Canceau) that divides Nova Scotia from Cape Breton Island.

According to Frank Speck (1922) the journey between Cape North and Cape Ray typically lasted up to two days and was completed in two parts. First, the entire group would travel to St. Paul's Island located roughly 24 kilometres off the coast of Cape Breton. Then a few selected canoeists would travel ahead to Cape Ray and light a large fire that could be used as a beacon by the remaining travellers, who crossed at night when the waves were calmer.

There are several factors which led the Mi'kmaq to permanently settle in Newfoundland, but the most pressing reason was lack of food. When French colonists arrived and began to trade various goods for furs with the Mi'kmaq it severely impacted the fur-bearing animal populations in the region and affected the seasonal movement of the Mi'kmag people themselves, who would remain closer to the coast in order to trade with the Frenchmen rather than move inland in the winter months to hunt larger game. The arrival of more Frenchmen only heightened the situation as food became more and more scarce. Some areas struggled more than others, but especially the Indigenous communities. In the mid 17th century there were reports of the Mi'kmaq of Cape Breton suffering from starvation (Jackson 1993). This, coupled with the encroachment of more and more Europeans – which placed further stress on the already critically low food levels – would have encouraged the Mi'kmaq to try to find a new place to live. They couldn't go inland due to rival indigenous groups so that left only one option: Newfoundland. At that time the "southern interior of the island [Newfoundland] was devoid of Europeans and perhaps only occasionally frequented by Beothuk" (Jackson 1993: 19). With nearly no humans living along the southern coast of Newfoundland the area was abundant with fur and food, making the permanent move from Cape Breton to Newfoundland all the more enticing. By the early 19th century "Mi'kmaq camps [could] be found in St. George's Bay and the Codroy River in the southwest, White Bear Bay and Bay d'Espoir on the island's south coast, and Bonavista Bay, Gander Bay, and the Bay of Exploits in the northeast" (Pastore 1998).

When Newfoundland officially joined Canada in 1949, the Mi'kmaq that had been living there for over 200 years now had to fight a new battle: being recognized as First Nations in the eyes of the Canadian government. The Mi'kmaq of Newfoundland participated in a "movement by Indigenous peoples throughout North America to reclaim their rights as First Nations" (Pastore 1998) in the 1960s and 1970s. Currently, there are only two official Mi'kmaq First Nations communities in Newfoundland, the Miawpukek First Nation (formerly known as Conne River) and the Qalipu Mi'kmaq First Nation.

The Miawpukek First Nation was established as a permanent community around 1822. Preceding this time it was used as a seasonal camping site when the Mi'kmaq would travel to that area to hunt and forage. According to oral history the Miawpukek Reserve was formed in 1870, but it was only recognized as a reserve under the Indian Act of 1987⁵⁴, when it was "officially designated as Samiajij Miawpukek Indian Reserve" (2012). According to the most recent census (Statistics Canada 2018) the population of the Miawpukek First Nation as of 2016 was 830. The Qalipu First Nation, on the other hand, was only recognized as an official band in 2011 under the Indian Act (Government of Canada 2013). Although this group was only recognized recently, it is considered "one of the largest First Nation groups in Canada" (Qalipu First Nation 2016).

⁵⁴ In an article on the website *Heritage Newfoundland & Labrador* it is said that Miawpukek gained "federal status under the Indian Act in 1984" (Pastore) rather than 1987.